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    It had been five long years since my capture. During that time I had managed to befriend one of the evening guards who patrolled my hall. I parroted the sounds he made when he would pass my cell. He soon took an interest in what the Human could learn.

    As I mimicked him I began to learn their language. It took many months of trial and casual conversation before I was telling him stories of my world. He had seen images, but as a military guard of low rank, those images had been few and far between. His name was Gor Hershen.

    His family had a long history of military service. With few wars in the Frekkin Empire in the last millennium, they had failed to gain any position, but Hershen considered it a good living. He wanted not for food or comfort. His only regret for his post was for companionship. There had been a female on one of the destroyers that had shown interest at one port of call. But she was gone now, dead in the battles against my species.

    Hershen worked the night shift. Without a sun there was no actual day or night, but the Kurtz were insistent on keeping time synced to their home-world. In Earth time, the 33 hour days were split into three 11 hour shifts. Hershen was one of only a handful who worked the night shift while most on the ship were in stasis.

    He was a kind soul and would occasionally slip an extra portion of fish into my daily meals. In return I told him stories of Earth, stories about the freedoms everyone enjoyed and stories about how one could move from the bottom of society to the top with only hard work and a bit of luck.

    Many of my stories were embellished, but Hershen would not have cared even if he had known. It was his escape from an otherwise mundane existence. He was like a sponge soaking up the tales that spilled out before him.

    His interest was piqued further when I mentioned that perhaps he could increase his lot in life by becoming a bard. A bard in the world of the Kurtz was only three positions below a Royal. He was soon dreaming of the tales I had told and of the chance to move his position in life upward, if even only by a notch.

    His parents had passed on in a mining accident years earlier where a container of Sodium came in contact with water. It was a rare occurrence, but one that would happen from time to time. He had a younger brother in service to another family back home, but it was he who was considered the family governor.

    As our friendship and trust grew I began to slip in a question or two about the Royals during our talks. He was hesitant to answer until I told him it was his turn to tell me stories, stories that I had not heard, stories that would entertain me, stories about what he knew, because as a bard he would have to be practiced at keeping one's attention.

    I asked about the number of Barhoo on the ship and he replied that it was only a small crew of several thousand for maintenance purposes and for re-breeding when we were close to our destination. I asked what happened to the seeming hundreds of thousands to which he replied that they were left behind, ejected into space as they were of no use on the long journey.

    I was shocked at the thought of how little life meant to the Kurtz and the Barhoo. Death seemed to be something that was commonplace, with no real effort put forth to sustain or extend life. That revelation told me that Humans would never submit to the rule of the Frekkin Empire. We valued our lives and would do whatever we could to prolong them.

    I asked about my BGS to which Hershen replied that he did not know of its whereabouts. I asked if the news of its existence had been sent forward to Rial Dorius to which he responded "No."

    Rial Mabia would keep that information close and only deliver it in person where she could claim credit. That type of discovery would not be transmitted for fear of credit going to someone else. Position was a high stakes game and the Royals played it for keeps.

    It was not long before I learned that Boota and the other scientists resided on the second level. Their labs were seven hallways outward from our position. Other than guards surrounding Mabia on the first level, there were no soldiers until level-four where the officers resided with some of the lower ranking civilians. The brig was on level-five.

    The air corridors of the ship were arranged in circles around the ships core. There were 14 hallways with the higher ranking Kurtz towards the outer perimeter. Elevators going up were arranged every 50 meters. One had to have access codes to reach each higher level.

    I asked about why it was rare that anyone besides Hershen and the two day-shift guards walked by my cell. Hershen explained that everyone was in stasis for most of the trip back to the planet I called Alvin. There were five air-levels with each having three shift guards. In addition, a small contingent of guards watched over the sleeping Rial Mabia. At any given time there was only one guard on each floor. When traveling at speed in the dead of space there was little to fear.

    I then inquired about the device in my head and if he knew how it had been deactivated. I prodded him along about how it would be an interesting story on my world. He took the bait.

    It took him months to get the information I sought, but he was determined to be the best storyteller Toleda had ever known. There was a small device in the science lab that would place a field around electronics making them inert. If the polarity of the field were to be switched my audio implant would once again begin to function.

    I romanced about the idea of convincing Hershen to somehow retrieve the device, but I knew it was not a possibility. He had no access to the upper levels and I dare not attempt to include anyone else in my scheming.

    I soon began to fake having trouble sleeping. Hershen was kind enough to bring me a sleeping aid that the Kurtz commonly used. Over a several month period I managed to save a large portion of the drug which remained hidden under the pad on my bed.

    It was a courtesy on Toleda to share your food with others. I had shared many meals with Hershen as he was not one to break tradition. On the night I had planned for an adventure I asked if he could bring a tray of fish cakes. I convinced him that it was in celebration of an Earth holiday and that it was a tradition I missed. Hershen eagerly complied.

    When he returned I asked if there would be a second helping, again I alluded to it being a tradition to which he quickly scurried off to retrieve another tray. I pulled the sleep aid from my pad and mixed it into several cakes. If my plan worked I hoped to have a chance to explore.

    When Hershen returned I began to spin a tale about a man who was swallowed by a whale. Hershen listened intently as he feasted on the tainted cakes. The drug worked quickly and within minutes Hershen was fast asleep.

    I tested repeatedly that he would not wake before I removed his arm pad. I spoke the command to open the door in my best Kurtz and was rewarded with the wisp sound it made when opening or closing. I stepped nervously into the hallway.

    It had been five years since I had been taken captive and five years since I had been outside of my cell. It felt strangely odd to leave the familiar comfort of my room. It was also the first time in several years that I became aware of my nakedness.

    My body was hard and taught and my mind sharp. My blond hair was down to my waste and had to constantly be pushed out of my eyes. I walked slowly down the hallway peering into each empty cell as I went. I was the only prisoner on the mega-ship.

    I walked the hallway around the ships core coming once again back to my cell. Hershen continued to sleep. I then walked to the nearest elevator and opened the door. I nervously spoke the command to move to the next level. When the doors opened I waited for my inevitable capture, but it did not happen.

    I peered out of the elevator down the hall in either direction. There was no one there. I stepped out and began a slow walk in an attempt to explore. As I stepped around a corner I came face to face with the level-four guard. He was startled to see anyone awake, especially an alien.

    Inwardly I panicked, but I was somehow able to utter a greeting in his language. I then made up a story that I had mistakenly come down from the level above and was unsure of how to return. My armband code did not seem to be functioning. I begged that he assist me without notifying the guard on that level as I did not want to get in trouble and lose my new position as a liaison.

    I was not sure where the words had come from, but to the guard they seemed to make sense. I asked his name in case I had the chance to return the favor or if perhaps I decided to send him a few credits. His name was Keris and his eyes lit up at the thought of someone in such a high position needing his assistance. I was soon escorted back to the elevator and given a warm goodbye as the door closed behind me.

    On level three I looked for the guard and used the same ruse to once again move up. Brotic was most accommodating. Again I was bid farewell and I proceeded to level-two. When the elevator doors opened on level-two the guard was nowhere to be found. I walked the seven hallways outwards until I reached the hall that supposedly held the science lab. I tried each door as I stepped barefoot down the hall.

    Each door opened with a wisp sound to a room that appeared to be a science lab. I did a cursory search in each, but found nothing that resembled the device in question. When I exited the fifth lab I was confronted by the shift guard Corthur. He was immediately inquisitive as to who I was and why I was there.

    I told him I was under direct command of Rial Boota and that I was tasked with checking data in his lab. But I had not been to his lab and was lost. Again I begged for assistance and indicated that I would be extremely grateful for his help. I was then escorted in the other direction to Boota's lab.

    I was amazed at how little security there was on the ship. But then again, it was a ship that traveled in one direction for 13 years. No one came on or got off and most of its inhabitants were asleep in stasis chambers. They were also very aware of the hierarchy rules and knew the consequences of any violations. What I was doing was just something that was not done.

    The door to Boota's lab slid open and I turned to the guard and asked for his discretion about the incident before bidding him good-day. He hesitated for a moment and then turned to continue his dull and monotonous, uneventful rounds. He at least had thoughts of a possible reward for his kind service from someone of higher stature.

    I moved through the lab examining drawers, shelves and cabinets. I was almost ready to give up when I opened a cabinet and saw a familiar looking device. It was as I remembered and as Hershen had described.

    I gently picked up the tool and examined it for a button or switch. There was none. I checked for compartments or doors and again found nothing that could be opened. I shook the device in frustration. I was annoyed that I was so close to enabling my QE comm, but I had no idea of how the device worked.

    I then thought back to my capture and to the first time Boota used the device on me. I raised the black 20 centimeter cylinder up to just behind my ear and was startled when I heard the double beep of my audio implant rebooting.

    I replaced the device and hurried out of the lab. I rode the elevator down to level-five and quickly made my way back into the cell where Hershen still lay asleep. I closed the cell door and then replaced his armband. I shook him and he grumbled.

    I shook him again and he awoke groggy, with sleepy eyes. I remarked that there must have been something in the fish because I had fallen asleep too. I helped him to his feet and then said good-night before turning back to my bed. He looked on with half open eyes and then turned and stumbled out of the cell.

    Once he was down the hall I enabled my QE comm channel and sent a text to Command... "Is anyone there?" Several minutes later a reply came back asking who I was. I was rusty in my thought to text conversion and found myself continuously inserting Kurtz words into my conversation. It was all I had spoken for most of the previous five years.

    My contact was a low level comm officer, so I immediately asked for someone from Command. He said that was not possible, but he could relay whatever I needed to the proper officers if I wanted to confer the information to him.

    I was taken aback at the thought of being passed along, but I began to tell the story of what had happened, of my interrogation and of the fact that our BGS technology had been compromised. After my message was sent onwards a response from above the comm officer was slow to come back, so I asked what the status was with the Moon and how Earth had fared.

    The news was not good. It had taken another year for the declining orbit of the Moon to be stopped and reversed. It was nearing its original position. During the time I had been gone the weather had turned nasty and earthquakes had been commonplace.

    Food shortages had been severe due to crop losses from the alien attacks. They had only grown worse with the bad weather. Fish stocks had fallen dramatically in the oceans. There had been two major food wars fought over the remaining fertile grounds with billions dead from the fighting or starved from a lack of food. It had not been Man’s finest hour.

    The last truce had only been holding for two months, but tensions were beginning to rise as food stocks were dwindling. Had the aliens only waited a short while their dominance over the human race would have been complete.

    The world’s population had fallen from 11 billion souls to just under 10 billion when the aliens departed. The wars and starvation had taken those levels down to just under four billion. The devastation was immense with tsunamis, floods, hurricanes, tornadoes, snows and earthquakes striking with little or no warning. And the fighting between nations had been equally as destructive with whole cities being razed.

    I then asked about a mission to stop the progress of the alien vessel so that the BGS technology would not fall fully into the enemies hands. None was planned as all resources were being spent on defending North America and its remaining food supplies. I told of the likelihood that the BGS information had not left the ship and that if we could somehow stop the ship we could prevent the knowledge from being used against us. That information would be passed on to Command and decisions would have to be made by them.

    After a long conversation I then asked to disconnect so that I could make an attempt to call my grandfather and parents. I was told the chances of their survival were low and that normal communications had been disrupted for years. I then asked if there was anything that could be done, anyway that I could find out if they were alive.

    Several seconds passed before the comm officer on the other end came back with an attempt. He would try to patch me through to the base in Savannah, but from there it would be hit or miss.

    I thanked him for his effort and waited patiently as the next comm officer connected. After some time I was patched through to Pensacola and then routed to Troy, Alabama. I next heard the old familiar sound of a land line ringing in the farmhouse. It went on for seven rings before it was answered. It was Zack's mother.

    She immediately went outside and called in my father who raced to the phone. The tears flowed as I began sending texts. I dare not talk as I was fearful of them discovering that my comm had been enabled.

    My grandfather had passed away two years since. It had been from natural causes, he had fallen over dead in the tomato patch, going out the way he would have wanted to go. Zack's father had also passed away from illness as there were no more hospitals or doctors anywhere nearby.

    My mother was out tending to the animals and was doing well. I then asked about Zack and my father hesitated. In the second food war he had lost most of his right leg, but soldiers were in need and he was soon again on the front lines using a prosthetic to get around.

    He was one of only a handful of BGS Marines who were left and had seen many days in battle and had taken many lives. My father was worried as the last time he had seen him, his face was sullen and his eyes had no life in them. Such was the life of a soldier in modern war.

    I then told my father of my capture and of how I was still held prisoner on the alien ship. I was in good health, but was still a captive. With all the problems on Earth there were no resources being put in place for a rescue mission, I was likely on my own for the foreseeable future.

    He was thrilled that I was alive, but unhappy at the thought of my continued captivity. I told him that such was war and that each of us had to make sacrifices if we wanted things to ever get better. Before I was able to say goodbye a comm tech came on the line and stated that he was sorry, but the connection had been broken. Other, official communications needed the lines.

    The news from home was bleak. So many lives lost and so much devastation. A weakened Earth would be easily overwhelmed by a sizable alien force. And from what Hershen had told me we had only dealt with a mining fleet that had minimal assault capability. The Frekkin were far superior.

    As I sat in my cell I contemplated what to do next when contacted by Command. My communications had come at a difficult time for Earth, but I was not being ignored. Discussions were in the works and I was to hold my position until such time as further questions could be asked and the proper resources diverted in an attempt to end my dilemma.

    I was thankful and had relayed that I would cooperate fully. I laid back on my pad and looked up at the dull gray ceiling. For five long years I had waited for something to happen, some word from Earth. It was a good feeling to once again be known, a good feeling to hear my own language. I was once again a part of a team, of the race of Man, and I liked it.

    As I settled back I consumed one of the tainted fish cakes. I then began scheming about what I might do next. I could easily overpower Hershen and the other guards up through level-two, but I had no idea of what trouble I would meet if I moved beyond.

    And what of my BGS suit and weapon? Should I risk another venture like the last in an attempt to find them? Would the power cell still have Sodium or could I find the stash of Sodium pellets that I once had in my thigh pocket? These were all risks to be contemplated on another day. I soon slept soundly under the influence of the powerful alien sleeping drug.
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    The next several days passed without Command responding to my pleas. From my experience with the junior officer I had spoken with, I could only guess they had no real idea of who I was or what I was talking about. The world was in chaos and a prisoner almost five light years away was a low priority.

    With those thoughts in mind I had decided to take matters into my own hands. The Kurtz and the Barhoos were an ordered society. Everyone was expected to play by the rules as the alternative to that was instant death. I was not one to play by the rules.

    At the earliest opportunity I took the initiative to once again put Hershen to sleep and again explore the ship. Instead of taking the elevators to the higher levels I chose to see what lie in the interior hallways of level-five.

    I walked to the innermost hallway and looked for the nearest door. Once found, I commanded Hershen's armband to open it. With a wisp the door opened to a storeroom loaded with containers. My discovery process lasted less than a minute.

    I then moved down the hall, checking each door I came to. The third door opened to a room full of Kurtz soldiers laid out in stasis pods. I had to resist the temptation to kill them all, it would have been easy. Even though they were my captors, I was not viewed as a threat, which had left security lax. If the time came for hostilities, the more familiar I became with the ship, the better chance of survival I would have.

    I continued on to each room on the innermost hall before coming to a control room with two Barhoo standing at terminals. With the wisp of the door opening they each turned and with their four eyes looked at the naked Human standing in the doorway. I had a moment of panic before they each turned back to their console and continued with their work.

    The Barhoo followed orders and they had been given no orders about protecting the ship from the enemy. My instinct was to turn and run, but something in my head told me to go in and investigate. I walked slowly over behind the Barhoo to observe what it was they were working on.

    As they each maintained focus on their tasks at hand I looked at their consoles over what I guessed were their shoulders. As I watched patiently it became evident that they were monitoring the Sodium fusion power plant. They continued to work as if I was not there.

    Watching the Barhoo work while largely being ignored gave me a confidence that I was not expecting. I reasoned that perhaps I was viewed as being in a higher position and as such they would continue working until instructed otherwise. I decided to put my theory into question.

    Using the Kurtz language I ordered the Barhoo on the left to step back from its console. After a short hesitation it took a step back. I then asked it to move over to the corner of the room and stand facing the wall. Again, it did exactly as I instructed. My next command returned it to its workplace to continue with its pre-assigned tasks. It complied.

    I stood watching for several minutes before the idea popped into my head that I could ask questions of the Barhoo. The first question was for their names and ranks. The Barhoo on the left was Koorie and was a Baaker, which was third from the top of the seven Barhoo ranks. Only Barhoo with the top three ranks were allowed into the air spaces on the mega-ship. The second Barhoo was named Wallop and was also a Baaker.

    The two Baaker performed identical tasks with a monitoring system. It highlighted failures to synchronize to the Kurtz officer of the deck. After two such synchronization failures the Barhoo failing to input the proper commands was executed and a replacement brought in. I then realized that was the execution I had witnessed so many years before as I was floating through the walls when I had first come aboard.

    I imagined that humans would not fare well at doing such menial tasks where the consequences of a mistake were so high. We were too easily distracted by our thoughts and dreams to maintain the level of focus needed to watch a monitor for hours on end, each and every day. The Barhoo had no days off, no holidays, no vacation, no sick time. If you were unable to perform your shift you were executed and another Barhoo replaced you.

    I asked about their culture and of what they did in their off hours for entertainment to which I received blank stares. They had no concept of entertainment. They were a simple race of workers that followed orders. They awakened from sleep, ate, worked, ate again and then returned to sleep. Work was their entire existence. It was all they knew and all they had ever been taught.

    I then began to ask questions about the Kurtz to which they were hesitant to answer at first. The Kurtz followed orders and rules just as the Barhoo, but they would spend their off hours in the bar or entertaining one another in their quarters. The more questions I asked the sorrier I felt for Hershen, Koorie and Wallop. Their lives were nothing more than a miserable existence on a mining ship. They would spend most of their lives, if not their entire lives, working for not much more than sustenance. It was a life I imagined I could not bear.

    Wallop then asked if they could return to their monitoring as several events were approaching that would require their full attention. I checked a timer on my audio implant and suddenly realized I had been talking to the Barhoo for over two hours. I had a moment of panic as I thought of Hershen awakening without his prisoner present. I gave the Barhoos a direct order to forget that I had questioned them and to mention it to no one. They each nodded as following orders was what they did.

    I turned and left the control room and quickly made my way back to my cell. I let out a sigh of relief when I discovered Hershen was still fast asleep. I sat beside him and shook him vigorously until he awoke. He was soon stumbling back down the hallway to finish out his rounds.

    Two more days passed before I received a call back from Command. It was the same junior officer I had spoken with earlier. I was told to hold my position as a new food war had just begun with the remaining armies of Mexico, Colombia and Venezuela combining to attack the rich farmlands of Brazil. Argentina and Chile had quickly aligned with the Brazilians in exchange for food credits. A similar war was already underway in the former Vietnam.

    The North American Alliance was diverting resources to bolster threats from the Euro-Russian Pact. There had been numerous instances of espionage against our military installations. As a result there would be no resources committed to my rescue or to stopping the aliens from absconding with our technology. Earth was at war with itself and the alien threat would have to be dealt with at another time.

    I was devastated by the news of what was happening at home. How could Man lay waste to Man when we had come so far together in our own defense? I was sure food supplies would be adequate if the same level of cooperation that was used against the aliens was applied. But Man had a suspicious nature and that suspicious nature often led to decisions based on emotion, wild thoughts and speculation rather than truths. We were often our own worst enemy.

    With the bad news, I lay in my cell contemplating my dilemma. If I waited for help to come I might die as a prisoner on some foreign planet, or perhaps be put into a zoo for other species to gawk at. There was also the chance that I would end up on the table as some scientific experiment aimed at enriching the minds of my alien captors. I began running the first thoughts of an escape and what that would mean through my head.

    Another two months passed and my explorations had taken me to every room on the three lower levels and many of the rooms on level-two. I knew where all the Kurtz slept in their stasis pods, I knew where the Barhoo were used as menial workers and I knew where the important ships systems and controls were located.

    I could only guess that the wars at home were not going well as I had lost communications with Command for several weeks. I wondered if there was anyone left to answer or if the QE comm link at Command had been destroyed. It was worries of home that I had to put aside as any concerns I had were speculative at best. I instead focused my thoughts and energies on my escape.

    I had finally worked up the nerve to attempt an exploit up to level-one. Over time I had acquired the necessary codes to move from floor to floor from the Barhoo standing at their consoles. I was surprised at the level of access they had when the right questions were asked. Security on the mega-ship was almost non-existent.

    I rode the elevators up to level-one and exited into the hallway beside a Kurtz guard. I immediately commanded him to take me to the stasis pod of Boota under the guise that I had important information that he wished to be awakened for. The guard looked confused until I gave him what I would consider the "evil eye".

    I was immediately escorted to the seventh hall and to a room that housed the five staff members that made up the science team on-board the mega-ship. When the guard failed to leave the room I gave him an order to do so as the information I was to relay was privileged.

    The guard hurried from the room and the door closed behind him with a wisp. I walked the room looking at each of the pods until I came to the one that contained Boota. I pressed several buttons on the base of the pod following instructions that I had received from the Barhoo on level-five.

    Small mechanisms clicked and motors whirred as the stasis pod began to bring Boota back from his suspended state. Several minutes passed before a rush of air signaled that the clear door of the stasis pod had unsealed. The door slowly rose up and slid behind the top end of the pod.

    Another minute passed before Boota opened his eyes and became aware of the pod's opening. When he sat upright in the pod I stepped in and put my hand around his throat. He immediately gasped and tugged at my firm grip with his weak arms.

    He then returned a look of shock when I spoke to him in his native tongue. I told him that I was in control of the ship and that we were heading back towards Earth. I told him that he was going to tell me where my BGS suit was or I would immediately end his life.

    In Boota's mind he reasoned that everything I had said must have been true. I was standing before him on a secure level with my hand around his throat. He eagerly gave up the information I sought.

    When I had completed my inquisition I returned Boota to his stasis pod and reprogrammed it to put him back in his suspended state for the remainder of the voyage. As the pod once again began to whir and click I gave a finger wave to Boota as his terrified eyes slowly began to close.

    With renewed confidence and spirit I then strode down the hall in the direction of the room that supposedly housed my BGS. I would once again be in a position to fight. My first thoughts were of reaching and destroying the reactor core.

    As I briskly walked down the hall another guard made himself present. He demanded to know what my business was on level-one. I again began to tell a tale of what Boota had ordered. The guard stood in front of me with his hand on his holstered weapon and it was soon apparent that he was not buying my story.

    I gave out an exasperated sigh in an attempt to throw him off his game before I balled my fist and punched at his face. I was again shocked at how feeble the Kurtz were. Before the guard could raise his weapon, my fist traveled three inches into his facial structure crushing his brain and ending his life. I pulled my fist back in astonishment as the dead alien fell to the floor.

    I pulled his body into the nearest room and exchanged armbands with him. I reasoned that I would have access to any door on the ship. I picked up his weapon and set the energy level to its highest setting before exiting into the hallway. I had killed one of their crew... there would be no turning back.

    I sprinted down the hall to the door of the lab that supposedly contained my BGS suit. I uttered the command into the armband to open the door, but nothing happened. I then looked back towards the room where I had exchanged armbands with the dead guard... seconds later I was in a full sprint towards it.

    As I approached the door two guards rounded the curvature of the hall with one looking in my direction. I raised my weapon and a green bolt of energy flew down the hall tearing into the guard before he could react. As the other guard ducked into a room I knew that my escape had become common knowledge aboard the mega-ship. Seconds later red lights began to flash up and down the hallways as I ran.

    I turned the corner heading for an inner hall and then stepped up to an elevator. Again the door did not open when I uttered the command. I was trapped in the hallways of level-one and my captors had me greatly outnumbered.

    I turned and ran back in the direction of the guard who had ducked into the doorway. I met him dead on as I rounded the corner into the room. My reactions were superior and within seconds I grabbed his throat and squeezed until I felt the brittle bones in his neck breaking in my hand.

    I continued back to the room with the dead guard and once again exchanged armbands. I gave a command and the door before me closed with a wisp. As I held the armband up to my mouth and uttered the command again the door opened in front of me. I dove hard to the left as a blue bolt of energy came screaming into the room and impacted on the far wall. While still on the floor I rolled into the doorway and returned fire at a stunned guard. His chest exploded and his body flew backwards hard against the hallway wall.

    I then stepped into the hall, knelt and blasted away at another guard as he came into view. The green high energy bolt impacted his right shoulder nearly ripping his arm from its socket. The injured guard fell to the floor, writhing in pain.

    I ran to the door of Boota's level-one lab and uttered the command for the door to open. With a wisp I was fast inside and commanded it again to close. I then began the search for my BGS. As I tore through each of the cabinets in the lab I was angry with myself for not having asked its exact location.

    When the last cabinet had been opened I looked down at my armband and asked for the status of the stasis chambers on levels 4 and 5. The armband responded with a countdown that would signal the awakening of the Kurtz soldiers. I quickly estimated that I had five minutes until the garrison of Kurtz soldiers would be standing outside the laboratory door.

    I stepped over to the door and fired a bolt of energy into the wall that the door slid into. A large dent ensued, ensuring that the door would be jammed shut when the enemy arrived. I then turned my efforts back to my frantic search for my BGS.

    As I pulled open drawer after drawer in the lab, I soon realized that the counter on my armband was ticking down in Kurtz seconds. My five minute estimate had quickly become three, of which one had already passed.

    I pulled hard on the last drawer, pulling the handle and face-board off. I leaned over and jammed my arm into the exposed space, but there was nothing inside. Boota had either lied or someone else had taken possession of the BGS suit.

    As I listened I could hear Kurtz troops massing in the hallway outside. I was soon greeted with the whistling sound of a cutting torch burning a hole through the door. I was trapped. There was no way out of the room I was in. I let out a sigh of defeat as I leaned back hard on the wall closest to me; it bowed heavily.

    I leaned forward and then back again hard into the wall and again it gave much more than I had expected. As the final cuts were being made to the hallway door I took five steps back and charged hard into the interior wall. The wall panel buckled and then shattered as I fell into the next room.

    I quickly got to my feet and ran headstrong into the next wall again crashing through into the next room. The walls were thin and I was powerful. After crashing through the fourth wall a blue bolt crackled in the air just over my head as I fell to the floor. The Kurtz were in pursuit.

    When I rose to my feet I turned and fired a bolt back down from where I had come and the first two unlucky guards took the full brunt of its effectiveness. The green energy bolt exploded through the first guard’s chest and slammed the second one back into the guards behind him.

    I turned and ran towards the back wall of the room and crashed through into the adjoining room on hallway eight. I raced through the room while giving the doorway a command to open. It slid to the side as I ran through.

    I turned and raced down the hall, still heading away from my pursuers. I then entered a room on the far side of the hall and closed the door behind me. Again, I blasted the wall beside the door, jamming it shut. I stepped back and listened as the first several guards ran past my position.

    As the next guard approached I could hear his footsteps slow and then stop when the door would not open. His cries for assistance soon gave away my position. I turned and ran hard at the back wall, again crashing through into the adjoining room on hall nine. Three Kurtz sitting at consoles let out screams for assistance and three Kurtz were soon obliterated by a green bolt of energy from my weapon.

    I opened the door into hall nine and crossed into the room beyond, once again jamming the door behind me. I repeated the process making my way across hallways until I had reached hallway 12. I jammed the door behind me and then paused to catch my breath.

    Although my body had acclimated to the Kurtz climate aboard the mega-ship the lower level of oxygen led to an early fatigue. I leaned over, placing my hands on top of my knees as I gasped for air, but my rest was short lived as the footsteps once again settled outside my door and the torch began to cut away at my defense.

    I turned and ran hard slamming into the back wall of the room, but it did not give. I bounced hard whipping my head forward into the hardened bulkhead wall. As I fell back stunned, the blood began to pour from a split on my forehead. Several seconds then passed before I was again on my feet and running towards a side wall.

    I crashed into the next room and then into the one beyond, each time jamming the door with a green bolt of energy as I ran. When the panel of the third wall buckled I found myself standing in the connecting hallway going out to hall 13.

    I sprinted towards the adjoining hall and continued on until I reached hall 14. I turned and knelt waiting for the first unlucky Kurtz to come into the cross hallway. Two rounded the corner at the same time and two bright green bolts of energy found their marks on the unlucky alien fools.

    I sprinted down hall 14 and entered the first door to my right that opened. A startled half nude Kurtz woman was in the process of dressing when I entered the room. She immediately leaped to the left side of the room looking for a weapon. I responded by jumping forward and smashing her skull in with my fist.

    I commanded her door to close behind me and then blasted the wall to seal it shut. I hurried to the back wall and tested it for give. The wall bowed under the pressure of my strong arm. I stepped back and powered through the wall into the adjoining room on hall 15. My thoughts quickly turned to finding Rial Mabia as taking her hostage would bring at least a pause to my current dilemma.

    I opened the door and poked my head out quickly to see if it was clear. Two blue bolts of energy screamed past my head from the right telling me that it was not. I stepped back and then lunged forward rolling on my side as I went. As I came to a stop I fired 3 bursts at the two guards that stood in front of a door on the left.

    The first guard exploded in agony while the second was knocked backwards by debris coming from a bolt hitting the wall. The second guard moved slowly on the floor behind the remains of the first, so I raised my weapon to finish the job. I then noticed a flashing yellow light indicating that my gun was nearly out of energy.

    I crossed the hall and then closed and blasted the doorway wall behind me. I turned to the right and ran through the wall in front of me. I burst into a room adorned with ornate decorations. I immediately recognized the blue chair as being the one Rial Mabia had sat in with her gaggle of kids in front of her so many years ago. I turned to see the five small stasis pods along the wall to the left.

    I tested the next wall and was relieved when it flexed under my pressure. I stepped back to again get up the speed for crashing through it when something told me to hold back. For a moment I hesitated and then kicked hard at the wall with my right foot. The panel buckled and shattered, raining down pieces before me.

    A green bolt of energy whizzed by my right shoulder and I responded by rolling left and firing. A Kurtz guard was torn in half by my shot as two others ducked for cover. I looked down at my gun only to realize the flashing yellow indicator was a solid red. I rolled across the wall opening and fired at the closest guard. A weak blue bolt of energy flew from my weapon striking the squatting Kurtz in the forearm. He fell to the side screaming in pain.

    I again looked down at my weapon only to see that the red light was off. My gun was useless. I took cover away from the doorway as one green bolt of energy after another entered my room. I glanced around at the room I was in, but there were no weapons. I next looked for items I could throw, but again nothing came to mind as the room was filled with ornate paintings, draperies, soft furniture and cushions.

    As the green bolts continued to come into the room through the missing wall panel I began to notice the angle of fire. The Kurtz were nearing the opening. I moved further back in the room taking up position beside one of the small stasis pods. The continuous barrage of green bolts then quickly came to an end.

    A Kurtz guard peered around the opening scanning the room for my location. He then commanded that I give myself up, that I was surrounded and that I could not escape. He was right; I was trapped and I was out of options. I leaned back against a small stasis pod and rolled to the floor on my back as it slid backwards behind me.

    After a moment’s hesitation I jumped to my feet and clutched the pod in my hands. I lifted it and then pulled hard, breaking the cables that connected it to power. The lighted pod went dark, ending the life of the alien child inside.

    I then ran towards the opening and heaved the stasis pod at the edge of the expanse. The pod crashed hard into the adjacent wall panel hammering the guard who knelt behind it. I turned slightly and dove into the wall panel on the opposite side of the opening crashing through it and crushing the second guard beyond.

    I rolled on the floor and then dove forward at the stunned guard who was still holding his forearm. His life quickly came to an end. As I began to stand I picked up his weapon, shaking my head in the affirmative as I inspected to see that the power level was set to maximum.

    I then turned to the single stasis pod that sat in the center of the room. As I checked the controls I noted that the pod was already coming to life. Rial Mabia was only seconds away from awakening. I fired a bolt of energy at the door leading to the hall sealing it shut. I then turned the weapon back on Rial Mabia as she slowly opened her eyes. She was my prisoner.

  


  
    Chapter 3

    


    

    


    

    Ten years had passed since I had been taken captive and another five since taking control of the alien mega-ship. I was Captain, Commander Supreme of all the Kurtz and Barhoo aboard my ship. I had spared the life of Rial Mabia and placed her as my second in command. We were only weeks away from a return to Earth.

    I ruled with an iron fist, executing several high ranking Kurtz by crushing their skulls with my bare fist. They had lacked the cooperative spirit that I required of my subjects. It was a difficult undertaking at first, as every fiber of my being told me that it was wrong, it was behavior that would have been looked upon as barbaric back on Earth.

    But I was not on Earth, I was in space, trying to keep control over a giant ship that was crewed by aliens who appeared to have no soul. Life had little meaning to them without the constant threat of death or the potential to maintain or move up in their absurd hierarchical structure.

    I had become hardened and bold with my actions. I demanded perfection from my crew and in turn took measures to better their lives. New rankings and assignments were given and promotions were commonplace. After all, there was no cost to giving out a title within such a confined community, titles were highly prized among the Kurtz.

    My friend Hershen had been promoted five levels to be a member of the Captain's guard. He was ever grateful and ever loyal having moved his family’s position far above what would have normally been achievable in his lifetime. For the former captain, Rial Mabia, my promise of continued life and a position in the Human Empire had her working hard to impress me.

    My repeated attempts to contact Command had been met with utter silence. I was returning to Earth with a ship more powerful than Man had ever known... with plans of my own. The first order of business would be to put an end to the ongoing food wars. It was time for Man to be at peace and to grow and to expand out into the stars.

    My BGS had been made useless during its study and the bio-gel required for its operation had been destroyed. I wore the bright red uniform of the Kurtz, signifying my position on the ship as Captain. Boota had maintained his position as chief scientist, but I had given him a new title implying a promoted position. He responded by giving me undying loyalty and a fierce work ethic.

    The army of utility robots aboard the vessel had been hard at work applying a new active Sodium skin to the ship’s surface. After studying the workings of the power cell from my BGS, Boota had updated the ship’s fusion reactors, yielding six times the power output as compared to before.

    The ship’s armaments had been updated, yielding nearly double the reach of the prior gravity beam. The workings of my personal coil gun had been scaled up with much more powerful versions ringing the ships perimeter. The aliens had a large supply of Protactinium for use as the coil guns preferred projectile, its speed neared light speed. In the dead of space the Protactinium would be incredibly difficult for any shield to stop.

    The gravity drive system was in the process of being changed out to a new centralized Black-Hole-Drive that made changes in direction near instantaneous. When done, it was expected that the ship would reach light speed in 18 seconds with a maximum safely shielded speed of 7,500 SOL.

    When complete, the trip to Epsilon Eridani would be made in just over a day using a mere four million tons of Sodium. Once at speed the reactors would consume two million tons a day. The ship’s hold held 100 million tons giving us more than a month and a half of travel at full speed on a full load. It would allow us to reach the opposite side of our galaxy and to return, if the need should arise.

    For the final year of our journey I had ordered that the Barhoo population numbers be restored to their maximums and for the assault ships that they normally manned to be converted to agricultural use. I was going to grow food on land and in the oceans, the likes of which Man had never seen, all with my million squid Barhoo army and their handful of Kurtz taskmasters.

    Our aquariums were brimming with Earth's native sea life to be used as the beginnings of repopulating our oceans. The Kurtz hydroponics labs had been used to perfect the seeds of our land crops where disease and drought would have far less impact. Earth with its rich soil and abundant waters would no longer lack for food.

    As we entered the heliosphere and sped towards home I was giddy with excitement. I would be returning as a hero, a conqueror and as a force with the will and the might to end all wars on Earth.

    I imagined the dawn of a new age for Earth and for Man, the age of the Human Empire was about to begin. We would build a fleet of ultra-fast and powerful ships and the Frekkin Empire would be the first to fall. From there our armies would move throughout the galaxy dominating each of the worlds... the alien worlds, that we knew existed.

    In our final days of approach I received a message from my officer of the deck in our command center. She had detected high levels of radiation coming from Earth's direction. The report told that it was the same gamma radiation emitted from our nuclear weapons when they had been detonated during the battle for Earth.

    My heart sank into desperation at the thoughts that the food wars had turned nuclear. I wondered if Man had finally gone and done it... pulling the trigger of mutual destruction when all hope was lost. As we passed by Jupiter my worst fears were confirmed.

    We approached from behind the sun giving us a near full sunlit view of Earth. Our long range optical sensors showed devastation among many of the planet's major cities; devastation resulting from a policy of scorched-earth. Many of the cities that had survived the alien incursion were nothing more than black wastelands of ash.

    The atmosphere was heavy with toxic dust and many of the croplands had a brown rather than green appearance. As my team observed further there was minimal cause for hope. Several of the large cities in Europe and across North Africa were still intact. As we journeyed closer and the world turned, the Americas showed similar results with a handful of the major cities surviving.

    A shroud of clouds over the Southeastern US prevented me from seeing my home in Eastern Alabama. I wondered what might lie below. We were soon screaming down through the atmosphere over the Pacific before turning eastward.

    San Diego had survived along with Phoenix, but Dallas and Houston were dark wastelands, charred by the large patterns of multiple nuclear strikes. We came to a rest over eastern Alabama at 30,000 meters and descended through the cloud cover to a rain soaked land below.

    I watched on the monitor in my cabin as we came to rest a kilometer above my grandfather's farm. The house was intact, but the fields had been reduced to a few acres of sparsely planted corn and potatoes. Our few head of cattle were nowhere to be seen and the old barn was in shambles.

    As soon as we came to a stop I boarded a transport and made my way to the surface. The heavy gravity of Earth made for a difficult time for the Kurtz. To them the air was foul with its distinct lack of sulfur in the atmosphere. The current report showed a higher than normal level of radiation, but not at such a level as to be immediately harmful.

    When I stepped out of the transport onto the soil of Earth I had an impulse to drop to my knees and run my hands through the dirt. I was home, home on the farm; the farm I had dreamed about for 10 years was finally before me. But I dare not kneel just as I dare not cry as it would show as a sign of weakness, a sign my alien crew, however loyal, would not understand.

    As I took my first step towards the farmhouse 40 meters away, a shot rang out from an upstairs window and the Kurtz guard standing just to my left fell silently to the ground with a large hole in his head. When the other guards brought their weapons to bear I gave the order to stand down.

    I raised my hand and called out in an attempt to let them know who I was. I made the mistake of speaking in Kurtz to which a second shot rang out and a second guard met with his end. I then yelled out my father’s name in English followed by my mothers. The gun in the window went silent.

    I ordered my guards to remain at the transport as I approached the farmhouse. I followed by yelling my own name as I came closer and was soon greeted by a strange man with a rifle standing in the doorway. He demanded that I stop and identify myself. As I told him my name he looked on in disbelief.

    He turned and yelled back into the house and an old haggard woman came to the door. I at first did not recognize her as being my own mother. The years away, the food wars and the nuclear fallout had taken a heavy toll. Her hair was gray and frazzled and her clothes tattered, but her recognition of her daughter was immediate.

    She raised her arms and let out my name in a weak voice. I responded by walking briskly up onto the porch and past her into the living room beyond. From up close I recognized the stranger as my younger cousin who had been a boy when I was first captured. I commanded both to come into the room and to close the door behind them.

    The moment I was out of sight of my crew I broke down in tears, tears of joy that my mother was still alive and tears of joy that I had once again been able to look upon her face. After several minutes of watery eyes and prolonged hugging I began to ask about my father, about Zack and Zack's parents.

    My father was on a run to New Orleans in an attempt to find parts for his broken tractor; he had taken Zack's father with him. Zack's mother had passed away due to illness a year before. I then pressed for information on Zack. My mother hesitated before giving an answer. He had been killed in the nuclear strike on Dallas before the last truce had been declared; almost two years had passed since his death.

    My mother then proceeded to talk about the wars and about how the Russians had double-crossed their European allies. Other alliances then responded out of fear and within a month three-quarters of the world’s remaining large cities had gone up in cinders. Last she had heard, Earth's population was down to around one-and-one-half billion people, a number that had not been seen since the late 1800s.

    Food harvest estimates were at a mostly sustainable level leading to the truces that were currently in place and holding. But everyone lived in fear of a drought or a bad harvest tipping the scales back towards starvation for one alliance or another, once again pitting man against man in a battle to survive, a battle to feed his family.

    I then asked about Command and of who was in charge of our military. The answer was of a new capital of the American Alliance that had risen in Savannah, much of the rest of the East Coast had been destroyed. But the military was not as it had been. It was controlled by a council of city governors, many of whom acted like warlords, coming from each of the major cities. The American Alliance council consisted of 14 such governors with Savannah being a neutral site where they would all gather if needed.

    As I talked with my mother and cousin I was looking out the window at my guards and the transport. When one of the guards fell to the ground I realized Earth's heavy gravity was taking its toll on their wiry muscles and thin boned frames. I tapped my armband and gave a command in Kurtz to which my cousin looked at me suspiciously.

    I ordered the guards to board the transport where the simulated gravity would put them back in their normal environment. It was an order of kindness on my part, but there would be no thanks coming from the guard as to them it was only an order, an order that was not based in kindness, but rooted with reason and purpose, a purpose they did not need to know or understand.

    I then sent an order to the ship to have several of the new agricultural robots brought down to the farm. Within half an hour silos were being constructed, corn was being harvested, and barren fields tilled. My grandfather's farm would be the first of many to be reconstructed.

    I spent the afternoon telling my mother the story of my captivity and of my escape. I told of the Kurtz and the Barhoo and of how their races functioned and behaved. I then told of the vast resource that was the mega-ship and of how I would use that resource to solve the world's food ills.

    She remarked that food shortages were not all that plagued the Earth. We had to contend with Man's hatred of fellow man because of past events. The generation of people in Texas would not soon forgive the Chinese, nor the French their Russian counterparts. The years of war had instilled deep-seated hatred of once friendly nations, a hatred that could easily last a generation.

    I wondered if my mother's wisdom was right. I wondered if I had come home to a broken world, a world that could not be fixed, a world that was doomed to failure. It was an outcome that I would not accept, an outcome that I would deny to those who wished it so. I commanded the mega-ship, a ship more powerful than Man had ever known, a ship that was capable of conquering Earth's inhabitants with little effort.

    Before leaving the farm I ordered a contingent of three utility robots to the surface giving them the tasks of maintaining the new machinery and of following whatever orders my family commanded of them, including security.

    I said my goodbyes and boarded the transport, flying back to my army in the sky. I ordered the ship moved to Savannah where repeated attacks by the cities remaining coil guns were ineffective and largely ignored. Our shields were too powerful for the meager weapons Man possessed. Within an hour of our arrival I was involved in a conversation with the Council of Governors.

    The coil guns around Savannah soon went silent as I let the governors know that I was in charge. I was the Commander Supreme and each of the governors were my subjects. I then explained that under my protection their food would be plentiful and their cities and industries rebuilt.

    I explained that it was not the end for Man, but a new beginning, a beginning amongst the stars... it was time that Man took his rightful place in the galaxy. Our populations would be regrown, our cities rebuilt and re-manned and all of Mankind enriched with the spoils of the galaxy. By the time my heady speech had ended the governors were cheering.

    I then sought out the other alliances around the world and gave each a similar speech. When each had agreed to my unconditional terms, terms which brought an end to their desperation and an end to their suffering, I unleashed my army of Barhoo to begin the terraforming of a devastated world.

    Within two years of my return Man was experiencing a baby boom the likes of which he had never seen. More than 300 million Barhoo swam in our oceans which were once again teaming with life. Hordes of robotic machines tilled the soils, whole rivers had been diverted for irrigation and rebuilt factories turned out product.

    Teams of scientists and engineers had been brought aboard the alien mega-ship where full evaluations of every technology had been logged, studied and enhanced where possible. Construction of factories for three new mega-ships was underway. The Zachery Class of war cruiser was born. Man was making a rapid comeback.

    The robotic intelligence of the Kurtz unmanned craft was studied and enhanced with newer, smaller and much more powerful fighters being the result. The mega-ship's normal contingent of 5,000 fighters was increased by a factor of ten. The Barhoo piloted skimmers were a thing of the past.

    A robotic army worked tirelessly day and night removing the remaining radioactive contamination from the nuclear food wars; contaminated ground was processed and the waters and skies filtered. The nuclear cleanup was expected to be complete within a few months. The remaining fissionable material was collected and stockpiled for future Human Empire needs.

    City governors were allowed wide latitude on how they governed with trade disputes settled by regional councils. There were few disputes however, as food was plentiful as was work as well as time off to enjoy Man's new riches.

    Robotic factories ran 24 / 7 under the supervision of men. No Human wanted for food or drink or shelter. Education systems were streamlined, medical facilities enhanced and technologies improved.

    By the fifth year of my reign, Earth's population had grown by 30%. Every man woman and child wore a BGS suit and had an audio implant, making each more effective with their time. No longer did we require three meals a day, no longer were there telephone or electrical wires strung from poles. Transportation was provided by robotic cars that followed the rider’s directions.

    On the medical front our scientists and researchers had adapted the alien medical technologies to our own physiology. The results were a 50% increase in our expected longevity. With the strict diets and exercise that came as a result of the BGS, Man's longevity was expected to increase by another 50% on top of the first. A newly born human could expect to live for 150 years or more. Advancements on all fronts were rapid and expanding with each new day.

    Crime had diminished and what little there was, was dealt with in a swift and severe manner. It was in no one's best interest to be plotting or planning against others when life and the new freedoms and health we enjoyed were available to everyone. The governors were held to an especially high standard.

    I returned to the family farm frequently to be around the remaining family I had. It was a relief from the constant stress I had placed upon my own shoulders with the running of an entire world. It was an escape that was needed for me to maintain my sanity as the hours I kept were long and my work ethic relentless.

    On the anniversary of the seventh year of my return I ordered a world celebration for what had been achieved and to announce our new goals. I broadcast a live video from the command center on-board the HESS Tork, the first of the Zachery Class cruisers named after a fellow crewman who had risked his life and sacrificed his health for his fellow man. His life had been lost during the food wars, but not before he had given his last breath in the service of others.

    Along with the celebration I made an announcement. The plans had been made and the keels laid for the first Battleship as well as our first space exploration vessel. I then told of my goal to take three of the first five Battleships along with ten cruisers to Epsilon Eridani. The celebrations soon went from cheers to silence.

    I reasoned that Man was on the upswing, we would soon be well armed and we were in need of new goals and new directions. It was "our" generations that would be the example for the new Human Empire, we would be the foundation upon which it would grow and prosper and as such we were the ones who would have to show the way.

    I told of how our intellect and technologies would be superior and our planning and execution precise. We would be relentless in our pursuits until such time as free man ruled the galaxy. The responding applause was tepid.

    I continued with my grandiose speech with each new paragraph adding to what we could expect as a people. Each new sentence I delivered had been crafted to inspire and enthuse. By the time the speech came to its conclusion the cheering and the celebrations had returned in full force. Man was prepared to venture into the stars, to explore, to expand and to fulfill his new destiny.
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    The day had finally come for the first fleet of the Human Empire to head for our enemy at Epsilon Eridani. Preparation had been long in the making and the crews were well trained at their posts. It was a force far superior to anything Man had seen or envisioned only a few short years before.

    The Battleships Atlanta, New York and Tel Aviv led up the armada along with a dozen Zachery Class cruisers and forty newly commissioned Brenner Class destroyers, each equipped with our newest shielding, drives and weapons. The fleet could deploy more than nine million autonomous mini-fighters in under a minute.

    Each battleship carried a contingent of 150,000 BGS Marines while being crewed by fewer than 4,000. The four medical bays on-board each ship were top notch with each being able to handle 200 simultaneous emergency surgeries as well as recuperation bedding for more than 5,000 injured.

    The battleships were 100 kilometers in length by 40 kilometers wide by 8 kilometers tall. They held enough Sodium fuel to remain powered under normal conditions for more than 30 years, and enough food and recyclable supplies to last the equivalent. They were cities unto themselves.

    Each craft was driven by our newest centralized BHD which allowed near instantaneous turns and acceleration in any direction. Shielding had been enhanced to allow space travel at 7,500 SOL with random strike protection being the equivalent of a collision with a bus sized object. Our true maximum speed was unknown as the BHD would continue to accelerate if left at full power.

    With our newest active Sodium skins and centralized BHDs our ships could remain invisible while accelerating or decelerating in any direction. Active gun ports could be enabled or disabled allowing the firing of weapons while maintaining an extremely small signature.

    Our sensors had been refined with the combined optical, infrared and RF sensors from our own history as well as that of the Kurtz. In addition, the Kurtz scientist Boota, along with an international team of physicists, had created a new "long wave" sensor that could detect the movement of a medium sized ship from more than five light years distance.

    Our communications had been enhanced with the QE comm as the centerpiece. Millions of specialized robots had been tasked with the estimated 40,000 tries it took to produce a single Quantum Entangled pair. At latest count we were producing more than 1,000 QE pairs a day. Every manned ship was equipped with redundant pairs as well as every BGS Marine squad leader and all ship officers. The instant communications were also fed back to command centers on Earth.

    Our firepower was superior. The gravity beams aboard the battleships could reach outward to 80,000 kilometers, the cruisers to 40,000 and the destroyers to 8,000. The Protactinium coil guns, if supplied with enough pellets and fired continuously, had the ability to cut an object the size of the Moon clean in half in just under a month. Projectiles moved at 0.8 SOL. I shuddered to think of what damage they might do if the SOL was broken.

    After months of space trials the first fleet had taken to the skies with much fanfare and celebration. We had assembled at twice the distance of the Moon from the Earth. My commanders awaited my orders.

    I sat in my command chair on the bridge of the Atlanta, checking the status reports of each vessel as they came in. My chair sat high on the upper of five levels that stepped down towards a view screen that gave the appearance of a giant window into space with a 160 degree view. Each successive level in front of and below me had 20 battle commanders who coordinated our movements, weapons and defenses.

    Hershen, along with my four human bodyguards, stood behind me, keeping an ever watchful eye on the happenings around me. I flipped a holo-switch and was shown a video grid with each of my captains occupying a small square.

    As each looked on I asked for a moment of silence to remember all who had perished during our years of war, a moment for all who were present who had trained and toiled to bring us to where we were and a moment for our new generations who would soon follow us out into the stars.

    When a full minute of silence had passed I raised my arm and then brought it down slowly with a single finger pointing towards Epsilon Eridani. In an instant the view of Earth grew small and disappeared, the sun went from its ever present hugeness to nothing more than a bright star before going dark and the counters for our journey ticked away; 26 hours and 12 minutes until our arrival.

    In an attempt to be as prepared as we could be I ordered war simulations to be run every two hours. Each new shift would have just come off some type of battle leaving them better prepared when the real test arrived.

    I sat in my Captain's chair going over statistics from the simulations and monitoring the readiness status of every ship under my command. When the time came I wanted our opponent to be immediately overwhelmed and convinced to surrender. I reasoned that Rial Doria was not a fool and would soon fall in line with her sister.

    Our fleet far outnumbered and outgunned the lone Kurtz mega-ship, that is, unless it had received reinforcements. In our simulations I had ordered a dozen such ships to show up as a surprise for my crews to gage their readiness to deal with such. They had performed flawlessly with each battle being over within a matter of minutes.

    In the simulations our fighters ripped through those of the alien vessel with ease, our shields blocked their powerful gravity beams and our coil guns made short work of their defenses. Everything had been planned out and every contingency accounted for. I was convinced that our opposition did not stand a chance.

    As the arrival counter ticked down towards zero we got our first optical views of Alvin. I had forgotten how beautiful its oceans were when lit up by the pale orange sun. I was a bit disappointed when it became apparent that the twin moons of Alvin were large debris fields. Gravity had done its nasty deed.

    Our defensive specialists scanned the space around Alvin, but had no signal of any kind to indicate that our enemy was still there. When we dropped below SOL I had my fleet waiting in attack formation. It soon became apparent that there would be no battle that day. Rial Doria, the mega-ship and the submerged Barhoo processing city were all gone.

    The adrenaline pumped through my veins, but I could not put it to any use. The Epsilon Eridani system was quiet, it had been abandoned. I had my teams do optical scans in the direction of the nearest star systems, but the reports all came back with nothing but emptiness. I immediately brought Rial Mabia to the bridge to question as to where they might have gone.

    The Kurtz home world was on the outskirts of the Frekkin Empire in the system around the star Rho Puppis. The distance from Epsilon Eridani to Rho Puppis was 59 light years. It had taken the alien mining fleet 84 years to reach Epsilon Eridani. Rial Mabia's best guess was that they were on their way home using a Transit Pull.

    I asked what a Transit Pull was and was told that it was of Frekkin technology. As far as she knew it was a cylindrical device sitting in space that was approximately 500 of our kilometers long by 50 of our kilometers diameter. When powered up, a gravity beam of sorts would be generated and any ship riding in that beam would receive an added acceleration past light speed when traveling towards the Transit. A tractor beam immediately came to mind.

    A ship in the beam was able to travel towards its source at seven SOL. The trip from Epsilon Eridani back to their home world would take 9 years in the beam. It was a technology the Frekkin used to keep the 46 systems in their realm within their reach. A Transit Pull at either end of two star systems was their equivalent of a superhighway in space.

    Rial Doria was likely already home and facing charges of negligence in a high court. She would be demoted at least two levels, damaging the families position for many centuries. I told Mabia that it should not matter to her as she herself had been elevated far above the position of a mining fleet captain. She was the first Kurtz Ambassador to the Human Empire. Each time that fact was restated to her she could not help but to pull back her shoulders and display a broad smile.

    I asked our sensor team if they could scan for the residual effects of the Transit Pull beam, they immediately began their work. My next command was to fully evaluate the Epsilon Eridani system so that future explorers might have information and direction from which to begin their explorations. Mapping of every object in the system was immediately undertaken.

    I then turned back to Rial Mabia to ask about the Frekkin fleet. Her response was that she had never seen it, nor had she seen pictures or any other evidence of it. The Frekkin had not been to Rho Puppis for centuries, but stories of their existence from travelers had kept everyone happily in line. The rumors were that the fleet was far bigger than the fleet we currently had assembled and that there were many technologies that were unknown to and well beyond the Kurtz abilities. The Kurtz themselves were mere infants in the realm of space.

    It had been thousands of years since the Frekkin first arrived at Rho Puppis and their dominance had been swift and complete. The hierarchical systems had been imposed and within a few generations of Kurtz the old ways were a distant thing of the past. Within four generations there was no historical record of the prior Kurtz history and any recording, writing or retelling of such had been outlawed under penalty of death. The Kurtz had adapted quickly to the new system and the order it had given to their lives.

    I had trouble imagining what technologies the Frekkin could possibly have that would be far superior to what we possessed. From their Transit Pull system I knew they could travel above SOL, but seven times was nothing compared to what our current ships were capable of.

    I wondered what weapons they might have to use against us and about their shielding and how effective it would be against our weapons. I wondered if they had the same Sodium active skin and if they were just sitting off our port side watching our every move from their cloaked state. I called a counsel of my captains to discuss.

    As we threw out ideas a status came in from the sensor team. They had indeed located debris. More than four million Barhoo bodies had been identified in an area where other debris had been jettisoned. No doubt their numbers had been culled to the minimum for the journey home.

    I discussed our options with the captains of shift two and then ordered the talks to overlap with shift three as a transition to the next team. Shift two was then relieved of duty to begin their rest with the knowledge that they would be fully informed of any decisions.

    Our discussions continued into the wee hours of shift three before a plan was put in place. A single destroyer with a minimal crew would be given the assignment of the reconnaissance of Rho Puppis. Travel to the Rho Puppis system would take approximately four days and upon their arrival they would remain in place with full shielding and do nothing but observe. With the QE comm our fleet would have immediate access to all the information their sensors could gather.

    Coordinates were entered and within an hour the destroyer Shanghai was on its way. Captain Dang Dang Wan along with a skeleton crew of twelve Humans and one Kurtz were soon speeding through space at 7,500 SOL. He took it as a great honor that he and his crew would be the first Humans to set eyes upon a populated alien world.

    Captain Dang wasted no time getting his crew familiar with their orders. The crewmen were maintenance workers, all responsible for keeping the ship’s systems in top operational order. Control of the sensors had been automated and turned over to my crew aboard the Atlanta. The flight passed midpoint and the ship was soon decelerating on its approach to Rho Puppis.

    All eyes were on the large holo-screen on the bridge as the first views of the Kurtz home world appeared. The Kurtz planet of Toleda was the fourth from their sun. It was slightly larger than Earth, but lacked the iron core that increased our gravitational pull, leaving the Kurtz with a gravity that measured 0.815, slightly less than our own.

    Toleda was beautiful with deep blue waters that ran in long stretches throughout the land masses. The land was green and gold with white snow-capped mountains strewn about in long ridges that stretched for much of the planets perimeter. As the Shanghai moved closer we could make out the glowing lights of the massive Kurtz cities on the night side of the planet.

    Soon the single moon of Toleda made its way into view from the far side of the planet. As the destroyer slowed to a stop we had our first looks at the Frekkin Transit Pull. There were eight such pulls in a cluster located in a stationary position just outside of Toleda's orbit. The entire scene as viewed on our high resolution holo-screen was surreal.

    For seven days we used the destroyer's sensors to monitor traffic coming in and out of the Rho Puppis system. Most of the ships were small transports, but we were treated to the rare arrival of one of the Sodium harvesters from a far system. The massive ship had in tow a string of massive containers that stretched out for 500 kilometers behind it.

    There was enough Sodium in the one haul to power the entire planet of Toleda for hundreds of years. But the mega-ship and its cargo were soon lined up in the same direction as one of the Transit Pulls. Rial Mabia identified the pull as heading towards the Waffen home world of Eldred in the Spica system. It was a 221 light year journey from Toleda.

    I quizzed Mabia on the Waffen and was told they were a species of flyers. They were bipeds, but they made use of thin membranes that would stretch out under their arms, allowing them to cruise from a higher location to a lower one much like the flying squirrels of Earth. Eldred was a rocky world with few flatlands and the Waffen had genetically adapted to their environment through many millennia giving them their gliding ability.

    But the shipment would not stop there. It would likely continue on for another four hops before reaching the Frekkin world of Mossis. Mossis was rumored to be a gateway world and as such was heavily armed as a first defense for the Frekkin worlds, of which there were twelve. Everything in the empire revolved around those twelve planets. At least that was what Rial Mabia had been taught in her grade school education nearly 250 Earth years before.

    Travelers who landed on Mossis were rumored to never be heard from again and any cargoes destined for there were stopped short of delivery with crews sent back along their way with new ships and new orders. No Out-worlder was permitted to lay eyes on the Frekkin and return. I speculated that it was likely only a ploy to keep the outer worlds in line by adding a layer of mystery to whatever lore surrounded the Frekkin.

    In addition, crews and ships were changed at every Transit Pull. Kurtz were not allowed to visit Eldred and Waffen were not allowed on Toleda. The Frekkin Empire was set up so that only trade was allowed between worlds, trade that was taxed by the Empire. There was also no common spoken language. Any communique between worlds was done using Frekkin writing and reading. There were only a handful of subjects on any world who could translate and it was kept a highly guarded secret. The Frekkin maintained a tight grip on their subjects.

    We had been observing for a week and I had not slept since leaving Earth. My suit meds saw to it that I was fully alert and nutritionally healthy at all times. But the Human brain required rest and with no activity going on I decided it was time for a nap. I passed command on to my second, Admiral Josh Barron, and then made my way to my quarters. I adjusted my suit to control the length of time that my bio-computer thought would be best. I was soon fast asleep.

    Eighteen hours passed before I was again awake. The suit stimulants kicked in bringing me fully alert within seconds. I immediately sought status of anything that had happened during my rest. The first report was that Rial Doria's ship had been detected. It was docked in the Kurtz city of Hervik which was only 200 kilometers from the Kurtz capital of Gurthead.

    I began to toy with the idea of sending a Kurtz spy from our ranks down to the planet to investigate further. But the Kurtz were not a people to be trusted. They had already shown through their easily changed loyalty, from their own people to me, to not truly be loyal. They would sell out to the highest bidder if their current circumstance was unstable.

    I then questioned Mabia on the speeds of the Frekkin ships without the Transit Pulls. She did not know. I began to form a plan, a plan of attack, an attack on the Kurtz home-world of Toleda. I quizzed Mabia on what ground defenses the planet had to which she responded that she was not sure. She had never heard of any nor did she know of any need as while they were subjects of the Frekkin they were under their protection.

    I sent orders to Captain Dang to scan the planet’s surface for ships. I wanted a full accounting of what we might be up against if an assault was to be undertaken. He waited until the planets 33 hour rotation had ended before responding with his estimates.

    He counted 31 mega-ships, 54 battleships, 126 cruisers, 244 destroyers and 96 carriers. Aside from the carrier fighter counts he had no way of knowing how many other fighters they had. All-in-all it was a formidable fleet.

    But our weapons were superior, our shields stronger and our drive systems would allow us to easily outmaneuver their ships. We also had training on our side as most Kurtz had never known battle and any simulated training they did was of a minimal nature.  Their numbers were more for self-esteem as a people than anything. The real protection supposedly came from the Frekkin.

    I ordered the Battle Planners to get to work immediately on as many scenarios for an attack as possible. I wanted simulations run 24 / 7 to provide us with "best estimates" of what we might find once in battle. All ships were soon placed on full alert status as the war simulations began.

    Every crew manned their posts with the same determination that was expected from them during the real thing. Several lower level commanders had taken it upon themselves to not reveal that information to their charges when shifts changed. That practice was ended when two crewmen left their posts in an attempt to take back the bridge of their ship from simulated invaders who had come aboard. They had been talked down from their assault just before using live fire.

    We ran the simulations for four days and the results of even the worst scenarios came out well in our favor. The Kurtz fleet, even though it was far larger in size, was no match for our new technologies. Mabia then threw in the added potential that if we came in with an overwhelming attack at first, the rest of the Kurtz fleet might surrender and submit to our empire. When the odds were against them, survival and adapting to new rulers was something they did very well.

    I soon had thoughts of the first planet falling under the rule of the Human Empire. We were not prepared for governing an alien species and I was not fond of the thought of winging it. I organized a Council of Governance and drew on every crew member that had any diplomatic experience.

    I ordered the council be headed from Command on Earth. Plans for immediate subjugation of the Kurtz home world would need to be put in place before we moved. Days soon turned to weeks as the plans began to solidify. When the Council of Governance (COG) was satisfied with their outlines I put our attack plan into action.

    We were going to war on another planet with a species that had made war with us first. I had feelings of revenge coursing through my veins even though my conscience told me it was wrong. It was a personal struggle I would have to deal with if I had any hope of continuing on as the Human Empire's Supreme Commander. It was a title that I had created at first to intimidate the Kurtz, but it had somehow stuck.

    I was seated at the head of an armada, commanding a fleet of warships on the edge of conflict with another world, commanding a planet to follow my lead and to do my bidding. I had an uneasy feeling that constantly lurked in my subconscious, telling me that it had all come about too easily; it remained in the forefront of my mind.

    Who was I that the whole Human race was so willing to follow? Who was I that others would lay down their lives for my goals? Each time the thoughts arose I confronted them with the words of wisdom my grandfather had given me so many years before. Just always do your best with what you have and learn from your mistakes. Be confident in your abilities and trust in your decisions. If you do your best you will know that you have done all that was possible.

    As my confidence returned I sat back in my chair. I was the Supreme Commander of the Human Empire and our conquest to free the galaxy was about to begin. I brought my captain's screen online. I raised my arm as all watched and then slowly lowered it in the direction of Toleda, my outstretched finger pointing the way.
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    As the ship decelerated we broke through light speed and within minutes the first ships of the Kurtz fleet were lifting off from the planet's surface. Minutes later tens of thousands of missiles lifted out of silos heading in our direction. They came quickly and once above Toleda's atmosphere they MIRVed into a dozen or more warheads apiece. It was a scenario that we had not planned for.

    I ordered the smaller ships to align behind the battleships and for all to keep their shields at maximum. I had hoped that our approach would be invisible with our active skins enabled, but the Kurtz had a method to detect us. I reasoned that perhaps we had dropped out of light speed too late as our destroyer had been camped out for weeks without being detected.

    As the first of the MIRVed warheads came within range I order the battleships to begin firing upon them with our Protactinium coil guns. In a near instant the warheads began to explode one by one as the tiny yet dense projectiles reached their targets.

    The remaining warheads, which numbered more than 300,000, began using a swirling pattern in their approach thus making the coil gun projectiles far less effective. The horde of warheads continued closing in. I ordered the gravity beams brought online and within seconds the warheads again began to explode as we swept the space they traveled in. But their numbers were too great and our weapons systems were soon overwhelmed.

    I ordered a "brace for impact" as the first of the warheads reached our position. I then ordered our weapons to stand down and for the extra energy to be applied to our shields. The shields on the Atlanta rose from 20% to 40% to 60% as the relentless stream of warheads detonated in our space. The attack continued for an hour as the Kurtz defenders continued to launch new missiles from the planet's surface.

    It soon became apparent that the Kurtz warheads were not powerful enough to overcome our defenses. But it had given them time to mobilize their fleet. By the time the last of the warheads had detonated their vast armada had been organized into three massive flotillas that approached our position. I ordered our mini-fighters readied to be released. It was time the Kurtz new what overwhelming numbers meant.

    The Kurtz flotillas on the left and the right launched all of their fighters at once. Their numbers were more than a million strong. As they formed up for their attack I ordered our guns and our gravity beams to come online. When the approaching fleets reached 40,000 kilometers I gave the order to begin firing.

    As the first of the alien fighters took hits and exploded our cruisers and destroyers slipped out from behind our battleships forming a skirmish line. The Kurtz took the bait and ordered their horde of fighters and their ships into battle. At 20,000 kilometers our sensors began to feel the effects of the Kurtz gravity beams.

    Shields registered 1% and held steady. The Kurtz fighters raced forward. When the fighters reached 3,000 kilometers I ordered our mini-fighters released.

    In less than a minute nine million mini-fighters were launched. The dense swarm soon encountered the million alien fighters. The battle lasted 20 minutes before the last of the alien fighters were destroyed. I gave the recall signal and checked the tally on our losses. Our mini-fighter ranks had been lowered by 76,434. The Battle Planners were ecstatic.

    I then ordered the three battleships to train all weapons on a single designated mega-ship. With the press of a holo-button on my command console the single mega-ship was decimated. The utter destruction was so complete that our sensors detected nothing left of it larger than a meatball.

    I then sent a message to the Kurtz fleet commander asking for their immediate surrender. I received no response and the Kurtz fleet continued to slowly close. I gave our navigation team an order to take evasive action if the alien gravity weapon was detected. I reasoned they might be interested in a tit-for-tat trade for one of our own.

    When the detection of a gravity wave soon began to build on our shields the Atlanta's BHD came online moving us nearly instantaneously 5,000 kilometers in the vertical. The combined beams of 26 mega-ships all missed their target. I ordered another round of fire at the second mega-ship and seconds later it and its crew were no longer in existence. But the Kurtz were stubborn and continued with another assault, aimed at the Tel Aviv. Again our battleship maneuvered easily away from the attack.

    After the third mega-ship vaporized, the Kurtz commander came online, he was interested in what we had to say. I again told him that I was only interested in the unconditional surrender of the Kurtz fleet and the Kurtz people. They were the subjects of the Human Empire and all of their positions and ranks in their society would be maintained. I added that depending on their cooperation many might see promotions in the expanding Human Empire.

    I gave their commander several minutes to think it over before insisting on an answer. As I had suspected earlier, the Kurtz leadership rolled over on their backs exposing their soft underbellies. With a single gesture the Human Empire had doubled in size.

    Eight squads of BGS Marines were immediately dispatched to the eight Transit Pulls in the Rho Puppis system. All active beams were shut down and the unfortunate travelers that were in route dropped back to their normal maximum speeds. I wanted to feel bad as they were innocent beings, but we could not afford the Frekkin fleet showing up in the Rho system before we were prepared. We had much to learn from the Kurtz command about who the Frekkin were and what they were capable of.

    I sent our Ambassador, Rial Mabia, planet-side to begin transitioning the Kurtz government to a system managed by Humans. She was greeted with open arms and broad smiles. The Kurtz feigned immediate loyalty to the point of annoyance.

    I requested access to their star system database to which a group of Kurtz technicians soon responded. We had maps and locations of 6 of the 46 star systems in the Frekkin Empire. It was all the Kurtz were allowed access to and although the data included the position of Mossis it contained nothing more about the planet.

    Months were spent learning the Frekkin Transit Pull systems before it was decided to turn them back on. No new traffic would be allowed on the beams, but those unfortunate travelers who had been in transit were given the option to continue into the space of the Human Empire.

    Rial Boota was immediately made the Science Commissioner of the Kurtz faction of the Human Empire. His team went to work integrating all known Kurtz technologies into the Human systems. As a sign of our gratitude to the Kurtz for joining the Empire their Sodium reactors received efficiency upgrades, cutting their Sodium needs in half. All Kurtz fleets were directed to deliver all cargoes to the Kurtz home world as no further trade would be done with the Frekkin.

    Back on Earth the COG had been readying their governmental changes. More than a dozen transports had been filled with more than a thousand Human advisors for the transition. The advisors arrived six days after the official surrender communique was received. Again, the advisors were given authority to give out titles to which the Kurtz responded with enthusiasm.

    Trade emissaries were sent to evaluate the Kurtz world for the exchange of resources. The Kurtz were in need of Sodium, a resource we had in plenty. We, on the other hand were in need of diamonds for use in our industries and for the Kurtz latest robotic technologies.

    Cultural appreciation exchanges were begun with the hopes of solidifying relations by "knowing" your friends. Academic exchanges were established so that the Kurtz could be indoctrinated as to what it meant to be a subject of the Human Empire. Within a matter of months it seemed the transition to the HE was going smoothly.

    Before the first Human set foot on the Kurtz home-world, all non-Kurtz aliens residing there had been given the option of conversion to the HE or exile to a colony base that was to be established on Epsilon Eridani. If relations were established with their home-worlds they would be given transport home. All accepted dominance by the HE.

    More than 500 Kurtz who had been under the authority of Rial Mabia had been indoctrinated into the new HE-Kurtz Intelligence Corps. The HECIK was a highly classified organization and its agents were soon put to work in the Kurtz population looking for any signs of disloyal behavior. Edicts of communications restrictions were soon established restricting all forms of communication to wired only. It had taken months to lay cables, but the Kurtz world of Toleda was fast on its way to becoming a dark planet.

    It had not taken long for our intelligence corps to determine the Frekkin were attempting to gather information. Two minimal Transit Pulls had been detected and it had been determined that their sole purpose was to accelerate any signals originating from Toleda. Instead of those signals taking decades if not hundreds of years to reach those transits, they would only take one seventh of that time.

    Those transit channels were soon blocked by unmanned craft that delivered nothing but heavy metal music from Earth’s 1970s. Our intel guys had a good laugh at how the Frekkin might interpret the lyrics sent their way.

    With the transmissions limited, it became easy to pick up Frekkin spies from the population. Their interrogations were turned over to the Kurtz who had no tolerance for disloyalty. Only two such spies died at their hands as their techniques for extracting information were ruthless, but effective. I had personally been through the process and survived.

    As an added precaution each Kurtz Intelligence Officer (KIO) was given the task of monitoring two other intelligence officers. They were of course told that they were the only ones doing any monitoring. KIO were not allowed to contact any other KIO and the officers they were monitoring were changed every few weeks. It was determined to be an effective way for the HEKIC to keep themselves honest as offers of rewards and possible promotions were laid out as incentive.

    As the one year mark of the Kurtz "Liberation" approached celebrations were coordinated worldwide. Toleda would begin a week long party and all citizens would be rewarded with bonus credits in their accounts.

    When the celebrations ended the renewed and refreshed population would receive orders to construct factories that would produce parts to be traded with Earth. New factories meant that new positions would be offered with a chance for workers to move up in their hierarchies. It created a buzz of excitement in a population who was already becoming very fond of their Human overlords.

    The factories were established to speed the construction of new spacecraft as well as stationary space defenses. The first to receive the mobile space-born weapons systems would be Earth followed shortly thereafter by Toleda. The systems would be unmanned and would stay hidden by their active skins until such time as they were needed. They were to be completely assembled on Earth and deployed without the knowledge of most Humans or of all Kurtz. It was considered a top priority by our planners, an extra layer of defense against a Frekkin incursion should one occur.

    In the year following our triumph three new battleships were commissioned and pressed into service, the Berlin, the Cairo and the Moscow along with three dozen smaller craft were launched as the HE Second Fleet. They had been moved to Epsilon Eridani to oversee the construction of a Barhoo colony.

    The gravity weapons of the battleships were being used to pulverize and then push the remaining moon debris down to the planet’s ocean. Estimates were that within three years the planet Alvin would have its first continent and that its seas would once again be salty. The Barhoo would be given the task of terraforming the planet so that it could support Human, Kurtz or Barhoo life. Its oceans were also rich in Protactinium.

    I was on a high as beginnings of the HE were solidifying before my eyes. Factories roared, efficiencies ruled and Man was moving forward on almost every front. Earth's population had topped 3.2 billion and with the all of the baby making... smiles abounded. Nearly all evidence of past wars had been cleared away and whole cities were being rebuilt from the ground up.

    I brought in Rial Mabia for a briefing on Kurtz relations. To her knowledge the people of Toleda had never been happier. The Humans were kind as compared to the officials of the Frekkin and they had allowed the Kurtz wide latitudes in settling disputes amongst their people. The Resolution Courts that had been setup had worked wonders.

    Everyone on Toleda was happily employed and enjoying lifestyles that had previously only been reserved for the highest of positions. The introduction of the traditions of weekends and holidays had been extremely well received. Goods and services were plentiful as autonomous robots had been given the crucial yet difficult tasks of producing many of those goods and providing many of the services.

    The Kurtz defense forces had been given new training and upgraded ships and equipment. I marveled at how quickly they were able to adapt, Humans were often averse to change while the Kurtz reveled in newness.

    When the first of the MDP (Mobile Defense Platforms) arrived and was deployed I felt relief. There had been no sign of a Frekkin approach, even with our long wave sensors. It made me wonder if the Frekkin even existed. But the space between stars and planets was immense. The Waffen home-world which was the closest Frekkin planet to Toleda, was 221 light years distance. It would only be 23 days with our BHD systems, but so far as we knew, that technology was exclusive to the HE.

    The Kurtz had little knowledge about the Waffen defenses. They also had little knowledge about Waffen technology. Only minimal and approved technology exchanges had been allowed between worlds. It was just one more of the ways the Frekkin maintained their tight grip on the outer worlds.

    By the time year five of the HE had rolled around our fleets had grown in number to seven. MDPs ringed the Earth, Alvin and Toleda. Defense and expansion production was at a peak and the populations of both planets continued to grow. Preparations were underway to allow new colonists a chance to settle on the newly terraformed Alvin. I sensed uneasiness amongst the Kurtz that they were not being allowed to participate. So, I decided on an alternative.

    The Kurtz were to assemble a science team with the mission of accompanying Human scientists on their exploration attempts of uninhabited worlds. If a world was discovered that would support the Kurtz people they would be allowed to have a small exploratory colony. Further habitation from there would be discussed by the councilmen of the COG.

    The first selected system was anchored by the star Adebaran. Two planets had been detected in the "Habitable" zone. The journey from Toleda would take 28 days, but the populous was again ingratiated to the HE and to the sense of pride they were developing from being a member.

    I offered my friend and bodyguard Hershen the opportunity to go with the explorers knowing that it had been a dream of his since coming of age in the Kurtz world. He was not interested in leaving the side of the being that had given him so much. The things he had learned and the responsibilities he had been given had far surpassed his childhood dreams. I was relieved that he had decided to stay as I had grown fond of having him around.

    The exploration ship, the Columbus, left Toleda with much fanfare. The journey would take less than a month, but the expedition would last more than two years. The Columbus was an immense vessel, nearly the size of one of our battleships. If planets in the system were anywhere near habitable the ships gravity beam could be used to push the planets until they reached an optimum orbit.

    From that new orbit, millions of terraforming robots would be released and the planet would be left for a period of five years. If all went well the first colonists would be dispatched immediately after.

    With our new defenses, new fleets and new colonies forming up nicely, Earth appeared to be hitting its stride. We had come so far in such a short time, from being on the brink of annihilation, to establishing an empire among the stars. But again, I was uneasy about how well everything was going. It was a nervousness that had plagued me many times before, a nervousness that came in the past with good reason. I expected the bad news to break any day.
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    The bad news came on an Earth Wednesday. Unusual gravity fluctuations had been detected on Toleda. At first they were nothing more than a thing of interest. A gravity bubble 50 kilometers in diameter had been detected that seemed to be circling the Kurtz globe. For a little over an hour the gravity would lessen by nearly a tenth of a G before slowly returning to normal.

    After several weeks of the phenomena the Kurtz scientists had given the all clear as to its harm to life or property. They were stumped as to what the cause was. The people had quickly come to enjoy the short time period of each day where they could jump higher and throw things farther. There were daily celebrations of sorts as the gravity bubble passed through the capital city of Gurthead. But gravitational changes do not happen without a reason.

    I had a team of physicists flown out from Earth to work with the Kurtz on discovering its cause. After three weeks of observation my team returned with a report. The gravity well was originating on or near the planet Eldred and it was slowly growing in intensity.

    I dispatched the battleship New York to reside in the beam with the hope that it could somehow counter its affect. For two weeks the New York ran test after test with no success. Then, with a sudden burst, the gravity beam amplified.

    On the ground of Toleda trees were uprooted and dirt and rock flew into the air. The beam crossed over a large body of water and the contents of a much used reservoir were sucked up into the air and out into space. Evacuations were quickly ordered for the capital city, but the word was slow to get out to the general population.

    I watched in horror as the gravity bubble approached and then began to rip a wide swath through Gurthead. Buildings were ripped from their foundations and drawn up through the atmosphere and into space. On the first pass Gurthead lost nearly half its citizens with Rial Mabia being among them. Whole towns were ripped from the ground and disintegrated as they rose upwards with the other debris. The New York soon reported having to dodge a column of such debris exiting the atmosphere on its way towards Eldred.

    The Frekkin had unleashed a powerful and devastating weapon on the Kurtz from an extreme distance, a weapon for which we again had no counter. Estimates were soon coming in that the planet as a whole would be uninhabitable within months as the atmosphere was slowly sucked away.

    I immediately dispatched a destroyer to Eldred to gather information. I followed up the next day sending a cruiser and then the day after with the entire second fleet. The Kurtz screamed for us to do something as their world was being ripped apart. We had little to offer.

    When the destroyer arrived at Eldred it immediately went silent before it could relay any useful data. It was the Shanghai and captain Dang, he and his crew had served us well in the Kurtz invasion, they had become nothing more than molecules of debris floating in space near an alien world.

    The long wave sensors on the cruiser were soon put into service and the result was detection of a fluid state of movement in an area more than five million kilometers across. Whatever it was that we had detected was at too great a distance for the cruisers optical scanners to make out, but it was of extreme power.

    Before any definitive data returned from the cruiser, it too went silent. Another crew had perished without us knowing why. I next ordered the second fleet to immediately halt. It came to a stop more than three light years away from Eldred.

    Even though we considered Drillers to be old technology each of our battleships had a contingent of 50,000 of them aboard. Two Drillers were refitted, one with sensors and QE communications and the other as a tow. They were launched in the direction of the fluid anomaly. When they reached two light years distance the lead Driller would detach and continue towards the target, thus allowing the sensors and QE comm to drift in silently. We reasoned that with its small size and inactive BHD it might go undetected.

    Back on Earth four of our fleets and all available space transports were ordered to Toleda to evacuate their population. It was a massive undertaking with more than nine billion citizens in need of rescue. The new facilities being built on Alvin would only accommodate about two billion of the refugees. Many of the rest would be offered refuge on Earth where makeshift housing was already passing the planning stage.

    We moved as many of the Kurtz citizens as possible making trip after trip and coming into Earth's ports loaded with hungry and terrified citizens. The heavy gravity of Earth was also extremely uncomfortable to our guests, but we had nowhere else to hold them. The housing on Alvin could be doubled within a month, but the biggest problem was with getting the billions of refugees from Toleda to there.

    Each fleet could carry 40 million Kurtz crammed into every nook and cranny. Each journey to Alvin took eight days round trip. With only five of our fleets participating, the numbers game was not looking good; it would take more than six months to fully evacuate their population. Our best estimates were that we only had three months before the remaining air on Toleda was too thin to breathe.

    I paced the upper deck of the bridge of the Atlanta as I waited for the first reports from our Driller sensor to arrive. I was stunned with what we learned when it did. The fluid anomaly that was first reported had been identified as a large black hole with a containment field keeping it in check. On one side of the gravity field was a massive vessel that was making use of gravitational lenses to focus the pull of the black hole into a beam.

    The beam was aimed in Toleda's direction and estimates were that it had taken nearly a month from the time it was activated before the full strength beam arrived. I ordered our science team and our Battle Planners to come up with a solution, a solution that would stop the nightmare of a weapon or at a minimum slow it down. We needed time to evacuate the planet.

    Our first attempt at stopping the gravity beam was to launch 1,000 Drillers into the beam with programming for them to exit the beam at the last minute and attack the lensing structure. The Drillers were soon launched and their 18 hour journey began. Again we waited patiently for the results to come in.

    When the lead Driller reached its target location it turned on its BHD and attempted to attack, but the pull of the gravity beam was too strong, keeping the Driller captive. The first Driller, followed soon after by the others, proceeded past the lensing structure and soon disappeared into the black hole beyond. The strategy had failed.

    The cruiser’s captain next ordered another 100 Drillers launched. The programming would command them to stop and exit the beam starting at two light years distance and then at every 10 billion kilometers after, each one was to return to the ship when it exited the beam. We watched patiently as each Driller popped out and turned back towards the cruiser.

    The experiment was repeated, drawing ever closer to its target. The last Driller exited the beam at 300 billion kilometers from the lensing structure before the next was pulled into oblivion. I turned to my planners and asked what they had to try next to which I received blank stares... they had nothing.

    I pounded my fist on the arm of my captain's chair repeatedly in frustration before looking up at the silent crew looking back at me. I then waved my hand and grunted in a gesture for them to get back to work. An alternative plan soon came in.

    The captain and crew of the destroyer Buffalo had volunteered to ride the beam to the 300 billion kilometer mark. They would then exit and repeatedly fire Protactinium pellets down the side of the beam towards the lensing structure. It would take the pellets another two hours to reach their target. The potential for a strike was low, but the order was given.

    Soon after, the Buffalo entered the beam and raced towards its firing point. At 300 billion kilometers it exited the beam and began launching one pellet after another. But the Frekkin were ready and a second lensing structure was brought online and aimed at the destroyer. The Buffalo put all available power into its BHD system, but could not break free. I watched in horror as another of my crew soon went silent, sucked into the black oblivion in the center of the alien containment structure.

    As a last hope we watched as the pellets screamed towards their destination only to be drawn into the beam by its residual gravity as they went. Another strategy had failed, only it had cost the valuable lives of a destroyer's crew.

    I again pounded my fist in rage and demanded that my Planners come up with something. I followed my rant with a statement so that they knew my anger was not directed at them. I then again pressed for a solution, attempting to convey a sense of urgency instead of anger.

    The next plan involved more personnel. I was hesitant until I learned that volunteers for the mission far outnumbered our needs. The mission called for a squad of BGS Marines and a transport.

    The transport would run down the beam and exit at the last possible moment. It would then ride a safe distance outward from the beam before turning back towards the structure. At that point the squad of BGS Marines would be dropped as drifters and the transport would move off in an attempt to be a decoy. If all worked as planned the Marines would drift towards the structure over a 36 hour period with their active skins on maximum.

    I gave the go-ahead and within half an hour the Marines were on their way. Soon after, they were adrift. The transport lowered its shields and repeatedly turned and broadcast every signal it could. I wondered if the aliens would see it as a blatant attempt at a decoy. I wondered if we would next see a sweeping gravity beam that would annihilate our BGS squad.

    As the hours passed the squad commander continued to broadcast his sensor data over his QE comm. We soon had a good optical image of the lensing structure as well as the containment structure for the black hole. Data revealed that the event horizon of the black hole itself was only meters in diameter, but the pull it exerted was immense.

    Soon after it went on its look-at-me rampage, the transport was snuffed from existence. I was troubled by the fact that the structure was able to focus two gravity wells. It would make it a difficult business to get any of our ships in close. We were heavily reliant on our BGS Marine strategy to bring the destruction of the gravity beam to an end.

    As the team drifted ever closer we began to get reports in, there were riots on Toleda. A low level politician had enlisted the help of his fellow citizens and quickly overpowered the crew of one of the destroyers that was loading the Kurtz aboard. The politician had been screaming for the Kurtz to take control as all of it was being brought down upon them for so easily abandoning the Frekkin Empire.

    It was the first time I had seen a Kurtz go outside of their normal hierarchical followings. I supposed that even with the thousands of years of rebellious activities having been suppressed, they were still somewhere inside every sentient being. I could see his argument carried weight with his people given the current circumstances and for whatever reason I felt empathy.

    After several hours of negotiations he was talked down and the transporting of refugees continued. On Earth as well as on Alvin animosity towards the Humans was growing as families, friends and neighbors were ripped from their homes and placed into an environment that did not appear to have the means to support their population. The whole operation was quickly turning into a struggle to maintain order.

    All eyes were soon turned back to the squad of BGS Marines as they drifted silently towards the alien structure. The hours seemed to pass slowly as the anticipation built. Twelve of the 13 squad members were aligned with the structure, but the thirteenth would have to fire their BHD glove at the last moment or risk drifting past the target.

    Marine Gunnery Sergeant Valerie Hiers held her position until the rest of her squad had drifted aboard. In an instant she powered up the glove and aimed towards the nearest structure wall. Seconds later she was converted to space dust with a sweep from the structure's local defenses.

    The remaining dozen Marines were aboard and were soon pairing off in an attempt to cover more ground. Each pair was given instruction to find and destroy anything that appeared to be a power or control system. I focused on the squad commander Captain Geofrey Rollins and his teammate Lance Corporal Tina Withers. I had met Geof at a military event a year earlier, so I took a personal interest in his team.

    Inside the structure were vast air corridors lined with platforms and elevators. I soon got my first live view of a Waffen as it soared from one platform across the corridor expanse to another. It was a beautiful being with brown and white fur covering most of its body. It made a graceful landing on its target platform and began work immediately on several electronic components that lined the platform's inner wall.

    I watched on the video feed from Captain Rollins' helmet as he settled on the platform behind it and blasted it with his gravity pulse gun. The Waffen slammed into the wall and slumped to the ground. I felt a sudden urge to want to join in and start blasting, but I was watching from 221 light years away.

    The Marine teams settled on different platforms throughout the air corridor and then quickly made their way to the inner hallways behind. Rollins and Withers were soon engaged in firefights. In my time fighting in a BGS I had elected to generally keep my shields at maximum allowing me to drift and fire, but the Marines preferred the old fashioned way of boots-on-the-ground.

    Several more Waffen met their end in succession as the Marines made their way down a hall. The Waffen soon emerged in numbers, flooding the hall with fire from their energy bolt weapons. Another Marine team then laid down suppressing fire giving Rollins and Withers time to duck into the nearest room. It was soon evident that they were pinned down at their current location. The active skins were enabled and they drifted through a wall to the next room as the Waffen defenders tossed several energy grenades into their prior location. As they popped back out of warped space, the grenades detonated, heavily denting the wall behind them.

    Rollins and Withers then moved quickly into the next hallway sending the unlucky Waffen therein flying in every direction as they fired pulse after pulse from their gravity guns. It was like watching a 3-D action movie on the holo-screen with the added component of fear, fear of knowing that the characters involved in the action were real and their lives could be brought to an immediate end.

    The team was soon joined by the remainder of the squad as they drifted and deployed from hallway to hallway looking for the power and control assets of the massive weapon. The battle raged for an hour before we had our first breakthrough. Rollins entered a room with two Waffen at control panels. They were immediately dispatched. After a brief inspection it was determined that the room housed the monitoring gear for one of the beam steering plates. Seconds later the room was filling with smoke from the smashed equipment.

    The result of damaging the control room shifted the gravity beam ever so slightly as it was one of over 100,000 such steering plates. The ripple would be enough to pull the beam off of Toleda, but that part of the beam would not arrive for another month. Cheers went up at command anyway, but they soon came to a halt when Waffen technicians elsewhere in the structure tuned the remaining plates to compensate. The beams position was once again directed at Toleda.

    One of the Marine teams then took a Waffen technician captive and attempted to interrogate him. They were soon told it was of no use as Waffen did not speak Kurtz and Kurtz did not speak Waffen. The only communication allowed between the two species was done with Frekkin reading and writing, and only a very few were taught that skill. It was one more way the Frekkin had of keeping tight control over the outer worlds. Any violations were again met with a swift death for those involved and heavy punishment for everyone else around them, making for an effective deterrent.

    The Marine teams continued to move and destroy control rooms as they went, but with little affect. The Waffen compensated as quickly as control was lost. We needed to look for another method of shutting the weapon down. Orders were quickly given to abandon the control room destruction and to instead keep on the move as quickly as possible in search of the structures source of power.

    We soon discovered two rooms that contained power junctions that energized five steering plates at a time. With the two rooms quickly destroyed we again moved on looking for a new tactic. Power had been instantly re-routed from elsewhere. In an effort to try something new, two of the Marines drifted through the inner wall to a position just behind the steering plates.

    It was thought that if the structures holding the plates could be destroyed entire rows of plates could be taken offline at once. The tactic proved a colossal failure as the two Marines were soon caught in the gravity pull and sucked out and into the beam heading into the black hole. I let out a sigh of defeat and let my forehead drop into the palm of my open hand. Two more brave lives were lost to our enemy.

    The ten remaining squad members continued their assault, drifting from hallway to hallway and floor to floor, always blasting Waffen workers and guards when encountered. But progress was inching along slowly and it soon became apparent that it would take months for the teams to make their way through the massive structure, months that we did not have.

    I pressed my Battle Planners for a solution, but none was forthcoming. The ten Marines continued their search and destroy while we twiddled our thumbs. A senior planner soon popped up on my holo-screen. He asked permission to send a nuke down the gravity beam with a detonator set to go off precisely when it entered the lensing structure. It was a long-shot, but he thought it might just have enough oomph to do damage.

    There was one big problem with the plan. We had ten Marines on-board the structure. Detonating a nuclear device might be the end for them. I got Rollins on the comm and asked his opinion directly. He said send it in. If there was anything we could do to turn the monstrosity off he was all for it. It was in the line of duty and if he and his team had to be sacrificed to shut it down then so be it. It was the same response I would have given had I been there myself.

    The nuclear Driller was prepared, programmed and then launched into the gravity beam with the instruction to attempt to get as close to the edge of the beam as possible before detonation. With no attempt to mask its approach the Driller was able to use its BHD on full. Travel time in the beam was less than two hours.

    As a precaution I ordered the Marine squad to move to the most distant location within the structure, and to hang tight. They enabled their suits and used the BHD gloves to propel themselves towards the outer edge. Just before reaching it they fired a micro-burst leaving them in a room with a window out into space. They were soon greeted by a Waffen officer who was just getting up from his rest period, they were in his quarters.

    The unlucky officer soon found himself slammed against a side wall by a gravity pulse, he slumped over dead. With nothing to do but wait for their fate the ten Marines took the time to look around the officer's quarters. From the size of the room and the looks of its furnishings they guessed he was of a high rank.

    The furniture was much like the old chrome and glass furnishings that would go in and out of style on Earth about every 30 years or so. The walls were adorned with planet-side scenes from Eldred. One was of an extremely high cliff with what looked like an elevator going to the top. Rollins guessed since they were gliders it might be something similar to a halo jump for them. Another image had a series of loops with what looked like a Waffen gliding through them. His speculations as to what was happening were interesting.

    As the counter ticked down to zero, the Marines braced for an explosion that did not come. The gravitational pull of the black hole was too strong and the fission reaction was sucked in before it could do any damage. Again I let out another sigh of defeat.

    I next took command of the operation back into my own hands. I ordered the fleet to once again go to light speed, to travel in a large semi-circle around Eldred and to then attack the planet from the other side. If we could not disable the weapon we could at least make the Waffen pay for their support of it.

    I reasoned that if we approached from the opposite side of their world the gravity beam would not be of use to them as a defense. If we could overpower whatever fleet they had perhaps we could talk them into submission and get them to shut the weapon down.

    The flight would take 12 hours. I ordered Rollins and his Marines to once again go on a rampage and to just kill or destroy anyone and anything they could. There was still a chance that we might get lucky and find a critical weakness. Rollins shook his head in agreement and quickly ordered his men to their feet for a weapons and systems check. Seconds later they were in the nearest corridor blasting away with their weapons.

    When the fleet re-emerged on the far side of Eldred a Waffen fleet was indeed waiting for them. But the Waffen technologies were far inferior to our own and the battle was quick and painless for our fleet. Within hours the Waffen High Council offered their surrender and their request to join the HE.

    I told their council that their surrender would not be accepted until the gravity weapon was shut down. They responded that the weapon was not theirs. They believed it belonged to the Frekkin and the Waffen on-board had been pressed into service. They had no control over the weapon nor did they know how to shut it down.

    Reports soon came in that the second gravity lens on the giant machine was on the move; it was spinning around towards the Waffen home world. I ordered the battleship Moscow to use everything it had in its power to attack the weapon from planet side. Within seconds it had come to a position between Eldred and the great machine and was using its gravity beam in an attempt to stop the second lens from aiming at its target.

    We didn't know if it was the machine's shielding or the immense gravitational field surrounding it, but the Moscow's beam had little to no affect. She then launched all mini-fighters, all Drillers and fired all Protactinium guns at once. It was an impressive display of armaments, but the great machine was again unaffected.

    I ordered the Moscow to again take cover behind the planet before the second beam came fully online. The captain complied and the fleet was soon in a safe position. I cursed the Frekkin and their ways. How easily they seemed to end the existence of a planet rather than to come out and fight for it. We watched helplessly as the Waffen High Council pleaded for our assistance... we had nothing to offer.
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    The giant gravity lens powered up and began its destruction. The area of impact was a circle ten kilometers wide. Five minutes after the terror had begun the great beam shut down. A message was then delivered to the Waffen High Council. Surrender to the Frekkin and attack the intruders or watch while their world was destroyed.

    It was a no win situation for them. They could lose their entire fleet or lose their entire world. The choice was obvious. In an attempt to show mercy I ordered our fleet to disengage and to move to a distance approximately a light year away, but still on the opposite side of Eldred from the giant gravity weapon.

    We needed time to assess the situation so that a strategy could be devised that would allow us at least a modest chance of putting a stop to the Frekkin technology. Arguments ensued and tempers flared as the planners threw out every idea possible, looking for that elusive solution. I sat in my chair listening as each idea was put forth and then subsequently shot down.

    After 12 hours of non-stop debate the Marine battalion commander, Colonel Tom Fletcher, had his turn at it. Colonel Fletcher proposed that his entire battalion be committed to battle. The Moscow would head again towards Eldred and at 1/100 light year distance it would launch the full Marine battalion in their BGS suits.

    They would drift for a day and then slingshot silently around Eldred and into the giant machine. With 150,000 boots on the ground it would only take days to overpower the target. The one thing that was needed was a distraction of the second gravity lens. We would have to sacrifice a destroyer in an attempt to lure the second lens away from pointing at Eldred. If it was to be turned on while they were drifting they would be sucked into the gravity beam with little defense.

    I ordered the plan put in motion and within 20 minutes the destroyer Athens was being evacuated and set up for remote piloting. The empty destroyer soon departed on its mission. It would start at the somewhat safe three light year distance and then move towards the weapon while changing direction every few seconds. The intent was that with a little luck, we could keep the second lens busy for a while as it chased the destroyer, trying to end its existence.

    Before the next hour began the BGS Marines were launched towards Eldred at an angle slightly off center. The drift would take two days. They would round the southern pole and then slingshot into our nemesis, hopefully unnoticed.

    Just before the Marines achieved what would be line-of-sight, the destroyer began its maneuvers. I watched nervously as the needed two hour window of opportunity opened. We would soon find out if the enemy took the bait. The giant gravity lens mechanism again spun off towards the destroyer that was taunting it. The beam fired up and began to chase the bogey around in an attempt to annihilate it.

    Another destroyer was readied and sent out in case the first one was taken out. Several empty destroyers would be a small sacrifice if our Marines were able to board the structure. Our attentions were again glued to the countdown timer as the Marines drifted closer. The vast distances of space war seemed to turn every maneuver into a waiting game.

    Just before the first of the Marines arrived the beam caught up with the destroyer, sucking it in and ending its use. It would ride the beam until such time as it reached the event horizon of the black hole that powered it. The second destroyer was immediately brought online.

    As the Marines drifted into the great structure they had to immediately active their glove BHDs in order to bring their forward motion to a stop. After the first handful of BHDs activated the Waffen aboard the structure locked onto them and began firing. The Marines were dropping into a hot zone.

    The second destroyer soon met its fate and the second lens was spun around to once again engage Eldred. The beam began to dig a trench in the planet that was ten kilometers wide and half a kilometer deep. Massive amounts of debris from the ground at the planet's equator, as well as its atmosphere, were being sucked away while its innocent people attempted to flee.

    As a secondary result of the beam weapon turning back towards the planet, the final 14,000 Marines, still in route, were swept into its pull. In a single battle we had sustained the largest number of casualties since I had taken command. It was a feeling that would haunt me for the remainder of my days.

    The rest of the battalion was aboard the alien structure and soon had the upper hand. But not before another 8,000 brave human warriors gave up their lives. An hour after the assault began the beam steerage was once again altered enough that it was pulled away from Toleda's direction. An hour after that the second lens went silent.

    When complete defeat was imminent the Waffen aboard the structure gave up their weapons and their posts. The beam would continue to rip into Toleda for another month, but from that moment on the planet would be in recovery. The Waffen of Eldred quickly capitulated and again petitioned to join the HE, their request was accepted.

    When the gravity lenses finally went silent a cheer rose up from every command center of every craft under the command of the HE. Word was immediately forwarded to the Kurtz, but their celebration was short lived when they learned that the beam would continue its devastation for another month. There was nothing further that could be done.

    Plans were immediately put in place to manufacture autonomous terraforming robots that would construct massive structures for the conversion of resources into atmosphere. The oxygen and sulfur in the air needed to be raised back to their prior levels and the dusts circling their globe needed to be filtered out. Estimates were from nine months to two years before the re-population of Toleda could begin.

    With the hostilities over the second fleet pulled up to the massive structure and began to ferry the Waffen prisoners back down to their planet's surface. Many had been born into captivity on the structure and would have a first taste of what life on their planet... amongst their own people... was like.

    I had Rial Boota assemble a science team to be sent to the structure for its study. It was still intact and capable of destruction. Our scientists and engineers would have the added responsibility of figuring out how to make use of the immense Frekkin technology.

    Their main goal would be to find a way to stop another one from being used against us from another distant location. In the back of my mind I had a nervous hope that the Frekkin did not know of the location of Earth and that our world was safe from the destruction that had befallen Toleda.

    With the current hostilities over the Council of Governance was called into action to plan Eldred's conversion from a Frekkin world to the HE. They would find the Human Empire a much more accommodating host to its member planets. As plans commenced I leaned back in my chair with a satisfied look on my face. A third world was joining the HE and we had again overcome the obstacles of war that had been placed in our path.

    As Boota's science team decelerated through light speed I soon found my high level of satisfaction to be short lived. The Frekkin had triggered an auto-destruct mechanism for the massive black hole structure. Reports came in of alarms sounding for only seconds before the containment field that held the black hole in check was switched off. The effects were immediate.

    The structure collapsed and the full pull of the black hole was unleashed. The second fleet had no time to power up and flee and was caught in the tremendous pull. All ships went to full throttle, but there was no escape. I watched a live video feed in horror as the captain of the Moscow barked orders and fought for the life of his ship and its crew.

    The destroyers were the first to be overwhelmed and in less than a minute they disappeared into the event horizon. Next the cruisers were lost in a hard fought attempt to escape. They were holding their own until the tremendous pull began to strip away the atmosphere of Eldred. The new mass entering the black hole only worked to increase its powerful pull.

    The Waffen all perished in less than a minute as a storm like no other swept across their planet's surface, vacuuming up everything that was not physically bound to the planet's mantle. My ship’s bridge was silent as my crew watched on with mouths open and heads turned down... stunned.

    The Moscow’s commanders pushed hard, shutting down all systems including their shields in an attempt to divert all power to the BHDs. As they began to make forward progress the Mantle of Eldred began to show cracks. I stood and yelled over our comm links for them to get out of there, but my terrified pleas were of no help.

    The more matter the unconstrained black hole consumed the more powerful it became. With much of the crust gone the hard rocky mantle soon split open. The orange molten core streamed out as if being poured from a jug in slow motion.

    As the stream of molten core disappeared into the void the pull of the black hole became too much for the battleship's drive. I shuddered with a chill as I watched the video feeds from Boota's ship as the three battleships carrying nearly half a million humans perished in an instant. It took every ounce of my determination to not break down and sob. I could not afford to lose it, not in front of my crew and any others who were watching my reactions.

    In less than three minutes the remainder of the planet was gone, devoured, pulled into the void of nothingness. Next were the two Transit Pulls that aligned with Toleda and the next planet in the Frekkin Empire. Minutes later, with no new matter to consume, the black hole began to collapse in on itself.

    When the collapse finished there was a tremendous out-gassing of all that the black hole had consumed. A stream shot upwards and another stream downwards for hours as the matter within escaped. When the out-gassing stopped our science vessel reported that there was nothing left but empty space. The black hole had not survived long enough to pull in the other planets in the Eldred system... or its sun.

    The twin streams of ejected matter would continue outward on a journey to oblivion. They would eventually speed into the voids of space between galaxies... likely to never again be a part of anything collected.

    Four billion Waffen citizens had perished in seconds along with our second fleet. Nearly 508,000 fellow humans, 450,000 of them BGS Marines, were lost along with 36 valuable ships. The power contained in a black hole only a meter across was astonishing. If it was any indicator of the technology the Frekkin possessed we would certainly be in for a hard fought if not impossible war.

    There were three Sodium hauler ships in transit to Waffen when the Transit Pulls were destroyed. They were each given orders to turn back as the Sodium would be needed to power the rebuilding of Toleda, as well any new worlds that were to be colonized.

    With the Waffen gone there was no other record of who the next people in the Frekkin Empire were or exactly where their home-world was located. We had a rough estimate that had been calculated by using the positioning of the Transit Pulls before Eldred had perished. But the results were not precise and we were soon given six possibilities to explore.

    A destroyer was immediately dispatched to the nearest target which was 374 light years distance from Toleda. With our drive system the journey would take over a month. Time was something that we had and something that we needed more of. Things were not going well with the Kurtz refugees.

    The Kurtz population on Alvin had rioted several times due to the overcrowded conditions. Riots were soon quelled by their politicians when the alternatives were brought to their attention. They could cope with what they had and be patient or they could die as there was nowhere else to go.

    On Earth things were not much better. Our atmosphere was unpleasant for the Kurtz with its lack of sulfur. That coupled with a near 20% increase in gravity and the four billion Kurtz being housed in makeshift quarters were suffering. Our foods also lacked some of the nutrients the Kurtz were accustomed to and the taking of supplements was highly frowned upon in their culture.

    Tensions only heightened when the exploratory vessel returned information on the first suspected location of the next Frekkin world. We had one strike against us. The star in question had two gas giants in close orbit and no other planets to speak of. The team soon departed for the second star on the list... another 6 days and 80 light years distance.

    The second star was also a bust with the third being 32 light years beyond. Three days later the team reported that we had found the next system. The star was 411 light years distance from Toleda and had three habitable worlds circling it. Each world with the same orbit, but spaced equidistant from one another around their sun.

    Our destroyer parked at one quarter light year distance and began to observe. The three worlds in question were 60%, 70% and 90% in size as related to Earth. Initial long wave sensor reports showed many ships traveling between the three worlds. The system was heavily populated.

    Back on Toleda the gravity beam's devastation had ended and with it our teams of terraformers had begun the task of cleaning up the Kurtz planet. Ship after ship of robot terraformers were unloaded on its surface, massive filtering ships began to fill its skies and two months into the process we got the bad news.

    Numerous earthquakes had been reported by the teams on the ground of Toleda. After an extensive investigation the science teams came back with a heart-wrenching conclusion. Due to the effects of the gravity beam, Toleda's core had become unstable. The planet was uninhabitable.

    News soon leaked of the discovery causing massive Kurtz riots on both Alvin and Earth. We had a population of nearly 8.5 billion citizens who had no planet to return home to. I had to order in troops for a lockdown. The infant HE was in chaos and struggling to survive.

    The Council of Governance voted to speed the terraforming of the two planets orbiting Adebaran. After conferring with the Kurtz High Council the first of the worlds to be terraformed would be named Toledus and the second Mabia. But initial colonists would not be heading there for another year. I ordered a propaganda machine to be setup to feed the Kurtz people with continuous progress reports in an attempt to quell the uneasiness.

    Mappings of the planets were given to the Kurtz leaders along with the authority to assign property rights to individuals. It was thought that if the Kurtz people had a sense of what was coming to them they might instead turn their thoughts towards how to make use of that property instead of stewing about their current situation. When reports came in of the first terraformers from Toleda landing on Toledus the riots subsided.

    My attentions were soon turned back towards our next potential threat. We had a new language to learn. Our teams of cryptologists were working non-stop to get a full understanding of the language of the new Frekkin worlds. Audio and video communications were monitored and soon decoded, giving us a first look at who we would be dealing with. Their species was not tall and thin like the Kurtz, but instead were short at only a meter tall... and very rotund.

    Their bulbous heads went straight down into their bodies and the bluish tint to their skin made them look like giant blueberries. But their teeth appeared razor sharp giving them a nasty looking grin. They had deep-set dark eyes and long white hair. My first thoughts were of blueberry trolls.

    From the variety of shows being broadcast over video it was soon determined that they were a gluttonous bunch that was consumed with eating. That was at least our first impression.

    Within a month our teams had deciphered several names. During a briefing I was told that the people were the Borten and the worlds were Trephin, Login and Pelvic. I laughed out loud when I heard the names, but I soon checked my outburst when I noticed a concerned look coming from my staff. The information we had gathered concerning our enemy was anything but funny. The briefing continued without my interruption.

    The Borten were builders with nearly every square inch of each planet covered with buildings. Each world had the look of a Manhattan being spread across its globe. On Trephin the buildings were largely white while on Pelvic they were blue, Login was a mixture of many colors.

    There were also numerous massive floating platforms orbiting each planet with ships large and small traveling between. The one thing that I took note of was the lack of any oceans. Our scientists guessed that they must either have massive underground reserves or a spectacular recycling system. We were sure that life would not exist without the precious resource we called water.

    I thought about how dreadful an existence living there would be for me. I was a farm girl and these planets were nothing but massive cities. It had been many years since I had been a farmer, but deep down it was who I was. If things got tough or too confusing I would find my thoughts back in East Alabama, harvesting corn or feeding livestock. It was a simple life that I could only dream of once again living.

    Two months into our observations an aid approached with an idea. The commander of the fourth fleet, Admiral Beth Collins, wanted to know why we were not sending another scout ship further on. We had a physical location of where the next Transit Pull in the Borten system was aiming and she reasoned that we should explore further. The order was soon given and a destroyer dispatched.

    The data showed the next system to be another 170 light years distance. The destroyer Chennai was sent with orders to stop at three light years distance and observe silently until further notice. Soon after, I ordered a second ship to follow with the task of determining the next system again, followed by it moving on to observe.

    With recon missions in full swing my attentions were once again turned back towards the Kurtz refugees and what we could do to speed up any terraforming efforts. Those with manufacturing know-how were given jobs at the factories on Earth, but their hours of work had to be shortened due to gravitational fatigue. They were grateful to contribute where they could.

    The terraforming of Toledus and Mabia moved along quickly and estimates for the first colonists to be sent there had been updated from nine months to seven. Great buildings were being constructed that would initially house the Kurtz refugees before being dismantled and reused in the construction of their own cities. I marveled at the work a few hundred million utility robots could perform when running at a non-stop pace.

    Earth itself had made great use of the robots automating food and construction needs as well as terraforming vast lands that had before been largely ignored. Every citizen was well fed, clothed, housed and educated. It was amazing that those who had been so dissimilar in the past were somehow living side by side in harmony. There were no longer any have-nots to be coaxed into war over what someone else had... Earth was a peaceful place.

    Data was soon streaming in on the second and third systems that were under observation. The second system was a small red planet with a number of spaceports dotting its surface. Our analyst’s best guess was that whatever inhabitants there were must be subterranean. The sun in the system was particularly bright and the atmosphere of the planet was thin.

    The third system had two worlds in synchronous orbit around its smaller blue sun. Midway between the worlds there were two massive ships or stations under construction. From the framing that had been laid our engineers guessed that they would be about 800 kilometers in diameter when complete. Construction appeared to be progressing at a rapid pace.

    With our progress seemingly on track I took several days leave to visit the farm. When I arrived it was unrecognizable. The gentle rolling hills of the western acres were flat and the corn planted there grew taller than I could remember ever having seen. I was a little disheartened that the house and the barn had been replaced by modern pod-like structures. To me it took on a cold and utilitarian appearance.

    I spent the days with my parents and Zack's father. The memories of Zack and all that had transpired came flooding back as the visit progressed. There were so many things that I had not had time to think about since my return. Was I happy? I didn't know as the thought of being happy somehow seemed no longer important.

    I wondered if I had lost a large part of my humanity. The endless hours I had worked and the complex issues I had faced had kept my mind well occupied since my return from captivity. When I left the farm, heading back to my command ship, I had the feeling that a part of me had died. I wished that I had not gone.

    My parents were in good health, but the farm was no longer the sanctuary that I had kept in the back of my mind. The ordinary dull quarters on-board my ship and the high-back leather captain's chair were my new home. Their familiarity and their comfort was all I had to cling to... all that kept me sane.

    When I arrived back on the ship and took my place in the chair I immediately got to work on the day's problems. Plans had to be approved, orders given and disputes settled. I had an empire to run.

  


  
    Chapter 8

    


    

    


    

    After nine long months of preparations the first groups of Kurtz colonists were being transported to Toledus. It had been decided that those who had endured the hardship of heavy gravity would have the first crack at the land disbursements that were to follow. Those on Alvin would be heading to Mabia. The land was plentiful so disputes were few and far between.

    The cities that were under construction had the advantage of everything being new, new designs where layouts were geared towards a more efficient life. Transportation was top-notch, manufacturing and farming were mostly automated. The Kurtz were on a three year plan to make the best use of the resources they had been given. They were an industrious people and I had no doubt their worlds would be the envy of many on Earth when construction was complete.

    With the Kurtz issue subsiding, our own factory efforts were soon changed back to the business of war. The Borten had a massive fleet and we could only speculate that they had technologies that were superior to the Waffen and the Kurtz. We needed a build-up of our fleets if we were going to eventually take them on.

    Everything had changed so dramatically for so many on Earth that we were starting to hear rumblings from those who thought we should stop the expansion. They reasoned that since the Frekkin had not responded to our last assault that they had decided to leave us alone. I knew better.

    From what little evidence we had of the Frekkin, I was sure they were planning a massive strike. I often wondered what the two globe-like structures they were building were. Weapons? Attack ships? Colonization ships? Or, perhaps the doubters were right, and they had nothing to do with the HE.

    I also wondered if the Frekkin were aware of Earth's existence. We had no way of knowing what information had been sent forward by the Kurtz that had then been sent forward again by the Waffen. Many of the records were destroyed when the gravity bubble made its way through Gurthead on the Kurtz home-world. Many of the record keepers had perished as well.

    I often paced the area surrounding my command chair while deep in thought about what may lie ahead. I knew the best we could do was to plan and to build defenses that would best cover whatever war scenarios we could dream of. We were pushing our technologies hard for any advantage we could gain.

    Our science and engineering endeavors had been advancing with our newest drive systems capable of 8,400 SOL. The speed of light was a mere ten seconds away from a standstill. Along with the drives the shielding available to our BGS suits had essentially doubled and our pulsed gravity handguns had variable levels. The levels allowed minimal settings that would only knock a person down, up to the maximum setting that would stop a large vehicle.

    With the Kurtz moved off Alvin, our robotic terraformers were hard at work preparing it for eventual Human habitation. Our population continued to grow. The Earth itself was a more spacious place with the terraforming being done at home. Our three and a half billion citizens had room to expand.

    Every citizen had land rights that could be passed down to their children. With the promise of a new world opening up, those who were more adventurous had lined up for a lottery where they could trade all or part of their land on Earth for property on Alvin.

    As the situation stabilized at home the reports began to trickle in from the Borten system. We had a mini-fighter in orbit around Trephin relaying high definition data back to our command centers. It seemed the Borten were undergoing a massive shipbuilding exercise of their own. I had a nervous feeling that those ships were meant for us.

    After a year of spying on the Borten we had a good understanding of their language, our monitoring of their audio and video broadcasts was paying a dividend. I assembled a team to investigate what it would take to make the Earth silent from the same type of reconnaissance. I wanted to know if we could go dark.

    In addition, ideas were thrown around about how to disguise the Earth so that it did not look habitable. One of the proposals was to build a gigantic Sodium skin that surrounded the planet. In the case of an imminent attack we could activate the skin and poof... Earth would disappear.

    It was an ingenious idea, but the resources needed for such an undertaking were staggering in scale. If it was at all possible, as our engineers suggested, it would take 15 years to construct and the power needed to activate it would be five times that which we currently had powering the entire planet. I ordered more studies to be done with a focus on lowering those requirements.

    On the offensive front I had teams working on ship designs. If there were other black hole lensing structures out there we needed a way to attack them without them destroying everything in their vicinity. Smaller, heavily shielded assault vessels for our BGS Marines were a high priority.

    With so much of our daily lives taken care of with automation, we were beginning to have trouble keeping our citizens focused on the all important tasks at hand. Our historians reasoned that it was the same syndrome that had befallen almost every empire in our history.

    Empires were built and great works accomplished only to have the citizens slowly grow fat and lazy. A culture of entitlement was fast brewing on Earth and it was endangering the goals we had set forth for our defense. The media had begun to turn from promoting the HE and our expansion to what was immediately best for each individual.

    It was the same scenario that had plagued each great spurt of growth by the Human population. My planners began to suggest an agency be formed to start putting out propaganda pieces that would tilt the media skew back towards the goals we had planned. I was troubled by the suggestion as I had always detested falsehood. But falsehoods had won me my freedom from the Kurtz so many years before when I had been held captive. Those same falsehoods had turned around Earth's entire existence.

    The Agency of Change (AoC) was given a large budget and a secret mission. Those who we knew to be loyal to the cause would be trained on how to recruit loyalist followers and to disseminate the stories to the media that we thought might change the direction of the growing discord.

    The operation was kept tight and quiet until such time as a solid foundation was in place. Then the stories began to trickle out. The first among them were stories about some of the broadcasters and their private habits. There was nothing to turn an audience like a little dirty gossip.

    In the first year of the AoC existence, four of the 26 broadcasters identified as being the most detrimental to the cause, were shamed into resigning their lofty positions. Five more were soon on the ropes, teetering on the edge of oblivion for their careers. I found the whole operation distasteful, but necessary. We were in need of everyone's support and cooperation, the stakes were too high.

    Our shipbuilding capacity had been increased five-fold with new capacity coming online daily. The autonomous robots of the Kurtz numbered more than the Human populous. Their work was rapid and precise. A new battleship could be framed, built-out and launched in less than two months, and we had three bays doing such that ran around the clock.

    We had begun to run short of the necessary resources for ship construction until mining discoveries on Mars filled in the gaps. Within a year the Martian surface had been dotted with buildings and spaceports that were crowded with ore haulers. Whole regions of the planet were dedicated to processing the ore before finished product transports began their trips back to Earth.

    Plans had been put in place for the future to push Mars into a synchronous orbit with Earth, only on the opposite side of the Sun. From there, terraforming could be done to add another habitable planet to the HE base. I was at times in awe thinking about our ability to move whole worlds. That awe would soon turn to angst as I would inevitably think about Eldred and the destructive power living beings also had at their disposal. The new age of Man was wondrous and yet horrifying at the same time.

    The pace of construction of anything we wanted to build was largely only limited by the number of automated robots we could produce. But other issues began to arise. The great stockpiles of Sodium on Earth were beginning to show their depletion. It was one more resource we would have to monitor and search for elsewhere.

    Word soon came in that the first of the 800 kilometer behemoths being built by the farther Frekkin worlds appeared to be nearing completion. Other than their size we had no clue as to what they contained or what they were capable of as they had been constructed from the outside in.

    Once the initial framework was complete, massive sections making up an outer skin were then put in place. From that point on we had no way of knowing what their large hauler ships were transporting to it. One of my senior planners remarked that as far as we knew they could just be filled with bananas. The attempt at humor did not draw a laugh.

    As I paced on the bridge one day, I was handed a report of our fleet status. We had 16 fleets in some form of operation with 14 of them fully manned. With the ease of pace of life on Earth the populous was no longer motivated to join the military. Our propaganda machines were pushing their limits, but our recruiting goals were not being met. My staff contemplated creating a false alert in an attempt to whip the masses into a patriotic frenzy.

    It was soon apparent that we would not need one. The Borten fleet was assembling and their numbers were staggering, 5,000 battleship class ships to our 48, 7,000 cruisers to our measly 386 and more than 30,000 destroyers to our 1,100. But the biggest threat was the unknown. What weapons did they possess, how well could they maneuver and what could their shields withstand?

    Within a week of the report we got another urgent message from our destroyer at the far Frekkin world. The giant globe-like structures were on the move... and they were moving towards the Borten system. I gave the order for our destroyer to tail them from a secure distance. Word soon came back that they had accelerated through light speed.

    I gave the order for our ship to run at full speed for half the distance to the Borten worlds and then to stop and watch for the passing ships. I hoped to learn at what speed they were able to travel as it would give us an idea of when they could be expected to arrive at Toleda. We reasoned Toleda would be their first target as that was the last known world to them.

    Our analysts soon hatched a plan to try to use Toleda as a decoy planet. If we had the time a terraformer and construction fleet would be sent with orders to clean the place up... to make it look inhabited. They would work non-stop constructing false buildings, transportation and farming. The goal would be to turn the ruined planet into a giant movie set where a war could be waged without endangering our own world.

    The destroyer on recon soon found its position and waited patiently while using its long wave sensors to catch the passing globe ships. After a three week stay the globes moved past on their way to the Borten worlds. They were traveling at more than 2,000 SOL. Our ships were faster, but we had no way of knowing whether or not the globes were moving at full speed.

    At the current rate we had as little as six months to prepare. Our ship building was at its peak, but during that time we would only be able to add three new manned and qualified fleets. We were vastly outnumbered and I found myself loathing the thought of once again having to go into battle.

    I ordered martial law on Earth and began to put a system in place for conscription in case our recruiting goals were not met. It was once again a battle for all of Earth and every man, woman and child had a stake in its outcome. The 15th and 16th fleets were soon fully manned and running constant war simulations with the other fleets.

    I also ordered the engineers who had come up with the plan to build an active Sodium skin surrounding Earth, to meet me on the bridge of my command ship. I wanted them to build a shield, a shield for all Man, even if it cost us every last ounce of Sodium. The small team departed in a hurry with the signed orders to acquire whatever they needed, excluding the resources in use for building our ships.

    Two weeks passed before the two globes dropped out of light speed on their approach to the Borten system. As our recon destroyers watched on, the mass of ships sat idle. Another two weeks of idleness passed as we wondered why they waited. We soon got the answer when another eight globe ships dropped out of light speed and took up position with the other two. The odds against an HE victory were growing.

    I decided to crank up our propaganda machine beginning with a speech about some of the worst case war simulation estimates. The public needed to know the seriousness of what we were facing. When the speech was complete I had all forms of broadcasting turn their control over to the agents of the AoC. New commercials went on the air extolling the virtues of being a BGS Marine or a Machinist's Tech or a maintenance worker.

    I also called on our Kurtz partners to provide extra manpower for the new fleets that would be coming online. They were a proud people and the volunteers to be BGS Marines numbered in the millions. We soon had ships and trainers at their disposal. They would be manning two fleets of 250,000 Marines each and the remaining Earth fleets would get additional Kurtz Marines to the tune of 100,000 per fleet.

    It was a Wednesday when the Borten Mass Fleet departed from their home-world. We used the same tracking technique that we had used on the globe ships to get an estimated arrival date. The Borten ships were slower and the mass fleet was given a date of October 14th for arrival at Toleda. Eleven months to the day from when they departed.

    I was soon giving another speech to all the citizens of the HE. It was about how it was our ultimate challenge. The sheer number of ships we would be facing made for a near impossible task. We needed to dig deep... deeper than all of our past wars... deeper than when the full Kurtz mining fleet had first arrived, deeper than the self-defeating food wars that had ravaged our population.

    It was to be a battle for the existence of freedom... the existence of Man. If we dug down deep, and if we gave it everything we had, every ounce of courage, every ounce of determination, if we absorbed and suppressed every ounce of pain... we had a chance.

    I then spoke of what might come with a victory. If we were to prevail, the Human race would be the most feared, the most respected and the freest thinking beings that the galaxy had ever known.

    Our ways would dominate. Our culture would be revered as the highest of cultures. Our descendants would rule the stars for millennia to come. We would be the generation that saved the Earth and brought the HE to the waiting masses of alien beings living as slaves on distant worlds. It would not be the war to end all wars, but it was a war that we had to win. As I closed my speech I raised my arm and pointed out into space. I concluded with the following "Out there... is where our destiny lies".
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    Just after the Borten fleet left their system, heading towards Toleda, four more of the massive globe ships had joined their ranks. They had decelerated through light speed from a different direction than the first ships. Calculations soon placed their departure point at 186 light years away. The new globe ships soon departed the Borten system and would no doubt catch up to the Borten fleet before its arrival at Toleda.

    I ordered a recon destroyer immediately towards the new suspect direction in an effort to gain further intelligence on what planet or planets were producing so many mammoth ships, it departed within half an hour. I paced the bridge constantly asking my planners for new ideas; we needed an edge if we were to take on such massive numbers.

    I was given a briefing of a new prototype weapon that was yet to be tested. It was called the Starburst. It would be launched in a container the size of our early Defenders. When it reached 100,000 kilometers distance it would MIRV into hundreds of overcompensated BHDs. The BHDs would spread out slowly in a starburst pattern while steering towards a designated target.

    They would form a cone shaped virtual shield of black holes that we hoped to be able to exploit by flying ships in immediately behind. If it worked, it was speculated that we could get up to 100 mini-fighters or five BGS Marine transports into whatever the target vessel was. The massive gravity weapons that had been used to defeat our drillers and our shields... could possibly be overcome.

    I gave the order for a dozen prototypes to be tested, but there was a problem. They required Lawrencium. Lawrencium was a synthetic transuranium derivative that was difficult to produce. It had a half-life of about 4.2 seconds. The process started with Plutonium which yielded Curium, which when further processed yielded Californium and then finally Lawrencium.

    The Lawrencium was consumed in the powering of the overcompensated BHDs. From starburst we would have 4.2 seconds to reach a target. The 12 Starburst prototypes would take two months to construct.

    After the briefing I checked in on the status of our Toleda masquerade and was told things were progressing well. The capital city of Gurthead was a shining facade of a major planet's capital. Empty transports were whizzing back and forth on maglev rails and automated air taxis dotted the skies. The biggest difficulties were attempts at reconstructing the massive farmlands that surrounded the cities.

    The topsoil in vast areas had been vacuumed away by the gravity lens leaving massive areas of nothing but rocky terrain. It was soon decided that green paint was the best solution for our short time-frame. The planners had gone as far as matching the colors to those that would be expected to be seen on an October Toleda. The concept of October had no meaning on Toleda, but the time was relative to their summer growing season.

    With strategic plans in place and moving towards completion I decided on another visit home to the farm. I knew it would not be the same, but I wanted to see my parents before the hostilities once again began. I arrived unannounced and took note of the strange man sitting on what would possibly be called the front porch of the new pod style farmhouse.

    He was an older gentleman and had a young girl, possibly eight years of age, sitting on his lap. I raised my hand and smiled as I approached before greeting him. When I stepped up onto the porch and looked him in the eye I was in for a heart-stopping shock. It was Zack...

    My knees nearly buckled as my mind raced from thoughts of joy to anger and then back to joy. I stood for several seconds with my mouth open, unable to speak. Then Zack said hello.

    After he sent his daughter inside we talked for hours about the circumstances surrounding our lives. He had not been in Dallas when the Chinese nukes went off. He was on a recon mission behind their borders and was captured just before Dallas was destroyed. His base, all of his battalion, his commanders and all records of the mission had been destroyed.

    The Chinese had at first been ruthless captors who used unscrupulous methods in their interrogations. Zack was one of the few who did not break and his captors had hated him for it, and yet they had great respect for him at the same time. When I returned and the food wars ended his captors had not been forthcoming about his detention. They had received no requests for his release and with an initial air of mistrust over my command he had been held well beyond any required release periods.

    He had also been told that his family in East Alabama was dead. Given that I had been captured and taken away when the Kurtz ship left, heading back towards Alvin, he thought I was long dead also. When his captors finally released him he was placed in a small rural farming village where he did not speak the language. They had hoped to one day claim that he had been there all along.

    By the time his captors told him he was a free man he had befriended several of the locals. After his years of war and captivity, and given the fact that he thought everyone he knew was dead, he had decided to stay in the village and to just live out his life in peace. Not long after he took a wife.

    He had two strong sons who had just joined the BGS Marines and a nine year old daughter that had been sitting on his lap. His wife and his boys were inside the house visiting with the grandfather they had never known.

    I began to tell Zack of my captivity and escape and he raised his hand as if to say stop. My father had already told him everything. I then asked why he had not tried to contact me when he had learned that it was I who had come back and taken control. He said that he wanted to... he wanted to run to me as fast as he could... but he had a wife and children whom he loved.

    At first he was not sure of how I would take it and later he was embarrassed that he had not acted sooner. He began to find it easier to put off until the time was right... a time which had never come. He was only here because of his sons enlisting in the BGS Marines. When home from boot camp they had questioned him about his relatives overseas and he told them they had all perished when Alabama had been nuked.

    His boys then told him that East Alabama had not been attacked during the war. The death of his parents had been a lie. And that was what had brought him back to the farm, a chance to once again see his father. The story was tragic, as tragic as mine. But we had both moved beyond those deep wounds and were soon smiling and laughing about where our lives had gone. He a family man and me... I was the Supreme Commander of the HE.

    As we talked I looked deep into his eyes. The young smiling and energetic Zack that I had known so long ago was no longer there. His eyes were hard and yet reserved, his face and arms were heavily scarred from the years of war and his right leg was a modern prosthetic. His hair was a salty gray and his hands were the hands of a farmer... rough and calloused.

    He then smiled and said that I looked well... being Supreme Commander had obviously been good for me. But I knew he was only being kind. My body, from years of wearing a BGS, which I had self-tuned to overcompensate, was muscle-bound and out of proportion. My long blonde hair had been dyed and cut to be a short black bob that I thought gave me a more commanding look.

    My skin was still near perfect, no doubt because of the tightened DNA strands I had received so many years before, but my facial expression was no longer a constant smile. My face was muscular and usually had a scowl on it from the issues I had to deal with on a daily basis. He was no longer the handsome gent and I was no longer the beautiful and happy young woman.

    When I left the farm my spirits had been renewed. A heavy wound in my life had been healed and while I would not be getting back together with the one love of my life... I could once again look upon the short time that we had without becoming sad. He would always have that special place in my heart, but I was no longer in love, that Zack, had passed long ago.

    As I made my way back out onto the bridge of my command ship I began barking orders and demanding status. I had a feeling that even though the odds were stacked against us... we were going to win the war. I wasted no time passing those feelings on to my staff with orders for them to pass them on down the line. We were going to take on the task at hand and we were going find a way to win... it was in our nature.

    As we waited for the Borten fleet and the globe ships I got word of the first tests of a Starburst system. A 100 by 100 kilometer thin panel had been setup as a simulated alien vessel. The Starburst team had mounted every sensor type we had available, as well as a number of weapons and mini-fighters, to the frame of the simulated craft. It would not be a true test of the alien defenses as we were unaware of what they might have, but it was a true test of ours.

    I watched from my chair as the Starburst module was launched and sped on its way towards the target. The Battle Planners sent in ten mini-fighters that would ride inside the cone of the Starburst, protected from any defenses that could be put forth.

    As the timer ticked down I began to get nervous over the excitement that came with a new potential weapon. When the module reached 100,000 kilometers the overcompensated BHDs dispersed and spread out into the cone shaped pattern as designed. It was like a black void moving through space. The mini-fighters soon swept in behind and took refuge in the cone.

    The target defenders took action, firing and launching everything they had at the incoming formation of BHDs. Nothing was effective. The black holes of the BHDs and the cone shape they formed kept our fighters completely protected. But just as the cone was about to reach its target the defenders sent the target moving backwards at its fastest pace.

    It was a move the team had not counted on and the Lawrencium that powered the BHDs was soon exhausted. The defenders then pummeled the ten approaching fighters with simulated weapons to prove their point. Even though the Starburst was an ingenious idea on paper, it was doomed to fail if every eventuality was not planned for and taken into account.

    The Starburst team quickly cried foul and I got on the comm to settle their objections. The defenders had done exactly what they were supposed to do in defending the simulated alien ship. It was my Battle Planners who had failed by not putting their maximum effort into the exercise. There would be another test of the system in two days and I insisted that each team do their best to achieve their goals.

    In the meantime, our recon destroyer that had been sent to the far system, where the last globe ships had come, from was starting to report in. There was no habitable planet in the system, but there was a massive spaceport with what looked like construction yards attached to it. They were working on more of the globe ships.

    When the destroyer reported that there were two gas giant planets in the system my staff ordered the destroyer to move behind one of the planets and to then launch and slingshot a Driller around it towards the spaceport. If we were lucky and their defenses were low we might be able to do some damage without being detected. Once launched the destroyer would slowly move back to a safe distance. Two hours later the Driller was away.

    We watched patiently as the Driller took 4 hours to drift towards its target. The excitement built with each tick of the clock as there was no outward appearance that it had been detected. When the Driller contacted an outer wall of the spaceport its BHD activated and it quickly disappeared inside. The first explosion did not occur for almost an hour.

    The destroyer had a live feed from the Driller and we watched as it twisted and turned and did its dirty work. The spaceport was nearly 5,000 kilometers diameter so the Driller would be busy for many days if they were unable to disable or destroy it. We were soon greeted with a second, larger explosion that told us the device was indeed doing significant damage. Hundreds of smaller ships were buzzing around the outside of the spaceport as if someone had disturbed an angry beehive.

    As the Driller moved through bulkhead after bulkhead we became aware of the fact that there were no alien beings aboard the structure. It was completely automated. I wondered how powerful and wealthy a civilization had to be to have built such a huge and powerful machine. If they had more than one we could possibly be facing a fleet of the globe ships. It was not an eventuality that any of us wished for.

    When the counter reached seven days until the arrival of the Borten fleet I ordered our own armada to move to a position near Toleda. We would wait, hidden, in the Rho Puppis system until such time as the attackers had fallen into our trap.

    Our factories had been busy cranking out ground launched Drillers and mobile space platforms. The unpopulated planet of Toleda was a bastion of defenses. When the Borten arrived they would be greeted by the mobile space platforms launching millions of rounds of Protactinium pellets at near light speed. As they closed on the platforms more than two million ground-based Drillers would come rocketing up to greet them.

    It was hoped that in the chaos that ensued we would find an opportunity to strike. From that point on it would be survival of the fittest as we would be fully committed. We had 20 full fleets to take into battle. It was reasoned that Earth would not be in need of a supporting fleet should we lose at Toleda. In that event, all would be lost.

    When we arrived we took up position on the opposite side of Rho Puppis from Toleda's orbit. Hershen stood beside my chair admiring his former sun's glow. It was hard to imagine the feelings the Kurtz had over losing their home planet. They were given a second chance on Toledus and Mabia, but it would never be the same for his generation.

    I had done all I could to protect Earth and yet I still felt as though much of what I had known when younger was gone, changed forever. Earth was our world and with that came a feeling of pride that there was no substitute for. It was the same pride that made you root for the hometown team. I had no doubt it would be generations before the Kurtz once again had those feelings.

    With the remaining days before arrival I had the fleets running simulated war-games almost continuously. The fourth fleet seemed to come out on top in almost every scenario. It had earned them a place at having the first ships that would enter battle. It was deemed an honor, but I had thoughts of it possibly being a death sentence. We had no idea of what weapons the Borten or the globe ships possessed.

    When the assault timer had ticked down to hours, Hershen reached out and put his long slender hand on my shoulder. I had been pacing all morning trying to calm the nerves that came with an all-out battle. I was told that it had been an honor serving me for so many years, and that it would be an honor again tomorrow and an honor the day after. It was a confidence boost I needed and I thanked my friend for his kind words.

    Shortly thereafter the first of the Borten ships dropped below light speed as they slowed for their assault. The first batch were smaller scout ships, no doubt sending information back to the main fleet before the bulk of it would arrive. The scouts fanned out and soon infested most of the Rho Puppis system.

    We remained silent, watching as they moved about the system checking every possible place that a surprise fleet might hide. The scout that circled the sun passed through our fleet, warping through several of our ships as it passed. Our active skin had once again been an excellent defense and a thing of wonder.

    When the first scout got within 500,000 kilometers of Toleda two of the mobile platforms began to fire upon it. Even at that distance the new speed of the pellets was too much for the scout and it was soon annihilated. When a second scout ventured close it met with the same fate.

    With no other threats reported back to the main fleet it soon dropped from light speed. Our long wave sensors began to go crazy with the sheer number of ships that were detected. Within minutes tens of thousands of Borten ships had entered the Rho Puppis system and it was soon evident by their formations that they were preparing for an assault.

    But the early ships did not fall into an immediate attack. They instead waited for the remainder of the fleet to slow and to take up position. The numbers were staggering and my nervousness over what we were about to be engaged in once again returned.

    We watched in awe as the massive globe ships soon took up positions surrounding the Borten fleet. Minutes later the globe ships began to have an orange glow to them. As the minutes passed the glow began to spread outward like a giant sheet. The glow then reached a maximum intensity when the sheets overlapped from one ship to another.

    It was speculated that the orange glow was some sort of a shield that would protect the fleet as they began their attack. When the shield was complete the entire body of ships began to move forward. When they reached the 500,000 kilometer range the first of the mobile guns began to fire.

    As the initial Protactinium pellets arrived, the alien shield turned white hot in an instant at the point of contact, the round vaporized before traveling another kilometer. As the fleet moved forward, more of the mobile guns came online firing round after round. An impressive light show signaled the official start of the battle.

    When the Borten ships reached 200,000 kilometers they began to fire projectiles of their own. Our new mobile platforms were equipped with gravity guns also and the first of the alien rounds were easily deflected or halted dead in space.

    But as the fleet moved closer more of the Borten ships began to fire and it soon became apparent that our mobile platforms were about to be overwhelmed. Battle command gave the order to launch all Drillers and Toleda's dark side was soon lit up by a million tiny lights. For a moment, the Borten fleet halted its progress.

    When the first of the Drillers passed through the alien shield there was a sudden massive launch of small fighters that were not unlike our own mini-fighters in size. Our view of the fleet soon became muddled from the glow of the Protactinium striking the shield and the swarm of millions of small black craft that were flying about to do battle with the Drillers.

    We watched in awe for hours as the Drillers first evaded the fighters and then attacked their targets. As the Drillers began to find their targets we were witness to multiple explosions. But the Borten ships were so numerous that the rate of destruction of their fleet would be extremely slow. The Borten then launched an offensive of their own.

    More than 30,000 of their destroyers lined up in a column and then rapidly advanced towards the planet. The mobile platforms in the area were soon overwhelmed and the destroyers began to scream down through the atmosphere to attack the planet’s surface. They were met with a fierce barrage of surface coil gun rounds, but those rounds proved to be largely ineffective.

    Our next counter was the launch of mini-Drillers from the surface. Surrounding each fake city were several platforms of the mini-Driller launchers. As the 30,000 plus Borten ships spread across the planet’s surface the mini-Drillers were in hot pursuit.

    As we watched the battle continue to unfold the Borten then sent in more than 10,000 cruisers. Their all-out offensive was well underway. The Borten craft on the surface used a combination of gravity weapons and high energy beams. Explosions were soon commonplace and fires raged across the globe.

    When the Borten battleships committed to the fight the signal came in that it was time for the Human fleet to makes its move. We would first move in the opposite direction around Rho Puppis and then drift in unison towards the remaining Borten fleet. At 500,000 kilometers our current compliment of 14 Starbursts would be launched at four of the globe ships on our side of their defenses. It was time for do or die.
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    Riding in the cone of each Starburst were 800 BGS Marines, accompanied by a dozen Drillers. Their goal was to knock out at least a portion of the alien shield thereby allowing our fleet access to the remaining Borten ships. I had confidence in the plans ability to work.

    At 100,000 kilometers the Starburst modules began to disperse their overcompensated BHDs. Approximately 3.7 seconds later the first of the Lawrencium powered cones made its way through the globe shield and into a globe ship. The other 13 Starburst modules soon followed suit.

    Once on-board, the Drillers began their dirty-work and the Marines began their assaults. I watched with excitement on a monitor as a Marine Squad Commander barked orders and pushed his men forward. The Borten were awkward fighters and were soon being slaughtered by the hundreds as the Marines advanced.

    As I watched a message was delivered to me. Both of Zack’s sons were on globe ship number three and were moving forward with their team. I hesitated and then switched my view to that of their squad leader. They were pushing hard and obliterating everything the Borten defenders threw at them. It was a proud moment as I watched the highly trained Marines efficiently dispatch any attempts at an attack that the Borten made.

    The globe ships were massive and the assaults by BGS Marines moved slowly through their seemingly endless corridors. As team FT77 moved down a long corridor I watched with satisfaction as the Borten troops first fired and were then blown apart from our gravity pulse guns. Destruction and death moved down the corridor in front of our team.

    The Borten had soon found a technique that worked well to take down our Drillers. The damage had been done however and one of the globe ships soon lost power to its shield. But a shield overlap remained, it was strong enough to compensate and cover for the loss. When a second globe ship powered down a small opening was left for our fleet to punch through.

    I gave the order and all ships diverged on the shield opening at once. As we began to move the field generator for one of the ships again powered up and our first ships in line had to take evasive action. The generator was soon again shut down as a BGS Marine team stormed the control room that had brought it back online.

    Our ships streamed through the opening in the shield and were soon greeted by a million Borten mini-fighters. The order was given and our fleet launched a combined total of more than six million mini-fighters at once. It was quickly evident that the Borten fighters were no match for our own.

    I could sense the excitement growing in the command center in front of me as our planners worked over their screens and sent out orders. It was a coordinated effort that Man had never before seen. Large groups of our ships moved in unison to achieve one goal after another. With the battle going well I focused my energies back on the Marine squad aboard the globe ship.

    Zack's sons were continuing on their rampage, blasting controls and pummeling the Borten soldiers with their gravity pulse guns. It was only then that I realized that their squad commander was their own father. Zack had re-enlisted shortly after our last visit. With his military record and experience he had been given the command that he wanted. That command was over his son's unit.

    As I watched I gained respect and admiration for both his command and execution skills. He barked orders and his troops followed them precisely. After several continuous hours of fighting they had yet to lose a man.

    When they reached the end of a long corridor they were stopped by two gargantuan doors. The Marines typically fought with their BGS suits tuned to a low level so they could make the most out of whatever gravity the current environment offered. Their suits were tuned to always provide a set amount of interaction with the gravity so that they were always fighting under the exact conditions they had trained for.

    With the giant blast doors stopping their progress, Zack ordered their BGS suits to full. They would drift through to the other side and once again begin their assault. In an instant the squad stepped towards the doors and blinked out. When they arrived on the other side they held their fire.

    Behind the blast doors was a massive room with biped beings that stood in long white robes facing away from the Marines. There was no sign of any Borten soldiers. The beings then slowly turned around towards Zack and his squad while raising their arms with open hands. The beings had human faces.

    After a short time of facing the white robed beings Zack ordered his men to drop their BGS suit levels back to the normal combat level. It would make his squad visible to the robed beings where communications with them could be attempted. When the team blinked in the white robed beings began to slowly smile.

    Then, in an instant, Zack and the Marine squad were all blasted backwards against the giant doors. The video feed from their suits continued to run as Borten soldiers quickly closed on their position. They were still alive, but they were captives of the Borten.

    Just before their BGS suits were powered off and their weapons removed the white robed beings faded from view. They were nothing more than a holographic display that had been set up to lure the team to drop their defenses. Standing behind the hologram were several hundred Borten soldiers with a powerful gravity beam weapon.

    We had been tricked by our enemy and it had cost us a valued team of Marines. Word went out over the comms of the stunt and of the devious nature of the Borten. The teams had been warned to not always trust their eyes.

    With Zack and his squad captive I ordered my command ship to pull alongside the globe ship they were captive on. I ordered our entire contingent of Marines, more than 250,000, to board the globe ship and to retrieve our warriors... alive.

    Within minutes teams of BGS Marines were blinking in on the globe ship and starting advances towards the area of the massive ship where Zack's team had been taken captive. The Marines fought with a fierceness that I had not yet seen. They were intent on bringing home their own.

    The Borten ships that had attacked the surface had taken heavy losses from the mini-Drillers. They had discovered that the planet was uninhabited and that the humans had a devious nature of their own. When the discovery was made the order had been given to return to the main fleet.

    Our fleet had engaged in direct fire with the Borten ships and we soon found our shielding and firepower to be superior. The battles were drawn out, but they were going decidedly in our favor. Our mini-fighters had all but eliminated the Borten fighters and had turned their destructive powers towards the smaller of the Borten vessels.

    Word soon came in that Zack's team had been rescued and were on their way to our medical bays for treatment. As soon as they were safely on-board I ordered my command ship to move back out to a safe distance from the combat. We were winning the war and a sense of relief began to well up inside me. I thought that perhaps we were finally nearing the end.

    As the battle raged on I left from the bridge heading to the medical bays. I had to know of Zack's condition, I wanted to be there if he regained consciousness. Just as I left the bridge the ship was rocked by several powerful explosions. Somehow Borten soldiers had made their way aboard.

    I powered up my BGS until only the slightest of gravity was evident and then pushed my way towards the supposed attack. Hershen followed close behind. The adrenaline was pumping through my veins and my BGS suit fought hard to subdue its affects.

    When we arrived in the section that was under attack I was joined by the four Marine squads that had remained on the ship. They were mostly the clerks and maintenance workers, but they were still Marines. Our contingent of 250,000 BGS Marines had been left on the globe ship to finish its capture. We had 28 BGS Marines, Hershen, 120 staffers and me left to contend with what our monitors told us were thousands of Borten troops.

    I pulled up an overlay of the section and commanded my squads to move down two corridors. The medical bays were adjacent to the attackers and I wanted to see that Zack's team was protected. We raced down the corridors until the first of the Borten troops were spotted. Heavy fire ensued with my team taking down one invader after another. Hershen stayed close in front of me working largely as cover.

    As two members of my squad rounded a corner they were met with a powerful gravity beam that knocked them hard backwards into a wall. They slumped to the floor lifeless. I ordered all suits to be brought to their maximum and we were soon micro-bursting our way around and behind the Borten troops and their weapon.

    When we came through a wall behind them we blasted them with our pulse guns and then maneuvered in to inspect the gravity cannon they had brought on-board. It was big and unwieldy, it took four crewmen to operate and maneuver, but it was effective.

    I fired a pulse smashing the weapon beyond use and then barked the order for us to proceed. Our advance was rapid, but we had almost two kilometers of ship to move through to get to the medical bays. Our hall-to-hall battles lasted for nearly an hour. The bridge staff and Marines squads were pushing the remaining Borten troops back slowly.

    When we arrived at the main medical corridor our doctors, nurses and the remaining medical staff had taken up weapons to defend themselves. They had done well to slow the Borten troop’s advance. My squads quickly cleared the hallways of our enemy and secured the medical facilities. Zack and his squad were safe.

    I then turned our small team back towards the invaders and began to slowly push them back from the medical bays. They continued to lose ground in the other areas of the ship as our staff of planners, maintenance workers, cooks, engineers and operational support personnel assaulted their positions.

    The cruiser Baton Rouge soon pulled alongside us and 50,000 BGS Marines crossed over into our ship. Within an hour the last of the Borten invaders had been killed or taken captive. I had lost nearly a quarter of my command ship staff during our defense, but we had held.

    The Borten had come aboard in cloaked transports that had docked and cut through the inactive Sodium skin as our own troops had made their way to the globe ship. It was a defensive problem that we did not yet have a solution to. For anyone to leave the ship the active skin had to be turned off.

    Through a series of somewhat lucky maneuvers the Borten attackers had boarded without our knowledge. It was Murphy's law and was something that always seemed to happen in combat no matter how much planning had been done. Surprises coupled with dumb luck were often a deadly combination.

    The Borten commanders had reasoned that, due to their hierarchical culture, if they could take control of the command ship they would then control the entire fleet. Their reasons were sound thinking within the Frekkin Empire, but had no bearing on Human actions or reactions. With us, if you cut off the head of the snake, it would just grow a new head.

    With the Borten command strategy thwarted it soon became evident that they were losing the war and losing it badly. An offer of surrender and a request to be subjects of the Human Empire came from their command ship. The surrender was granted and hostilities soon came to an end.

    There were great celebrations on Earth as word leaked out of our victory. The great Borten fleet had rolled over and was on our side. Preparations were soon made to return to the Borten system for an official surrender. Without a fleet they would all have no choice but to become subjects of the Human Empire.

    When our Marines had taken full control of the Borten fleet I gave a command to plan for a trip to the Borten worlds. Two days later we were on our way. The travel time was nearly a month, but we would be doing so with knowledge that there would be no confrontations when we arrived.

    Our recon destroyer in the far system had continued to watch as the single Driller slowly gutted the automated space port. There would be no more globe ships coming from its shipyards. I ordered the destroyer to return and to proceed up the line towards the system with the red planet. With the Borten defeated our concerns would be turned towards the next member of the Frekkin Empire.

    I had the commanders of the Borten fleet brought aboard my command vessel for questioning. I quizzed them on the globe ships to which they responded that they had no knowledge of the beings who built them except that they were known as the Por Hollis. When they received a ship such as the globe ship, it came with instructions on its use. Other than knowing the name of the species, they were not even sure of what the Por Hollis looked like.

    It was again another mystery as we proceeded further up the chain of the Frekkin outer worlds. Nothing was known of the next world other than its location and the inhabitant’s name. The Sodium tax had been paid as always by dropping off the resource just shy of the next world’s space. It was always gone when they came back so they knew it was being collected.

    In return for the Sodium tax the Frekkin did not attack and largely stayed out of the outer worlds business. They were told that non-compliance with any Frekkin rules would bring a swift death to their people. Until our arrival and conquering of the Kurtz they had never tempted fate by doing anything other than what they had been told. I thought it a strange way to run an empire, but the Frekkin had been successful at it up until then.

    When we arrived at Trephin, Login and Pelvic we were greeted by a Borten political ship carrying its dignitaries. They had little defense against our weapons and were eager to submit to our authority. They were terrified of the Frekkin, but the Frekkin were not parked just above their planet, parked with an armada that could easily destroy them.

    I was disappointed when the leader of the Borten people was brought into a conference room for me to question. His name was Hi-Bet and he called himself the Supreme Commander... a title which I held myself. He was just over a meter tall and a meter wide. Again, all I could think of was a giant blueberry with nastily sharp teeth.

    When he spoke I had a translator waiting beside me. She had been busily studying their language since our first recon destroyer had arrived to spy on their system. She had quickly mastered a fair understanding of their language and was soon telling me what the Borten leader was saying. When he finished his political rant I questioned whether or not they truly wanted to join the Human Empire. Given their situation I expected and received nothing less than an emphatic "Yes".

    I soon made reference to the Council of Governance and that he would have to submit to their every wish. I then looked into his beady little eyes and reminded him that while the Human Empire was benevolent, it would not take any transgressions against it lightly. Whether or not the Borten were admitted into the HE was up to the COG and the cooperation they received.

    As he once again began to talk I gestured for the guards to take him away. I was in no mood to discuss anything further with the alien being who had just attempted to annihilate me. Had I been any other commander of any other race of beings he might have been summarily executed on the spot. But I was not one of those who took life lightly.

    When the recon destroyer reached the Por Hollis home-world the news was once again not good. There were a dozen globe ships parked just off one of the worlds. But there was more. There was another type of ship present that we had not seen before. It too was round like the globe ships only much smaller and in far greater numbers.

    After a scan by our destroyer it was determined that the smaller Por Hollis ships numbered in the millions. They were jet black, shiny balls that were approximately one kilometer in diameter. A nickname of "Black Pearls" was quickly assigned. They were parked in neat rows and columns giving the appearance of a gigantic cube shape from a distance.

    After several days had passed it was reported that the red world was turning out nearly ten thousand of the Black Pearls a day. Again we were faced with a ship that we had no way of knowing what capabilities it possessed. And to make matters worse, the Por Hollis had no radio wave communications for us to detect and decipher. They were dark a world to our sensors.

    From our destroyers distance we could see the giant factories orbiting their world and we could see the ships flying between the surface and the factories. We could also make out the great spaceports that dotted its surface. All structures were of the same shiny black appearance as their smaller ships.

    While fascinating to observe, the Por Hollis would have to wait for another day to feel the wrath of the HE. We had ships to repair and a new planetary system to bring under governance. I hoped for a time of peace where we could first absorb the technologies that the Borten had to offer. I also hoped for time so that our commanders could integrate the Borten ships into our fleets. If anything, the sheer number of ships they had to offer would be a good distraction for any foe.

    With a new world under governance and with the next threat under surveillance I ordered the damaged ships in our fleet to return home for repairs. It was also going to be a time for celebration... both on Earth and Toledus. The Kurtz Marines had performed admirably in battle and eagerly awaited a newer, and preferably lower ranked world into the HE. They were still clinging to their hierarchical ways, but as long as they complied with our orders it was not an issue.

    I had been making frequent trips to the medical bays to check on Zack and his sons. They were all well on the way to full recoveries having received severe concussions from the gravity weapon blast that had taken them down. Zack's sons were like clones of their father. They had the same handsome build and face and a demeanor that always put you at ease.

    I had once again become close to Zack, but it was as a friend. He had a wife back home and it was evident that he loved her. I had convinced myself that the feelings I had once had for him had long since passed. There was a fondness, an admiration and respect, but there was no love.

    I sat with him in the infirmary for the day of celebration that had been scheduled for our victory. In a modern celebration much noise was made and people were seen flashing lights and jumping about. Things had changed in many ways since the BGS had gone to the masses. Food and drink had always been a large part of any party, but they were no longer something that was needed or done.

    The BGS provided all nutrients and at certain times small doses of euphoric drugs were allowed to be administered. In many ways my own people sometimes seemed alien. I wondered what new generations might think of the old ways should they one day be forced back upon them.

    My wondering soon turned back to conversation and the day soon ended. I was headed back to the bridge to begin the planning for our next war. We needed intelligence and we needed time. As I looked out over the teaming worlds of the Borten system I couldn't help but wonder what type of enemy the Por Hollis might be. Would we be ready for them should they attack? I guessed we were already as ready as we would ever be.

  


  
    Chapter 11

    


    

    


    

    In a matter of months the Por Hollis had tripled their ship output to more than 30,000 Black Pearls a day. I wondered if we would be better off if we struck at them early as their fleet numbers were growing far faster than ours. Our engineers had been poring over the globe ships attempting to unlock the secrets of their shields. To date, we had made little progress.

    I asked our planners to map out an invasion strategy for an attack. I gave them a time frame of three months. In the meantime, five more recon destroyers were immediately dispatched to the Por Hollis system. We needed information if we were going to attack with an informed strategy.

    While preparations and plans were being put in order I turned my efforts towards the Borten integration. They had been governed by the same hierarchical system as the Kurtz for thousands of years; it made them very regimented in everything they did. Again, the hierarchy remained in place with their Supreme Commander reporting to our Council of Governance. Any changes to government of either race were going to be done over a long slow period of time. I felt it offered the path of least resistance.

    We soon had a flood of Human engineers and scientists landing on the three Borten worlds. There were new technologies to take advantage of including a higher level of automation of factories and farms. The Kurtz ships had originally been produced at the Borten factories, made according to strict Frekkin designs.

    The Borten ships and mini-fighters were only marginally better than what the Kurtz had possessed. But with the advantage of sheer numbers the Kurtz had never questioned the Borten authority. Of course, the modern Kurtz had never interacted with the Borten.

    The Kurtz had only been told in their schooling lessons that each world above them in the Frekkin Empire was more powerful, and any planet that strayed from the rules would be made an example of. Since they had largely been left alone, with the only real requirement that they pay their Sodium tax, there had never been any question of authority.

    We were learning new things about the Frekkin worlds every day. I was stunned when I had first learned that there were no natural births. The youth of each world were made sterile at birth, a birth that occurred in a factory. Hershen had been depressed when the black hole gravity weapon had destroyed Factory 12 in his hometown on Toleda. He had stated that 126 generations of Gor had been born in the same building, on the same birthing line.

    Each family or pair was allowed one child born from their DNA. If a family member was to reach a certain level in the hierarchy they were allowed another child. At the highest of levels the royals were allowed up to nine children. It had all been designed to maintain zero population growth.

    If a citizen was to die at any level a replacement citizen was then allowed up to a certain age. A lottery system was in place to prevent any family line from growing too large. In the lottery, families in the lower tiers of society would get their rights for a second or sometimes a third child. It was indeed an alien concept to humans, and I had no doubt that it was also alien to both the Kurtz and the Borten before the Frekkin Empire took control.

    As far as keeping order, the hierarchical system that was in place made each world easy to manage. But the laws and procedures restricted individual rights. It was a system that most Humans would not accept. Many of us seemed to thrive on arguing and the fights that came with attempting to get ahead. It was a blessing in that it moved us continuously forward, but a curse when abused by those who were not interested in going about life in a civil way. The Human system was a system that I had no desire to change.

    I had repeated visit requests by the Borten Supreme Commander. He wanted to discuss various options for trade and had an interest in the Sodium tax levels. He was a pesky sort and after a particularly annoying visit I put forward a decree that his title be changed to Prime Commander of the Borten Worlds. He had no issue with the new title as it was longer, giving him the sense that it was of more importance.

    The Sodium tax remained the same with the shipments diverted towards Earth. The Borten had seven mining fleets on four far planets. Their Sodium estimates stated a 2,200 year reserve when including their own consumption. Those estimates were in the process of being revised downward with the loss of the expected Sodium from Earth. Until such time as the war had ended, those numbers had been kept on the books.

    At one point our conversations turned to the globe ships. The Prime was unaware of specifically where the extra ships had come from as they only knew of the location where they delivered their Sodium tax. They were aware that there was a system nearby, but they had not taken the time or effort to try to gain information on it as that behavior was strictly forbidden. Again, the Frekkin Empire showed the tightness of its grip on the outer worlds.

    The globe ships had arrived, broadcasting a Frekkin signature code, which gave instructions on their use. I asked how the next system up the chain had known to send them and he replied that when the Waffen system stopped their scheduled Sodium shipments the ships and the instructions for their use were delivered. The Waffen had broadcast the message through the Transit Pull that they were not receiving their shipment from the Kurtz.

    The transmission methods used by the Transit Pulls were something that needed further investigation. My staff had soon sent word to our science and engineering teams to make a special effort to discover how their technology worked. The message had been received not long after it was broadcast making me wonder if we no longer had our QE comm instant communication advantage.

    When the Prime left I paid a visit to Zack in the medical bay. He was only days from release and was eager to get back to the duties that came with being a squad commander. We spent hours talking about the latest Marine training, weapons and BGS suit enhancements. I asked that during his next assault, if one should happen, that he please keep his suit dialed up to maximum. He assured me that he would make the best use of its abilities. I did not take that answer as a yes.

    In the days that passed Zack was released and returned to the cruiser Dallas where his team was waiting with a hearty welcome. It was also their first chance to mourn the loss of their two team members that had perished in the Borten war. Their bodies were given full rights and then placed in special pods that would be launched back towards Earth.

    The pods would take 90 days to reach their destination where their loved ones could give them a proper burial at home. It was an honor offered to all fallen soldiers. Many had chosen beforehand to instead have their bodies sent towards the Sun. Some felt it would be too hard on their families while others thought it more in line with the age old tradition of burial at sea.

    It had been decided early on that launching dead Humans into the voids of space was a bad idea. There were hostiles out there and any information we could keep from them would be an advantage that we could take away. The initial suggestion of sending them towards the closest star had been met with grumbles, so the Earth's sun was the only alternative offered.

    My attentions and thoughts were soon directed solely towards the Por Hollis. I had given orders for much of the Borten fleet to be upgraded with many of our technologies. Their factories were quickly being refitted and their ships evaluated for the updates. Redundant systems of overrides were built into each ship that would allow us the option of disabling or destroying them if they were to fall into enemy hands. The senior staff on each ship would also be made up of Humans.

    The Por Hollis factories continued to churn out Black Pearl ships at an ever increasing rate. The commands were soon given for the destroyers to launch half of their Driller compliment from behind the closest planet. It was hoped that the production could be stopped or at least the rate of production slowed if it was known that the enemy was nearby.

    When the launch came we had 800 Drillers sling-shot around a far rocky planet in the Hollis system, they drifted silently towards the large space based factory. I was stunned when the Drillers were met with little to no resistance. More than 700 of them disappeared into their target.

    The massive factory under assault was soon showing signs of its attackers. Surface explosions were followed up by a dark cloud of maintenance ships converging on the damage. For three days we watched as the output of the immense factory ground to a halt. Once again the Drillers had shown their worth.

    But the damage they had caused was short lived. And as the number of Drillers began to drop offline, the factory slowly restarted its production. Orders were given to launch the remaining Drillers and another 800 were soon doing their dirty-work to the insides of the alien factory. The damage was repaired in half the time and the factory soon returned to full production.

    We had hoped to stir the Black Pearl ships into action, but they had not moved from their stationary position. An entire fleet was then sent with orders to once again launch a Driller attack with half of the Drillers targeting the Black Pearl ships. The 11th fleet departed within the hour.

    When the Drillers were launched they numbered close to 250,000. But the Por Hollis were waiting this time and the Black Pearl ships were put to use. The entire cube shape, made up of more than two million Black Pearls, moved as one unit. The same orange field generated by the globe ships was soon spread across the exterior ships, but with intensity far above what we had seen from the globe ships.

    In addition, the cube shape began to spin. When the first of the Drillers encountered the orange field they were immediately overwhelmed and destroyed. The microscopic black holes that were generated were of little use against a shield that was continuously moving in a perpendicular direction. Moments later the massive Black Pearl cube was heading towards the rocky planet that concealed the 11th fleet.

    The order was given to power up all ships and move away, but the cube already had the advantage of momentum. Instead of going around the small rocky planet it proceeded in a direct line from where it had begun, slicing nearly a third of the planet away as it passed.

    I screamed at my monitor for the fleet to move, but our decision had come too late. As the fleet ships accelerated the spinning cube caught up to those who were last to leave. I watched in anguish as one ship after another was overwhelmed and disintegrated by the glowing orange field.

    Two thirds of the 11th fleet had been annihilated before our speed advantage finally came into play. Our three battleships had survived, but most of the cruisers and destroyers had not been so lucky. We had lost 80,000 Marines, 32,000 crewmen and more than 100 ships without inflicting any damage.

    We knew what the enemy had to offer in terms of their offensive and defensive capabilities, it was weaponry and shields that we did not have a counter for. I ordered that our efforts to unlock the secrets of the globe ships be redoubled and was told that the order had already been forwarded.

    I paced the bridge and then sat in my command chair for hours replaying the video of the spinning cube as it tore through the rocky planet and then through our retreating fleet. I wondered how a race could command such power and deliver it with such precision. I soon got a reason why.

    At the center of the globe ships was a small chamber. It was theorized by our science teams that the chamber at one time contained a continuous black hole, possibly only the size of a pea. But the power contained by a black hole, even of that small size, was immense. They had only learned of the chambers existence by following magnetically shielded conduits from the ships surface down to the chamber.

    There was no evidence of the black hole that had once powered each of the globe ships and our scientists and engineers could find no machinery or any other evidence of how the pea sized black holes had been created. It was speculated that the space factories around the Por Hollis system were somehow producing or initiating the black holes and that we would have to seek any further answers there.

    Word soon went out that a team of BGS Marines were needed for a dangerous mission. They would be sent drifting for weeks in an attempt to get them on-board the Por Hollis space factory. And there would be no return trip planned for their rescue. It was a one-way ticket into a hostile environment.

    I knew Zack was back on duty and I was worried that it would be the kind of mission he would volunteer for. His sons would no doubt volunteer with him. I sent out a directive that volunteers should first be sought among those with no families. I knew it was an edict that would anger him and many others, but it was a mission that I felt was far too risky. Within an hour he was requesting to speak with me.

    We talked for a while and in the end I lifted the edict. He was right. The war was to be fought by all of us, with each individual equally at risk on any given mission. When the roster came out Zack's name was on the top of the list. I would not stand in the way of his volunteering, but I could change the mission.

    I had decided that we needed a recon team to land on the planet and to infiltrate a spaceport to see where they led. Our earlier thoughts of a species living underground still needed to be answered. The factory mission was as saboteurs while the planet mission was only recon. Although likely equally as dangerous, I hoped the one without planned hostilities would be less of a suicide mission. The teams were briefed and headed to their launch point within a few hours.

    Our factories back home had been cranking out Starburst modules. Orders were given to bring as many to the front lines as possible. The first shipment was expected any day. The plan was to send a Starburst at the massive cube of Black Pearls with the hope that it would cause enough of a distraction for our BGS squads to be launched.

    The squads would have to drift for 26 days from a drop-off point far behind the almost half sized rocky planet. One team was designated to target the factory while Zack's team would land on the planet. Neither mission was given a high chance of success by our planners.

    On the day of the launch I paced the bridge with purpose. I had clashed with my planners repeatedly when I attempted to micro-manage the missions. It was their specialty, not mine, and I needed to give them the space they required to make the missions a success. Again, the adrenaline was flowing through my veins giving the medical computer in my suit a workout. I had prohibited the calming agents that it would have normally administered.

    Word soon came that the teams were ready and the Starburst was directed at the cube from the opposite side of the Por Hollis system. As it screamed towards the cube the massive machine began to glow and spin. The cube next moved rapidly towards the incoming Starburst module and for a moment we feared that the Starburst would not activate in time. Hidden in the Starburst cone were a dozen Drillers.

    As the cube sped towards the Starburst our Marines were launched to begin their 26 day drift. I was soon thinking of the first times we had used the tactic when fighting the Kurtz so many years before. So much had happened since that fateful day when I had been taken captive. Billions of people had passed-on due to the ensuing wars and famine, the Earth had undergone tremendous upheavals and the Human Empire spanned five star systems with eight populated planets, although one of the planets had become uninhabitable.

    With only a half second left the Starburst activated and the dozen Drillers following behind slipped inside the protection of its cone. When the orange field came in contact with the overcompensated black holes of the cone, its affect was nullified. Moments later the Drillers were loose inside the giant shield.

    The great cube of Black Pearl ships continued to spin as it turned back towards the Por Hollis factories and planets. One of the Drillers had been equipped with a QE comm pair and we all watched intently on our monitors as it ripped into the first ship and began to gut it. Ten minutes later it left the ship and continued on to another. From the data we were receiving it appeared that all 12 Drillers were doing exactly what they were designed to do.

    As soon as the second dozen ships were infected the massive cube countered our attack. The dozen already gutted ships along with the newly infested ones were ejected from the matrix, out into space beyond the shielding of the orange glow. When the first Driller exited its newly gutted ship and headed back towards the cube it was summarily destroyed by the brilliant orange shield.

    Our attack at first appeared to have been wildly successful. But again our enemies learned fast and quickly countered any success we had. I wondered if we had wasted a first strike strategy in our attempt to occupy our enemy’s attention. Had we waited and attacked with 50,000 Starbursts and half a million Drillers would we have been able to successfully defeat the cube before the ejection strategy was brought into play? It was a question that would never have an answer.

    Our Marine squads had been adrift for more than three weeks. I pulled Zack's QE comm up on my monitor and we talked to pass the time. I did not want to admit it, but the time I had spent with him ignited a bit of the old flame. He was happily married and I would do nothing to break that up, but it felt good to once again have a few stirrings of those feelings. It was something that had been sorely missing in my life.

    As the days of drifting continued I spent time reviewing my command structure and handing out promotions. Two new fleets were heading our way and the repairs of our damaged ships were nearly complete. I was a bit uneasy with the upgrades we were doing to the Borten ships. I wanted them involved in the fight so they could also lay claim to being a valued member of the HE.

    But the Borten were a race that I did not trust. Their leader seemed too eager to please which told me he would easily sell out to the highest bidder. I didn't want our own technologies to be used against us if the Borten once again decided to change sides. With the power of the cube it was a risk we were going to have to live with. The Por Hollis looked to have a formidable force and we would need whatever firepower we could muster. Even if some of it was only to be used as cannon fodder.

    I sat in my chair contemplating the world and all the events that swirled around us. My elbow was set on the chair arm and a balled fist stuck up under my chin. My muscular face had its usual scowl on it as my staff walked hurriedly past. The waiting game was the worst.
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    The BGS team assaulting the space factory was the first to arrive. The 13 members of FT184 were soon on-board the massive floating factory with orders to shut it down. When word came that they had all landed without incident an entire fleet’s contingent of Marines was ordered to follow. It would be another 26 days before they arrived, but with the immense size of the structure the planners felt a full out assault was needed.

    I watched on my monitor as Master Sergeant Eric Von Pelt led his team at the space factory through bulkhead after bulkhead. They were attempting to move as deeply into the factory as they could before beginning any hostilities. His thoughts while drifting inward were that it might be easier, psychologically, to fight their way out rather than fight their way in. The risk was equally as high either way.

    When they drifted through the 14th bulkhead they came into a cavernous assembly area. It spanned 12 kilometers and was easily two kilometers high by 20 kilometers long. At least 18 Black Pearl ships were in various stages of construction on the line. My staff was going nuts with the volume of intel coming in on our screens. Plans on how best to shut the line down were immediately put in the works.

    The Black Pearls were constructed starting with a rigid frame that resembled the lines on a basketball. Six large tubes ran from the surface to the center of the ship, supported by the framework. Thousands of human sized robots were busy welding and otherwise riveting the framework together.

    At the second stage of production the innermost sections of the ship were being assembled. We reasoned that it was the power source and control works for the continuous black hole that would at some point be active in its containment field.

    As the ships moved down the line entire sections were moved in and integrated, again by thousands of worker robots. At the final stage of assembly the ship received the gloss black skin plating that had given it its name.

    When fully assembled, the ship was moved into a chamber with a massive door. The order soon went out to investigate the chamber at the earliest possible time. If the chamber was where the ship received its continuous black hole it would be a critical point for an assault. Without the black hole the Black Pearls were nothing but another piece of space junk.

    When Von Pelt and his team drifted through the next bulkhead they were in a chamber full of supplies. They used the opportunity to change directions towards the final chamber. Several minutes later they were drifting into area with the newest one kilometer Black Pearl.

    With another BHD micro-burst they were soon inside the ship and powering down their active skins to their normal combat level. The outer rooms of the Black Pearls appeared to be lined with thousands of stasis chambers. Two person teams were soon put together and sent down corridors in opposite directions. The teams made their way through the ship, mapping rooms as they went.

    It took nearly half an hour before the first team made it to the innermost control room. My planners became concerned that there were no other beings on-board the newly constructed vessel. And for that matter, we still had yet to see exactly what a Por Hollis looked like.

    The team was busy analyzing the control panels in the room when the great ship began to vibrate and shudder. One of the displays in the room showed the exterior of the ship where a blue glow was beginning to move as little fingers across the glossy black surface. The fingers soon turned into arcs and the team was ordered to set their BGS suits back to full.

    The blue arcs turned to green flames and the green flames soon after into orange bolts that were being pushed into the six magnetically shielded conduits that we had seen being installed at the first stage of the assembly line. The orange bolts continued to grow in intensity until they became a continuous field of blinding orange plasma.

    The stats on our team’s suits began to show that their shield levels were rising and at the same time power was being drained from their power-packs at an alarming rate. Von Pelt ordered the team to micro-burst out before things got worse.

    The orange glow continued to intensify and the ship continued to shake. Seconds later the team exited the ship into the sealed chamber surrounding it. Just as they were about to reach the wall of the chamber a bright white light shot out from it towards the ship. Their suit parameters shot to full and in an instant they were vaporized. The glow turned white hot. With one final burst the white plasma was sucked down the conduits into the black hole containment chamber. Another squad of 13 brave Marines had perished.

    We had 310,000 BGS Marines adrift, heading for the factory. Again, the days of waiting were agonizing. The factory was as big in volume as a small moon, only spread out over a wide flattened area. On one end the stream of construction resources were continuously ferried in while on the other end the Black Pearl ships floated out, soon joining the ever expanding matrix.

    When the Marines arrived at the factory they drifted aboard without incident. The orders were to avoid the plasma chamber and to instead seek out the power sources that kept the vast factory running. With the headcount aboard the space factory we hoped to be shutting it down within the hour. That's when plans changed.

    The Marine teams had high yield explosive devices with them that could be placed, with timed detonators, in the areas needed to stop the production. Then, depending on the intel received from the planet’s surface, they would be diverted to the planet or sent floating back into space for eventual pickup. I watched the video feed on my monitor as a squad planted and armed an ED with the timer set for 16 hours.

    Zack's team, in position on the planet's surface, was asked for a briefing as soon as possible. They would be arriving at the first spaceport just after nightfall. First, they would drift below the planet's surface where they would fire micro-bursts with their BHDs. They would then make their way into the nearest spaceport to begin their recon mission. If the spaceport proved a worthy target the BGS battalion would be redirected for an assault.

    As the mission progressed I soon found myself pacing back and forth on the bridge, the current video feed was broadcast to the mammoth screen for the entire deck. Our squads were moving about at will, undetected by our foe. We had yet to see an alien being. Everything was being run by autonomous robots.

    When Zack's team reached the spaceport my heart was racing from the excitement. Our first looks again revealed only the mechanized workers moving about. The spaceport was a mine and the robotic workers were busy loading containers of some sort of ore onto a waiting vessel. A quick analysis told us that the planet was nothing more than a giant mine with its resources being used by the space factory to build the Black Pearls.

    The mission was once again changed and the Marines at the factory were given new orders. They would remove all the EDs that had been planted and store them in empty rooms near the plasma chambers. One squad would remain in the factory at each of the observed 38 assembly lines. They were given the task of planting an ED on each new Black Pearl that was produced.

    The reasoning was that if we could detonate the EDs on the Black Pearls while under attack, it might give us a brief advantage, an advantage that could be used for either an attempted assault or a hasty retreat. With the new mission underway, two squads were sent back into the factory to continue recon while the remaining Marines drifted safely off towards a pickup point. Zack and his squad would remain on the planet’s surface investigating the mines.

    When the first Black Pearl arrived in the plasma chamber we waited nervously for the cycle to be complete. When finished, the Marine squad would drift aboard, plant the device and then slip out again. As an added method for gathering intel the first ED was equipped with a camera and QE comm. We would be watching whatever happened on what we believed was the bridge of the vessel for signs of an alien pilot.

    Moments before the first ship launched our video device offered a clue as to who the pilots were. It was the same utility robots that moved about the factory and down in the mines of the planet. They were similar to those of the Kurtz only each had six legs and moved about like a spider. Each leg was multi-jointed and each joint had appendages that offered varying types of tools. The main body was a thin black tube.

    Because of the obvious similarities we began to refer to the six legged robots as spiders. The first Black Pearl had a contingent of eight spiders operating various stations on the bridge. After what we assumed was a system’s check, a gigantic door opened into space and the ship moved out to join the others.

    As we watched the Black Pearl pull away on our monitors I took note of the single green blip on-board. The squad leader reported in that a split second decision had been made to send one Marine out with the first ship. The hope was that he would be able to drift from ship to ship once inside the orange glow of the matrix. It was a recon opportunity that some on my staff had recommended and when the squad leader asked for volunteers several Marines had jumped at the chance.

    Corporal Morris was soon exploring the ship with his BGS set to a level that provided gravity, but kept him from being detected. I was ever-so-happy to have a team of staffers who sometimes thought outside the box. With every new encounter my confidence in them grew.

    As the staff focused on Corporal Morris I turned my attentions back to Zack and his squad. Under each spaceport were a series of tunnels. Zack and his team split into two units with one taking the leftmost tunnel and Zack's sub-squad taking the one on the right.

    The tunnels themselves were nothing more than tubes that had been hollowed out from solid rock. Zack's team began their journey down a tunnel with the knowledge that the other end of it was more than two kilometers away, and almost 1,500 meters underground. I watched as the team did a micro-burst to send themselves drifting down the tube.

    The rock was similar to granite with the occasional marbling of quartz. As they drifted along one of the Marines asked for the attention of the others. They were moving through a quartz vein that had a thick seam of gold in it that stretched on for nearly half a kilometer. The seam alone would have at one time been worth billions of Dollars on Earth. But those days were long behind us.

    Shiny trinkets were of little value to a race that was under expansion. Gold was a luxury item and man had gone through such a transition from the years of war, that those luxuries were no longer so highly sought after. But one day the war would be over and societies and cultures would turn back towards their norms. I was sure there some Human that was monitoring the broadcast and was taking notes of locations... all of course for future reference.

    Just before reaching the end of the tunnel the team performed another micro-burst, bringing them to a stop. With their BGS suits on minimum for the final hundred meters, they made their way on foot. When they reached the tunnel end it opened into a vast underground chamber. A quick scan told that the planet had huge deposits of Rubidium ore.

    Chatter picked up between our science teams as the Rubidium find was dissected. Further information was needed from the space factory to determine just how it was being used. If for the creation of the black hole it was something that we desperately needed to know.

    Soon after their observation had begun the team dropped into the chamber as an ore car was heading towards their tube. With the light gravity setting of their BGS suits they drifted slowly to the floor of the chamber. Once down they scrambled for a safe area as the spiders were drilling and using gravity pulses to break up the ore, followed by an ore car which swept along pulling the ore up into its hold.

    As the team moved towards the safety of a distant granite area an ore car moved backwards unexpectedly. The last Marine in the squad was caught off-guard and quickly pinned to a wall. Before he could set his BGS to full his active skin was overwhelmed and his power pack compromised.

    The sudden explosion that occurred sent ore flying in all directions and drew the attention of the spiders. As the remainder of Zack's team made their way to safety the spiders swarmed the area of the explosion. But there was nothing to find as the compromised power-pack incinerated the Marine and everything within close proximity.

    The spiders were soon back to work mining ore. With nothing else to see the order was given and Zack and his team moved behind a rock pile before micro-bursting back towards the tunnel. Seconds later they were on their way back to the surface.

    The second team reported similar results and joined back up with Zack's team on the planet's surface. From there they burst back towards the space factory to once again meet up with the other Marines. They would be sent out into the factory with the mission of determining what the Rubidium was used for.

    With our recon of the Por Hollis factory well underway I turned my attention towards the politics of the day. The Borten were pushing hard for recognition as a superior species who would once again claim dominion over the Kurtz. A meeting was called and I stepped in immediately to offer my opinion as an edict.

    The Humans would stand as the superior race, but only by vote in the Council of Governance. Each sentient species would receive five positions on the council with the Humans always maintaining one more seat than half. As it stood, the new council would be made up of five Borten representatives, five Kurtz, five Barhoo and 16 Humans. There were grumbles, but it was the new law of the land and as such all would abide by it.

    We continued to allow most of the decisions within each member species to be made at their local level. But it was my intent to slowly introduce Human laws and Human concepts to each member with the underlying purpose being a smooth transition to an elected way of governance. The royal family hierarchies that had existed within the Kurtz and Borten peoples would slowly be pushed towards democracy.

    As the meeting was coming to an end I had the sudden urge to rename our fledgling empire. The Human Empire had been a spur of the moment call while trying to impress on the Kurtz that they were a part of something bigger, something stronger than the Frekkin Empire. But the name had always bothered me in that at some point it might cause contention amongst our non-human members.

    I had toyed with a number of ideas and always returned to one name in particular, the Alliance of Major Planets. A.M.P. It was a neutral name that would not give superior significance to any one species. I was definitely pro-human, but I knew that specifically saying so was a bad idea. An idea that would cause the others to resent Humans as the empire continued to grow.

    My own staff was unprepared for the decree and they were looking at one another and wondering what had just happened. They had grown fond of the sound of the Human Empire and suddenly I had thrown them a curve. When the meeting adjourned I asked my staff to remain connected and told them of my reasoning. Again there were a few grumbles, but nothing that would cause concern.

    With the decree in place the orders soon went out to change all logos, tags and even BGS uniforms to reflect the new name. Redesigned BGS suits would be issued to every member of every species. Humans would retain our silver suits, but would have an additional thin red stripe added to the blue. The Kurtz BGS would be a golden color with an additional yellow stripe and the Borten of course insisted on a suit with a blue tint and a second blue stripe. The Barhoo, for obvious reasons, remained suit-less.

    With the meeting adjourned and the trivial tasks of governance taken care of I settled back into my command chair and continued to watch as Zack's recon team moved about in the giant factory. The minutes of watching soon turned to hours of boredom as nothing of significance was being discovered.

    After seven hours of room after room of nothing to see other than storage and machinery I left my chair for my quarters. I was soon fast asleep with the order given to wake me immediately if anything of significance was to happen. For the next 12 hours nothing did...
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    When I returned to the bridge in the morning, in the time we called morning, Zack's team was still moving from room to room and floor to floor in the space factory. They had been active for 36 hours straight. My instincts told me it was time for a rest, but I knew with the BGS and its regulated stimulants the 36 hour haul was easily handled.

    Our training had shown that 72 hours shifts had no ill side effects, other than mental fatigue if an assignment was boring. Scouring the massive alien structure was anything but boring if you were the one that was doing it. Watching someone else doing it was another thing altogether.

    After several hours of switching back and forth between the team planting the EDs and Zack's squad, the boredom finally broke. Zack's squad had moved through a wall into a cavernous room full of thousands of reactors. As his team looked on the reactors all turned full on and a ring-like structure on the ceiling of the room began to glow.

    As the glow began to increase a magnetic pull was slowly unleashed in the surrounding room. The Marines had to quickly secure themselves before being pulled up from the floor. As the glow grew, magnetic waves began to emanate from the ring structure tugging ever harder at the Marines.

    In an instant the magnetic pull increased exponentially and it was everything the Marines could do to maintain their position. Each had their fingers pushed through a grating on the floor with their feet fully extended, stretching upwards towards the ring.

    The orange glow began to glow blue with small fingers of lightning bolts shooting outwards to the rooms walls. Again in an instant the room went bright white until a small portal opened on the ceiling in the center of the ring. The magnetic and whatever other energy being produced was sucked up into the portal and within seconds the room went silent.

    The reactors returned to their standby state with only the faintest low hum telling of their being on. Zack and his team flopped to the floor as the magnetic field dissipated. Signal analysis from their suits sensors showed a massive amount of energy leaving the room down a magnetically shielded conduit to the plasma chamber of the Black Pearl assembly line. We had our answer as to where the plasma field was originating from.

    Zack's team was then ordered to proceed in a direction perpendicular to the power room to see if there were more rooms like it. They dialed up their suits and performed a micro-burst in the assigned direction. For several hours they drifted through one power room after another. It was soon estimated that the factory likely contained 30,000 rooms just like it.

    The ED team's sensors had detected the plasma influx coming from six directions when the Black Pearl was receiving its pea sized black hole. The quick math told that 5,000 black holes could be created at once. Again, the scale of the operation was nothing short of spectacular. The only thing the AMP had that would one day be in close comparison to the scale of the factory was the active Sodium skin being constructed to surround the Earth.

    For the next 30 days the teams on-board the factory continued at their tasks. The 310,000 Marines that had drifted back away from the factory were in the process of being picked up. The Black Pearl matrix numbered nearly 3 million strong. It was decided that it was time to take action.

    The fleet staff had planned to drift 15 transports from behind the rocky planet with programming to fire their BHDs and blink in inside 15 of the power rooms. Each would then deposit a nuclear device with a timer. The two Marine squads would board one of the transports which would then activate its skin and BHD back towards the rocky planet. The other 14 transports would do the same only in 14 different directions. They would also leave their BHDs running while the Marines drifted silently to safety.

    If the Marine transport was detected or for some reason the fleet's position compromised, the EDs aboard the Black Pearls would be detonated. The plan was solid and I found myself eager to see it implemented. Our days of recon had done nothing but raise my anxiety levels.

    When the transports arrived they each deposited their nuclear cargo and then awaited the Marine squads. As the teams entered the power room with the closest transport they were greeted with an open door and a ready ride. As they walked towards the transport they were all smiles. They were heading back to the fleet.

    Half way across the room to the transport, a door opened on the far wall. A sudden stream of spider robots rushed through the opening firing gravity pulses at the Marines. Zack quickly gave the order to blink out and micro-burst through the floor to whatever room lay below. Three seconds later they blinked in on the floor of a Rubidium storage area.

    As the team went over their options, another door opened and two more spiders came in. The Marines cut loose with their weapons sending the autonomous robots flying back out through the doorway before they had a chance to fire their own weapons. Zack ordered the team down two more floors with a similar result.

    The next order sent them to the base of the space factory. Their only remaining option was to leave the massive structure and drift down to the planet's surface. Seconds later the team was on its way.

    Eight of the 15 transports were damaged by the alien spiders and were unable to fly, but the remaining seven activated their skin and burst out into space seconds later. The nukes that had been planted had active skins so the spider robots were unaware of their existence.

    When the transports sped off into space outside the factory the Black Pearl matrix came to life and began to spin. In less than a minute it was in pursuit of the first transport and with a burst of speed that was unexpected it quickly overtook it.

    For another hour we watched as the giant matrix spun and annihilated the transports one by one. When the last transport went silent it turned back towards the factory. Zack and the two squads were still drifting towards the planet. The matrix swirled in beside the factory and hovered for several minutes. It then turned towards the fleet, still hidden behind the remains of the rocky planet, and started towards it.

    The order was given to leave immediately and the fleet powered up and turned away. The matrix was soon in hot pursuit and gaining ground. Throttles were at full, but the Por Hollis drive technology seemed to be superior. The fleet quickly passed through light speed, but the matrix continued to pursue.

    Zack and the Marines were half-way to the planet's surface when the nukes went off in the factory. I watched through Zack's camera as the immense structure seemed to explode in slow motion. Large pieces of debris were soon heading towards the Marines.

    With the matrix of Black Pearls in pursuit of the fleet Zack gave the order to do a full burst for the surface. Seconds later they were landing at a space port with weapons drawn. As the spiders poured out of the port shafts Zack and his Marines began a firefight like I had never seen. The spiders were seemingly coming out in limitless numbers and his team was dispatching them as they ran towards one of the shafts, blasting everything as they went.

    At the same time huge sections of the space factory were de-orbiting and would soon be crashing into the planet's surface. Zack was trying to get his team below ground. The spider numbers were overwhelming and Zack had to give the order to blink out and head underground. They would have to drift through solid rock in search of a tunnel.

    Meanwhile the matrix continued to gain on the accelerating fleet. When it became apparent that they would be overtaken the order was given to detonate half the EDs that had been planted aboard the Black Pearls. Our Marine volunteer on-board the cube was sacrificed.

    In an instant the great matrix of ships slowed as evidence of explosions could be seen through the bright orange glow. When the fleet's lead had increased to a distance considered safe they performed a 90 degree turn, heading in a new direction. The matrix continued in a straight line and was soon off the trail of the fleet. They had escaped.

    Zack's team soon found their tunnel and once inside they blasted the walls with the hopes of creating a barricade, in a bid for time. They needed time to ride out the rain of factory parts that were screaming down to the red planet's surface, and time to form a new strategy.

    When the tunnel they were in was sufficiently blocked they turned to make their way into the chamber at the other end. When they arrived at the opening they were greeted by another onslaught of spiders. Again, a fierce fire-fight ensued.

    My fingers dug into the padding on the arms of my command chair as I pulled myself from side to side in attempts to dodge gravity pulses that were not actually coming my way. The holo-screen had a way of tricking the mind into believing you were there. Zack's Marines fought valiantly before the first of the squad was knocked from their position and quickly squashed beyond recognition. The fierce fire-fight continued.

    Once the fleet had evaded the matrix it turned in a wide arc to make its way back towards the planet and the Marines they had left behind. The journey took another hour before a visual of the red planet was available on the screen. Soon it became apparent that nearly a third of the giant factory had been destroyed. The spider robots were already hard at work attempting repairs.

    The fleet waited a quarter light years distance, looking for the matrix of Black Pearls, but it did not return. The order was then given to do a full assault on the factory and to attempt a rescue of the Marines. Transports were soon dispatched to the surface with thousands of ready Marines while the remainder of the fleet began their assault on the factory.

    When I flipped my holo-screen back, Zack's teams had lost four more fighters. The spiders were closing in with several hundred slowly making their way up a wall to a blind spot. If they were able to get the advantage the Marines would once again have to go on the run, attempting to drift to another tunnel. The odds of survival were quickly turning against them.

    As the fleet began its assault the destroyers were dispatched to pulverize and make useless the falling factory debris. After a quick sweep the skies were clear enough that the transports could land and the Marines could begin to fight their way into the spaceport and down to their stranded brothers and sisters.

    As the new Marines poured out of the transports, the spiders once again came out in numbers, but the Marines had superior power and tactics. The surface battle lasted all of 15 minutes with the Marines taking only four casualties.

    Below ground the spiders had achieved their goal of reaching the blind spot. Zack's teams could normally blink out and drift to safety only there was one problem. They had been away from the ships for more than a month and with the fire-fights and micro-bursts their power-packs were running low.  Command estimated that they had one more micro-burst or one more fire-fight before they would be out of power.

    With the spiders having moved to the advantageous position of the blind spot the Marines had to once again blink out and drift. They were soon in a chamber with another 30 spiders. They blinked in and took cover behind a rock outcropping and began firing at the mechanical enemies, preserving their shots until they counted.

    The spiders were dispatched one by one, but not before the team members began to run out of power. When the last of the robot spiders went silent there were only two Marines whose packs were not completely drained. They each had enough for two more shots of their gravity pulse guns. None could make use of their active Sodium skins.

    The group waited, hunched behind the rocks, looking for the next spider onslaught. Seconds later the tinks of their six legs on the hard rock could be heard as they made their way down the tunnel towards Zack and the Marines. I wanted to jump out of my chair and through the holo-screen to their aid, but it was not possible.

    When the first of the spiders appeared in the tunnel opening, a gravity pulse immediately struck, sending it hurdling backwards into the others. Seconds later, two more popped into the opening and two more pulses were fired knocking them back. When the next three appeared only one pulse found its mark. The Marines were out of power.

    The spiders began to pour into the chamber searching for an advantageous firing position. Just as they were about to reach it a large explosion occurred in the tunnel and the remains of several dozen spiders came shooting out of the opening. Then the new Marines came flooding into the chamber, pulverizing the remaining spiders as they came. When the fighting stopped a sergeant stood next to Zack and the remaining Marines with a case full of power-packs.

    The teams were soon on their way towards the surface and the transports. A squad was dispatched to the other chamber to collect the bodies of the fallen heroes. When the entire mining port was free of spiders the Marines boarded the transports and departed for the fleet.

    The fleet had launched half a million fighters and with the fire-power of the large ships, the factory was soon permanently out of commission. When the last large section crashed down upon the planet a destroyer flew over each space port and dropped a nuke into it. Fifteen minutes later the red planet and the massive factory were no longer a threat. The fleet headed back towards the Borten worlds to await new orders.
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    We were baffled as to why there was no sign of life on the Por Hollis world, only the millions of autonomous robots mining and running the factory. There were also no Transit Pulls in the system. We also wondered where the damaged matrix of Black Pearls had gone. Our long wave sensors had lost track of the autonomous alien ships shortly after we had given them the slip.

    Our engineers reasoned that the orange shielding surrounding the matrix might have something to do with our sensors having trouble, possibly lessening the feedback the long wave sensors relied upon. Perhaps they had some other means of shielding that we were unaware of. Perhaps the damage we had done had led to the complete destruction of the alien ships. We had no way of knowing.

    For several days our planners were poring over data from the events around the red planet. The Borten Transit pull had been aiming directly at the red planet before it had been shut down. And the Borten insisted that it was the location of their Sodium drops for the Por Hollis, but there was no corresponding Transit Pull. The only conclusion we could come to was that the next set of worlds in the Frekkin system must be the real Por Hollis home worlds. A destroyer was soon dispatched to the far system.

    We were in need of intel on our next conquest. We also needed to know if there were more of the globe ships or Black Pearls being constructed. When the recon destroyer arrived there was no sign of activity. The ships that had once been moving back and forth between the twin worlds and the construction areas of the globe ships were no longer there.

    A Driller probe was soon prepared with nothing but sensors and a QE comm and was sent towards the blue sun of the system. It would drift silently and then use the blue sun's gravity to slingshot back to the destroyer. The trip would take five days.

    As we waited for new data from the sensor probe I was bombarded with questions about the new alliance. The Borten and the Kurtz were pushing for more influence in the new system. They were told that they were equals and that they had better get used to it.

    They were reminded of the fact that the Frekkin were still out there and that they would very likely need the help of each other when it came down to defending or fighting for their worlds. The Borten had the bigger issue with the new hierarchies; in the old system they were superior to the Kurtz. As much as I found him distasteful and untrustworthy, I summoned the Borten leader for a conference.

    He arrived with his usual trailing of fawners who praised his every word. To his dismay I had them wait outside the conference room when our talk began. I explained to him what we knew of the Black Pearl matrix and that if it was to come to the Borten system there would likely be no system left. The Kurtz were good fighters as their Marines had proven against the Borten. The revelation sent the Prime into a huff as he turned away from me with a scowl.

    I then explained that the Kurtz Marines would be fighting to protect the Borten worlds should an attack come. And, it was not out of the question that it would be their contribution that kept the Borten worlds from complete destruction. There would be a time and a place for the members of the AMP to jockey for position. That time was not while we were at war.

    When my babysitting conference with the Borten Prime was complete he returned to a hallway of praise. According to his posse, whatever it was that he had said in the conference must have been divine and without question. It was the puff of accolade that he was in need of to return the nasty grin to his face. He was soon on his way back to Trephin.

    The reports of our fleet repairs had been coming in with everything ahead of schedule. Our prior fleets were back to 98% capability with 5 new fleets joining the force. The Borten upgrades had also been moving along ahead of schedule. As an empire, we were fast becoming a ship manufacturing dynamo.

    Our drives were capable of 8,800 SOL and our newest gravity weapons were able to send out a pulse that would continue to travel outward on its own, no longer tied to the ships gravity generators. The weapon was able to reach out to much greater distances without using more power.

    A newer version still was in the works that would send out a number of back to back pulses that were first a gravity pull and then a gravity push. When sent with a high enough frequency a target would be violently shaken to pieces... in theory. A new sensor masking technology was also in the works that would allow us to drift silently with no chance of detection. Each time a breakthrough had been made and the technology declared ready a new issue would inevitably be uncovered. But our scientists and engineers were hopeful.

    After Zack's tour of duty I saw to it that he was sent back to Earth for some time with his family, his sons receiving leave at the same time. I had arranged the leave after feeling guilty over the amount of time I had been spending with him in conversation. While some of the old Zack had died many years before the core of the person was still there; the core which I had fallen in love with.

    But I was not a home-wrecker and as such he had been sent back to his wife. With his absence I had been turning my conversational needs towards Hershen. Given his early background I was often surprised by the advice he offered. He attributed it to the years he had spent listening to me. He was a good listener and a true and devoted friend.

    With our new military resources coming online I decided it was time for us to host a massive simulated battle. With what we knew about the Black Pearl matrix we created a simulation version that we felt rivaled the real thing. In the war game it would be attacking the Borten worlds.

    If things went badly I thought it might give the Borten Prime the push he needed to get off his soapbox about the Kurtz. I called for the matrix to be as close to the original as possible, in a sense, stacking the deck against us.

    When the war games began the Borten were not aware of the simulated Black Pearl matrix. The assault would instead begin with two dozen globe ships and several thousand ships of unknown origin. The Borten would be first into battle to give them a better feel for their fleet's new capabilities. If all went well they would be victorious before the Black Pearl matrix showed on their holo-screens. It was hoped that they would confuse the simulated version for the real one.

    As the simulated battle began four globe ships showed on the holo-screens, they were surrounding a thousand egg shaped vessels with antennae protruding from the front. The first surprise was the jamming of all normal communications and sensor readings. It immediately threw the Borten fleet into a state of confusion. They were not familiar with the use of the QE comm for the routing of all communications.

    They instead relied on a line-of-sight laser comm system and with it had soon restored order. But their sensor data was still largely offline. The egg ships next made a move directly against the Borten fleet. Half of the ships burst forth and began firing particle beam weapons that were very effective against the Borten shields. The Borten ships that had not received the new active Sodium skin technology were quickly being torn to shreds.

    The Borten quickly changed tactics and soon had the battle at a standstill. It wasn't long before the Borten were beginning to overwhelm the attackers by sheer numbers. When the egg ships began to retreat the Borten commanders could be heard celebrating their "tremendous" victory over their comms, a celebration that was soon quieted.

    A single 500 kilometer long vessel next appeared in the middle of the Borten fleet, seemingly out of nowhere. Intrusion alarms were quickly going off on nearly half of the Borten ships as hundreds of thousands of simulated soldiers were somehow boarding their vessels. The Borten Prime was immediately on the comm to me crying foul.

    He felt that I was intentionally trying to belittle his people by simulating events that had occurred during the Borten's war with us. I assured the Prime that we would not be the only species that attempted such a maneuver and that they should be prepared for such an occurrence should it happen. He of course did his normal grumble before looking away to yell at his staff.

    The next event was one that I had planned personally. The invading soldiers were making progress in their assault and as such the remaining egg ships joined the fight. It became apparent that the Borten were losing control. I gave the order for the Kurtz to commit 200,000 Marines to the fight by re-enforcing the Borten.

    The Borten Prime again came on in protest, but his arguments were weak and he knew it. When the tide turned back in the Borten's favor his irritation with the situation soon changed. When the last of the invaders had been eliminated and their massive ship destroyed the Prime sent a personal "Thank You" to the Kurtz command. It was an action that I did not think would happen.

    The Borten were a pig-headed political species, but I had hopes that they could learn. I hoped that they could be contributors to the AMP and would one day be a driving force behind it as more planetary systems joined. After their unforeseen gesture I almost felt bad about unleashing the Black Pearl matrix on them. It was a foe that they could not possibly defeat.

    The Borten used our Starburst technology to penetrate the shields of the globe ships; just as we had done in our battle with them. When the orange glow of the globe ships shields fell the Borten deployed their entire fleet to destroying their enemy. While the Borten were prone to commonsense mistakes, they did not lack in commitment. The egg fleet was soon defeated.

    As the Borten ships finished off the few remaining egg ships the Black Pearl matrix first appeared on their screens. They quickly re-formed their battle lines in an attempt to show that they were ready. But ready was far from the truth.

    The matrix soon swept in on their position and within minutes had destroyed a third of their fleet. The Borten deployed hundreds of Starbursts with thousands of their own soldiers riding inside to do battle with the matrix. Their teams made it through the outer orange shield of the matrix, but soon found out how the strange fleet responded.

    If their soldiers were lucky enough to make it inside a Black Pearl and were then lucky enough to overwhelm its defenses they soon found themselves ejected from the matrix followed by a quick self-destruction. It was quickly determined that a thousand Starbursts and five million soldiers would not make a difference to the matrix due to the millions of ships it contained.

    The matrix made another sweep through the Borten fleet again culling its numbers by a third. It then maneuvered past the Borten and headed for their worlds. Pelvic was the first to be hit as the matrix spun past just grazing its surface. A 500 kilometer wide trough was cut through the cities on Pelvic taking out a sixteenth of their population in one sweep. The storms produced in its atmosphere would take out the rest.

    The Borten pursued and called for all assistance from the other members of the AMP. The Kurtz immediately committed their four fleets, but were soon made aware of just how powerful a foe they were up against. Our commanders sent in our fleets along with the thousand Starbursts that we had at our disposal.

    The matrix continued its assault of Pelvic until there was virtually nothing left of its cities. The Kurtz Marines, and our own, found that after a full committal only 3% of the Black Pearls had been ejected and destroyed. The Prime sat in his opulent command chair looking on as his planets and fleet were destroyed. The Kurtz had attempted several new and innovative tactics, but they were not enough to make a difference.

    My own fleets had played a game of commitment yet survival in their strategies as they knew whatever we did would lead to a losing scenario. When the last of the Borten worlds had been destroyed the simulated matrix left the battlefield, heading for Toleda and eventually Earth.

    The simulation had worked as designed to bring a little humiliation to the Borten in an attempt to humble their sometimes arrogant behavior. It was also a wake-up call for the Kurtz and for my own fleet with the outcome of such a defeat more easily contemplated. Such a loss equaled annihilation of not only our fleets, but an annihilation of our planets. There would be no rebuilding from a matrix attack.

    Our recon destroyer had moved closer to the newly silent Por Hollis worlds. Their bustling cities and space factories had all gone quiet. Even the automated equipment had been shut down. There were no signs of life.

    I ordered a fleet to land and investigate. We needed answers as to why our foe had disappeared. Were they in retreat? Was it some new Frekkin tactic? I hoped we were not being lured into a trap that would cost us dearly. It was a mystery that we needed to solve.

    When the fleet arrived it moved into orbit around one of the twin worlds. The full contingent of Marines was sent to the planet's surface in transports. An hour after their landing the filtered reports were showing on my holo-screen.

    I began reviewing the data which began with who the Por Hollis were. Their gravity was 9% stronger than Earth’s and as such they had evolved with a short but sturdy frame. The first comments about their appearance were to call them fire-plugs. Their stocky build and maroon colored skin had garnered the name.

    Images of the Por Hollis were widely available in the abandoned cities. Their cities had the appearance of any other world with tall buildings, lots of glass, narrow streets between buildings and sidewalks for pedestrians. But everyone was gone and all power had been turned off.

    A report soon came in that caught my interest. A Sodium warehouse near a fusion power station was completely empty. The rumblings amongst my staff were that they had shut down their Sodium system and had left everything as it was because they were out of the precious element that powered their existence. I was skeptical as to that being the reason for their departure.

    Aside from the twin planets being devoid of a sentient species, there was also no Transit Pull aiming off towards the next planet. That planet was rumored to be the gateway to the Frekkin worlds. Upon inspection of the records that still remained in the cities it was determined that two Transit Pulls had at one time existed. A close inspection of the recorded area found nothing but a fine powder remained. The Transit Pulls had been destroyed.

    I ordered three more fleets to the scene with science and engineering teams. Their purpose would be to gather any information they could from the abandoned system. There was sure to be technology that was new to us and that we could possibly deploy in our fight with the Frekkin. Perhaps we could even discover the exact methods they used to create the pea sized black holes of the Black Pearl ships. It was a powerful technology that our scientists wanted badly.

    As the recon missions continued our teams came across a number of immense warehouses that had stacks of 55 gallon drum sized containers. Estimates soon placed the number of warehouses in the thousands making the number of drums they contained in the billions. Quick scans revealed that they appeared to be full of metal parts. We reasoned that they were possibly used in the construction of the globe ships although without any evidence of proof.

    The drums were quickly forgotten and data streamed in about the Por Hollis, their lives, their culture and their history. They had been subjects of the Frekkin Empire for nearly 6,000 years. Their historical records revealed a culture that believed the Frekkin were Gods who had created them. Another tight hierarchical system had ruled their worlds with their equivalent of Priests and Bishops holding the highest offices.

    The records revealed a race obsessed with worship of their makers. Any question of their religion was met with a quick trip to a rebirth chamber. The rebirth chamber was a long cylindrical fusion reactor. When a believer of question entered the chamber and the reaction began, their bodies were incinerated and their elements were said to have been returned to the cosmic pool of life, waiting to be reborn into a more perfect being.

    As with the other Frekkin worlds, the births were not of a natural nature. Large birthing factories were located on each planet. Further records revealed that a chamber similar to the rebirth chamber was also used as a means of population control.

    When a powerful religious family reached its maximum allowable family members a random selection of nearly half the family was made with those selected being sent to another chamber that was referred to as an "elevation" chamber. Those who entered were said to be elevated to a new existence that was closer to their Frekkin Gods. Again, the chamber was nothing more than a long cylindrical fusion chamber that was used to incinerate those who were so blessed by the random selection.

    I had a deep faith of my own, but it was not based on being rushed to an early grave or conforming strictly to the current interpretation of historical writings as given by those in control. I had freely come to my own conclusions and my own reasons for what I believed. To believe anything else was to be led around by other beings who were not the creator.

    For me it was a constant struggle to determine exactly what was right or wrong. I could hardly imagine gladly walking to my death with a smile on my face. But I would do so willingly if told I had to deny my beliefs. Death was not something I feared as I believed I would indeed be taken to a better place. But it was a place that I did not wish to go to early. I would kick and scream and fight for my current existence.

    As our studies of the Por Hollis continued we soon got our first interpretation of what a Frekkin looked like. It was certainly not the strong and intelligent looking creature that we had imagined. It was much closer in appearance to a Chihuahua, sitting on its hind quarters, with little arms and hands like a T-Rex. I almost burst out laughing when I first saw it.

    But it was only a statue and from all the records we had searched there were only two that existed. Each was housed in an immense shrine on each of the two planets. The shrines were highly ornate and had a number of wide walkways that led outward from the statues in a spiral shape.

    The Por Hollis used binary math and as such their year was broken into 16 of what they termed "Krims". On the 14th Krim of each year everyone on each planet would do a pilgrimage to the shrine and the statue. It was all highly organized, lasting for a period that was the equivalent of 42 Earth days.

    A recording showing the masses of maroon people moving in unison through the spirals to the statue where they bowed their heads and raised a hand as they moved quickly past. It was an impressive ritual that included young Por Hollis children. There were no signs of bored or irritated children causing a fuss with their attentions turned elsewhere. The Por Hollis were devout.

    Medical records revealed that they were dense and muscular as compared to Humans. At a meter and a half tall they stood nearly as tall as Man, but their average weight was 30% more, with very little indication of that weight being fat. We soon found it out firsthand as one of the Marine scout units stumbled upon a dozen Por Hollis who were in a state of suspended animation inside a cryogenics chamber. It was the only location on either planet where we found something still under power.

    A top science team was quickly dispatched to study the new find. Within hours they returned with the news that the cryogenic chamber would be running out of fuel within an month’s time. I pushed to see if there was a way to re-active them beforehand. Our engineers were fast at work.

    As we continued to explore and learn about the Por Hollis people I could not help but wonder about what happened to the matrix. I found it odd that it would just disappear from the red planet system without any continued attempt at our destruction.  And then to discover the twin planets abandoned, I was not a fan of mysteries and worried that the two strange happenings would somehow lead to our demise.

    I sat back in my command chair and looked up at Hershen standing beside me. I asked what he made of what we had discovered. His reply was little more than shrugged shoulders. I then noticed a blink by one of his six eyes. I asked if he had just winked at me to which he replied that he indeed had.

    He had been attempting to learn more about our earlier culture. He thought it would make for better communications between our peoples. It was a distraction that I was in need of from the almost hourly events of the Por Hollis.  It reminded me that even though things were changing at a rapid pace as compared to Human history, we still needed that history to know if where we were going was in the right direction. I returned Hershen's wink and then turned back towards my holo-screen.
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    A week after the engineers had begun their study of the Por Hollis cryogenics system they had an answer as to how to bring the dozen beings back from their suspended state. The order was given and the process was begun to bring back one individual at a time. Eight hours later the first of the Por Hollis to be returned was awake and looking around.

    It was a male and he was immediately restrained so that he would not harm anyone. Interrogations began. For several hours he was in a state of confusion before finally coming to the realization that another species was holding him captive. He soon became distraught.

    From what he believed, he and his family had gone into stasis and were to be taken aboard a ship and taken to a new world. Several years before a messenger had arrived with word that there would one day be a great war and that the ever benevolent Frekkin would be moving them to safety. It had at first been denied by the ruling Religious Council but the messenger supposedly had proof that their information was authentic.

    The Por Hollis only had to follow instruction when the time came and they would be taken aboard the ships that would be coming for them. At first the council had everyone persuaded that the Frekkin had ordered it. But rumors soon leaked out about the messenger not being Frekkin and if the Frekkin were gods, why would they need to run. It was a time of great angst for the Por Hollis as their most sacred beliefs were being called into question.

    Our linguistics personnel were doing an outstanding job of asking questions and interpreting the results. The Por Hollis language was based on the same principles as their binary math making for efficient and effective conversation. For a moment I wondered if it might one day be useful as a common language for the AMP.

    As our interrogators continued to press we learned that the common Holliser was not aware of the red planet and the Black Pearl ships. He then offered up that perhaps those were the ships that were being sent for their rescue. I suddenly had a clue to the mysteries that had been plaguing me. Perhaps the Por Hollis had been loaded upon the Black Pearls.

    If that was so, the Black Pearls had only attacked in an attempt at preservation of the species they had been entrusted with. But I was confused as to why the Por Hollis had constructed the giant globe ships that had been sent to aid the Borten. The young Holliser was not aware of any Borten, but he had heard rumor that other planets in the empire had not paid their Sodium tithes and that they were being dealt with accordingly.

    It was reasoned that perhaps as a hedge against the messenger being wrong the Por Hollis had constructed the globe ships to do battle with the Borten. If no messenger ships returned there would still be an empire that needed to be maintained and tithes that needed to be sent forward to the Frekkin.

    As each new Holliser was awakened they were immediately isolated so that they thought they had been left alone. Our interrogators had determined that if you took away their feeling of a need to protect others they would be more open and truthful in their responses. It was an age old interrogation technique that had been practiced on Earth for centuries. In that instance, it appeared to still have validity.

    Each of the Hollisers told a similar story with what they had been informed of and what things had recently transpired. The cryo-chambers had been manufactured and placed in everyone's homes and when the word finally came, they had each followed orders and initiated what they thought was the final step of their rescue plan.

    Word soon came in that other homes were found to still have Hollisers in a state of stasis. My staff then put forth the theory that perhaps the Black Pearls had returned to the Por Hollis system to collect the people and that those ships that we had destroyed had been designated for the ones who were left behind.

    It was a completely plausible conclusion that was soon confirmed with cross checked data that had been taken from the great factory by the red planet. Each ship produced had been given a designation and the cryogenics chambers that had been found had a similar designation on them as the ships that had been destroyed. The Black Pearl matrix had been constructed to evacuate the Por Hollis from a coming threat.

    Our teams continued the searching of records on the Hollis worlds and soon had an obscure reference to the positioning of the missing Transit Pulls. It only gave a limited direction for the Pull and from it we had a new list of star systems to investigate. From the information gathered we had narrowed our search to 162 star systems within a 500 light year distance. With the possible angles of direction those 162 stars turned into 4,122 star systems at 1,000 light years distance. We began with the 18 systems within 200 light years.

    Destroyers were dispatched to recon the first 18 systems in question. They would only take a matter of weeks to scan so time was not a major concern. Of bigger concern was what we would do with the handful of Por Hollis that were in our care. Once full recons of the planets were complete, we were left with more than 30,000 inhabitants that had been left behind.

    Wherever their people had gone they had intentionally not left any clues. They did not want to be followed. I called in the Council of Governance to decide what to do. Their decision was to move them all to a single compound and to give them access to whatever they needed in order to sustain themselves.

    Their own system of governance had not left them with the skills they would need to survive on their own. They were shopkeepers, teachers and maintenance workers, just your common folk. They had each grown up in a society where free thinking and self-reliance was not encouraged. They were educated in their particular skill and the remainder of their needs had always been provided for by someone else.

    I felt bad for these individuals, perhaps abandoned by their people for the remainder of their lives. I wondered how I might react given a similar situation. As a Human you grew up being exposed to more than a simple single skill. The freedoms we enjoyed were largely based on our ability to learn and grow into whatever our pursuits in life were. Here those pursuits were well defined with little deviation.

    As I contemplated their existence further I came to the realization that they were not even aware of what it took to give natural child birth. It had been millennia since the last Por Hollis had been born of natural means. While records indicated that they were fully aware of how it got started they were unaware of what happened next. Each of the Por Hollis men and women had been sterilized at birth. Until and unless these remaining few were artificially inseminated, their abandoned family lines would end with them. Theirs was an existence I did not envy.

    It took three months before the first of the Frekkin worlds was located. Sensors soon told of the same story as the Por Hollis... an abandoned planet. I headed the fleet to go out and inspect the abandoned gateway world of an empire that was supposedly made up of 46 planetary systems. I was beginning to wonder if that was at all true.

    We arrived on an Earth Tuesday. The Frekkin planet was the fourth planet from their sun. It was slightly larger than Earth, but had a core that was less dense making for a slightly lower gravity. When my transport touched down we were smack in the middle of what appeared to be their largest city. The buildings were sleek and glossy white and adorned with tall spires. The city was clean with streets that were organized for efficient movement of people.

    Their transit system appeared to be a limitless supply of public transports that ranged in passenger size from four to ten. I felt as though I was a giant as the doorways as well as the transports were all built for a species that was about the height of a medium sized dog. The statue image on the Hollis worlds had been an accurate depiction.

    As I pictured thousands of them walking about with the dog like legs, fat bellies, small arms and long snouts I wanted to laugh. It did not bring to mind the image of a threatening species with the might to control an empire. But they had done so successfully for thousands of years.

    I stooped and made my way into the entrance of an extravagant building. I was only just able to stand with the vaulted ceilings of its lobby. The walls were adorned with holo-images of a number of Frekkin who must have been of some importance in that particular building.

    From the seating areas in front of me, to the long desk at the end of the room, to the doorways leading away from the room, I could only guess that I was standing in the lobby of a hotel. It was fascinating to see everything reduced in size, but to still be able to guess its use due to its form.

    It seemed each new world offered more of the same with a slightly different twist. I could only reason that as a species grew in education they would inevitably come to many of the same conclusions when it came to design and functionality. We did after all, all live with the same laws of physics governing our existences.

    I spent most of a month touring around the Frekkin world of Hale. It was a beautiful planet with its clean, white cities and well-manicured countryside. Our linguistics personnel quickly mastered the Frekkin alphabet and numerical system as it was again based on the binary system. We were soon poring over the data left behind in their still functioning computer systems. There were many new technologies to be studied and used.

    Our engineers were giddy with the discovery of another 20% of efficiency that could be had from our Sodium fusion reactors. During their investigation they stumbled upon a functioning Potassium reactor. It was experimental in nature, but offered the potential for a several orders of magnitude increase in power. The drawback being that Potassium was not as plentiful in the universe as Sodium.

    The biggest potential of the Potassium discovery was not from the reactor itself, but from the data yielded from the experiment. There was talk of a new Potassium skin for our ships that would increase our shielding a hundred-fold. It was a discovery that I asked our engineers to put on a fast track.

    The Frekkin countryside was dotted with large corporate-like farms and ranches with animals that resembled cows, but were closer to the size of a mouse. Millions of the tiny creatures would be grazing in a pasture beside the Frekkin roadways. Each farm or ranch was bordered by a processing plant that would prepare and package the foods for transportation elsewhere. The processing plants were automated and relied on small utility robots for their maintenance and operation.

    I began to wonder what a people would do if all of their daily needs were met. Would they drink to excess out of boredom, eventually ruining their health? Would they seek out new adventures that were ever more dangerous and deadly? Or, would their time be occupied like ours in the defense of our planet and expansion of our new empire? It would take time to go through their records as it did the Por Hollis'. It seemed that time was something that we had.

    Our war with the Frekkin and our expansion of the AMP had seemingly come to an anticlimactic end. We had been on planet for a month, digging into their records, plowing through their history in an attempt to determine why they had left. As we talked out the possibilities one day in a staff meeting one of my senior planners put forth a theory.

    It was not the AMP that the Frekkin had fled from, but some other more powerful species. In less than a century our own people had seen that there were other inhabited planets in the galaxy, and that those inhabitants were not always friendly. Why was it that we limited our thinking to the Frekkin being the most powerful of species out there? It seemed life was plentiful once we had achieved faster than light travel.

    As I thought further of his statements a cold chill ran down my spine. What if an enemy, an enemy that would make the Frekkin abandon their planet, what if they were on their way towards the planet right then? What if we were overwhelmed and some of us captured? Every human knew of the existence of Earth and I had no doubt that most knew where in the night sky it could be found. I had the sudden urge to burn the Frekkin planet and all its records and to head for home.

    Word soon came in of two other Frekkin worlds that were known to have existed. Both had been destroyed in a violent way, by a species whose description translated into something similar to "pure evil". A plan for withdrawal was immediately formulated.

    We would begin to pull all of our personnel off the planet by the end of an Earth week. Our science and engineering teams deemed the extra time as necessary for the extraction of the technologies we had found. The teams would then be replaced by a robotic army of sorts that would continue their work over a number of QE comm channels while we slipped safely away from the planet.

    We would also wire the planet with nukes with the hopes of turning it into one gigantic cinder should the evil species appear. The same fate would befall the Por Hollis planets in that event. If two other Frekkin worlds had been overrun and destroyed we had to assume that the information on the rest of the Frekkin empire had been compromised. I could foresee a difficult discussion was coming with the Borten.

    As I continued to explore the Frekkin planet my small entourage of staff and bodyguards came across a strange building sitting in the middle of a small valley. Instead of the normal spires that topped almost every structure, the roof of the building was round and appeared to be transparent. I had the transport stop so that we could take a closer look.

    My staff piled out and mostly stretched while Hershen followed me to the door of the structure. Before I could stoop to enter the building one of my guards stepped in front of me and dialed up his suit. As he stepped inside the door he was met with weapons fire which knocked him backwards. Hershen quickly reached out and pulled him away from the doorway. An alert was immediately sent out to the closest Marine squad with a request for backup.

    Out of instinct I blinked out and for the first time since the Borten war I used my BHD glove to maneuver. Hershen was immediately upset with me when I performed a micro-burst and floated through the front wall of the building. Hershen came soon after.

    As I passed through an interior wall and into a hallway I became aware of hundreds of Frekkin who were occupying the building. Before I made it to the next wall an alarm sounded on a wristband of one of the Frekkin and he raised a pistol weapon at me and fired. It was the last I remember before waking up in another room... once again naked from having my BGS removed.

    I stared up at a low white ceiling while still in a state of confusion. Once I was fully alert, I turned my head to my left and then to my right. There on a table next to me, and still unconscious, was Hershen. I attempted to contact my staff over my QE comm channel. It had been disabled. I was soon visited by a Frekkin scientist.

    She used a crude translator to begin asking questions. She was interested to know if we were the Humans that had taken the outer worlds. She pointed with her tiny fingers towards Hershen and said that it was a rhetorical question. They had been watching our progress with fascination. Aside from the Por Hollis, we were the only species they felt might be worth saving. We had potential and could possibly be very useful as subjects of their empire.

    I responded that their empire was non-existent as was evidenced by their abandonment of their own world. I was quickly persuaded with an electric shock to refrain from giving belligerent answers. The questioning continued for several minutes before the Frekkin inquisitor decided that I would not be answering her questions willingly. Hershen remained unconscious.

    A second Frekkin entered the room with an injection. Before it was pressed against the skin on my neck I asked the inquisitor her name. It was Shtia. She was the equivalent in rank to our Colonel and was the science officer left behind with the group hoping for the chance to gather further information on our species.

    She went on for several minutes explaining why they had fled their own world. There was another race of beings out there that had attacked them without provocation. A Frekkin scout ship had inadvertently entered the domain of their new enemy and when it fled it was followed back to one of their other worlds.

    The red ships soon followed leaving nothing but a scorched ball of rock of what had been their capital planet. They had no defense against the waves of fire the red ship elicited from their sun. Coronal Mass Ejections (CMEs) the size of their planet had been directed their way and within days nothing remained but a charred rocky crust with no atmosphere.

    They had attempted repeatedly to contact the aliens, but received no response. I told her I knew the frustration that they must have felt as the Kurtz had done the same when attacking our world. She laughed as she looked at Hershen and replied that our world must have been weak to allow such a lowly race to nearly conquer it.

    I wanted to break free from my restraints and show her just how weak Humans were, but the gravity straps holding me down were such that I could not move. The other Frekkin then growled at her before leaving the room. I was soon given the injection and began telling Shtia everything I knew.

    The questioning continued until I blacked out. When I awoke I was on a pad, in a cell, traveling towards wherever the Frekkin people had fled to. I was again a prisoner on a ship heading to a far world. After sitting up on my pad my first thoughts were to once again begin my fitness training program. The Frekkin gravity was only slightly below that of Earth so my workouts would have to be rigorous if I wanted to maintain my strength.

    As I walked around my small cell I took note of the two doors located in its walls. One was locked, but after some fumbling the second door opened into another room. The room had a wash basin, cloth towels and a commode. It was a joyous day. But the washroom had still another door on its far wall. When it opened I was staring at a still unconscious Hershen lying on a bed pad. I was happy to once again have the company of my old friend.

    Back on Hale my commanders had a brief skirmish with the Frekkin we had encountered. Less than an hour after Hershen and I had drifted inside a Black Pearl ship had come screaming up through the transparent dome of the building and had achieved light speed before completely exiting the atmosphere. Our forces did not have time to respond and once through light speed our long wave sensors were of no use. The remaining Frekkin had absconded with the Supreme Commander of the AMP.

    An acting Supreme Commander was selected from my staff and other than a small science team left on Hale the fleets had headed for home. The threat of the Frekkin Empire was no more. Because of our mistrust of the Borten our new commander left a quarter of our fleet on station at the Borten worlds. A single fleet was given a rotation on the Kurtz worlds just as a precaution. It was believed that with our presence they were far less likely to get rebellious.

    At home much of our farmlands had been restored to natural vegetation. With every citizen in a BGS, food was no longer an issue. Vast resource processing plants were given raw materials which were then assembled into the food packs that adorned the belt of the BGS. The multitudes of small factories that had been used to build our defenses had been shuttered with the production moved to giant space factories that sat just outside Earth's atmosphere.

    Our world was evolving at a pace that would make it unrecognizable from only 50 years before. Technology had advanced rapidly propelling the human race ever forward. But a new nemesis loomed on the horizon. A nemesis with weapons we had not yet seen and with technologies that were perhaps beyond our grasp. The AMP was not yet ready for another war.
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    I attempted to keep count in my head as my journey through space continued, it had been three months. I could only guess that I was thousands of light-years distance from Earth. My only friend was Hershen and we passed the time telling stories that we made up in our heads. Hershen had become quite the bard in his years in my service.

    I was unsure if our location was in orbit around some new Frekkin home-world or if we had merely joined with their fleet and continued to travel farther from home. Our Frekkin captors only made the rare appearance in our cells. Those visits were typically to gather blood, hair and skin samples for whatever experiments they had decided to conduct. I was happy to give knowing the experiments were not being performed directly on me.

    The days turned to weeks and the weeks into months. I began to wonder if the ending of my life would be to die in captivity. I wondered if my extended lifespan was becoming a curse. I had run repeated scenarios through my head of how I would kick the next Frekkin who came into my cell. I would then run into the hallway outside to go on a terror spree. But I knew that would mean certain death, and death was not something that I was as of yet interested in.

    Back at Earth Command, an urgent message came in from the science team on Hale. The red ships of the unknown invaders had entered the system. The QE comm on their ship went silent as they attempted to lift off from the planet. The last visual that came through the channel was of a blue glow as whatever had been fired at them impacted their ship.

    Several QE comm sensors had been placed throughout the Frekkin system and were broadcasting a live feed of the red fleet’s destructive power. A blue particle beam had been the end of our science team. The invaders then turned their attentions towards the planet.

    Numerous long thin cylinders were assembled and then launched towards the Frekkin sun. They drifted for more than an Earth day before disappearing into the yellow glow that warmed the planet called Hale. Our teams watched, wondering if the cylinders were a weapon... or something else. They soon received their answer.

    Dark spots began to form on the sun's surface within hours. In the following days those spots coalesced into one large sunspot. It stewed, swirled, boiled and then abruptly erupted. A massive stream of hot plasma shot out heading directly towards the path of the planet. Three days later Hale was consumed in flame and the last Frekkin world... was no more. The QE sensors in the system went dark one by one.

    A recon destroyer had been stationed at half a light-year distance. Our long wave sensors had failed to detect the incoming threat. When the QE sensors went silent we had no way to know what our new enemy was up to... or if they were our enemy.

    Back on Earth work continued on construction of the Sodium shield. Nearly three quarters of the planet, including the Moon, was masked by the great shield. The side facing the Sun had been left open as our engineers worked on a solution for their one remaining problem; how to not block out the warming and life giving rays of the Sun.

    On Alvin a single city had been constructed that covered the planet's one continent. Its human citizens numbered more than a billion strong. It had thriving industries and was the primary trade route between Earth, Toledus, Mabia and the Borten worlds. Its spaceports greeted a continuous stream of transport ships.

    The Kurtz worlds had been fully transformed. Shining cities of light dotted their surface, factories hummed and the people moved about their daily lives with a freedom they had not experienced in thousands of years. With drastic changes in their education system they were fast becoming premier worlds for science and technology.

    The Borten continued their emphasis on being a manufacturing powerhouse. New ships were produced in days and the rewards of being a member of the AMP had easily doubled their standard of living. As always, they continued in their decadent and slothful ways, but at a pace that was sustainable.

    The AMP had begun to mature as an empire and plans for exploration and further expansion were in the works. Each system had been given four teams of explorers with the ships and supplies that would take them on years-long journeys into the unknown. New planets and new species were needed if the AMP was to grow. Celebrations were still underway on the Borten worlds from their first exploration teams being launched when the red ships appeared.

    The first Borten ships to react were quickly cut in half by the powerful particle beams of our new red enemy. The Borten fleet of more than 150,000 ships was quickly called to service. It was a call that they were not immediately ready for. A hundred smaller ships had been destroyed before the first battleship came online.

    The Human 17th fleet was parked a light-year away and was powered up and readied for a fight. The other 26 Human fleets were given orders to join the battle and to setup defenses at Toleda and Alvin. Ten of those fleets were ordered to join the 17th at the Borten system.

    The red ships were not impressive in size, but their sleek menacing appearance told of their power. Five external energy conduits fed into the single gun-port on their bow. The conduits glowed white moments before the particle beam fired. The beams power easily cut through the smaller unshielded ships of the Borten defenders.

    When the first battleship entered the fray the beam was absorbed and passed around the massive ship. The space between the first red ship and the Borten battleship was soon flooded with mini-fighters, Drillers and protactinium pellets. The red ship countered with a wide pulsating beam and the Borten assault soon proved ineffective.

    The standoff lasted for an hour before eight more Borten battleships joined the fight. As the Borten ships assembled for battle two of the red ships moved forward and joined with the first. As the Borten watched-on the three red ships drew together and became one.

    Moments later 15 bright white conduits fed a blue beam of particles that cut into the first Borten battleship. The shields ran to 70%, but held against the tremendous beam of energy fired at them. Another dozen Borten ships joined in and the space between the warring parties was again flooded with mini-fighters, Drillers and pellets. Wide sweeps of the red ship’s beam eliminated the threat.

    The final two red ships then joined with the first three as the Borten numbers grew tenfold. When the beam was next fired the first Borten battleship turned Sodium-white as the shields failed and the beam ripped through the ship. Minutes later the Borten battleship was nothing more than a charred hulk of space debris. A crew of 3,000 and their compliment of 40,000 Borten Marines had perished.

    More than 400 Borten ships then charged the red menace, firing all weapons as they went. Again, their assault caused no damage. Another Borten battleship, and then another, were destroyed as the red ship continued with its single overwhelming particle beam. The battle raged for days as the Human fleets approached.

    Every attempt at a BGS Marine assault was thwarted by sweeps of a wide beam by the enemy. Nothing penetrated the red ships shields. It was apparent that the Borten would lose and lose badly. Several attempts had been made to move large numbers of transports loaded with Borten citizens, off-world, towards the current safety of Alvin. Redirected beams from the red ships brought those attempts to a bitter end with millions of Borten killed.

    Just over 27 days had passed when the Human fleets arrived. The once massive Borten fleet had been devastated, having only a few thousand ships remaining. They stayed alive by continuously being on the move, changing directions randomly.

    The first Human attempt at an assault was by the 17th fleet. They set a course where they could drift in unseen before unleashing their wrath. Just as the order to fire their weapons was given the battleship Milan, along with its crew and compliment of 200,000 Italian Marines and 50,000 Kurtz Marines, was ripped in half by a new pulsating particle beam. The remainder of the fleet scrambled to move back to a safe distance as seven more of its ships were detected and destroyed. Even the highly effective shielding of the best of the Human ships was no match for the red ship’s weapon.

    The next Human assault brought with it the use of the Starburst platforms. Five modules deployed their black holes and the first Drillers and Marines penetrated the enemy's shields. The Human fleets sat in wait as the Drillers and Marines did their dirty-work. Nearly a full day passed before the first external explosions were seen. Shortly thereafter, the particle gun went silent and the battleships moved in.

    When the Human Marines had drifted safely off-ship the charges they had left behind detonated. The remaining ships then unloaded their weapons until the combined red ship was reduced to little more that space junk. The unknown invader had been annihilated.

    The Borten worlds remained largely unscathed. Their fleet was in tatters with just over 900 ships remaining. The Human fleets were largely intact. But the unknown menace was gone. The celebrations had barely begun when the next red ship arrived. It appeared from nowhere and was massive compared to the ones that had been destroyed.

    As the reminder of the Borten fleet attempted to assemble they were met with 52 particle beams whose intensity was an order of magnitude stronger than the first attackers. Within hours the Borten fleet was no more. Five Human fleets were ordered into battle and it quickly became apparent that they were no match for the new mammoth ship.

    Attempts at launching Starbursts were met with immediate particle beam fire before they could ever deploy. Every tactic was met with an overwhelming response and the five Human fleets were recalled when their numbers had been cut in half. The mammoth red ship then deployed the same cylinder technology that had been used to destroy the Frekkin planet of Hale.

    As the cylinders were being assembled the 4th fleet managed to drift two squads of Marines aboard the small mechanized assembly ships. Once their presence became known the red ship fired a wide beam destroying the cylinders and assembly ships and killing the Human Marines. New cylinders were then deployed. Further attempts at stopping the cylinder assembly were unsuccessful.

    Nine hours after the red ship arrived, the cylinders were put into action. Two days later a massive black spot appeared on the side of the Borten sun facing the planet of Trephin. Two days after that the three billion Borten citizens living on the capital world were consumed in a massive CME that engulfed the planet. Thousands of small ships had been swept from space by the red ship as they attempted to flee the ejected solar plasma.

    The following day Pelvic met with the same fate and soon thereafter Logic. Other than the few thousand Borten diplomats on Earth, Alvin and Toledus, the great Borten civilization was no more. Billions of years of three planets evolution had been wiped out in a matter of days. The mammoth red ship then left in the manner in which it had come.

    The Human fleets pulled back to Toleda and once again attempted to create another masquerade. Faux cities were constructed and automated transports were set moving about. Hopes were that at a minimum, the unknown attackers could be slowed by the illusion, if only by a few days.

    Back on Earth and Toledus the scientists and engineers scrambled to come up with new defenses and new weapons. The great shield of Earth was nearing completion. But the planet of Alvin was nearly defenseless. Its citizens screamed for attention.

    Hershen and I remained captives of the Frekkin. We both continued our daily workouts to keep our fitness at its peak. Our captors continued taking their monthly blood, skin and hair samples; our questions as to why fell on deaf ears.

    I leaned back on my mattress pad as Hershen spun a yarn about three blind Kurtz brothers. As tragic as the story had begun, he had turned it into a friendly and funny tale. It soon had me daydreaming of my early years on the farm. As he talked and I closed my eyes I could see old Bessie chewing on her hay, I could see the old rooster exerting his dominance in the chicken pen and I could see my grandfather out working in the tomato patch, in his favorite coveralls. I wondered if life could ever possibly be the same.

    The unknown invaders were still out there... able to appear at any moment and to attack our tiny fledgling empire. Our weapons and technologies were not adequate for a defense. Our intelligence about them was a bare minimum. I wondered if Earth would still be there should I ever have the chance to return.

    The immense galaxy called the Milky Way no longer seemed so large. It was fraught with danger and threats of annihilation in each new star system we encountered. It was teeming with life and yet much of that life seemed hostile to our own. I wondered if life as a Human had gone full circle and we were again at the point where staying alive would be a daily struggle. I wondered if Man had what it took to survive.
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    This Human is asking for your help!

    If you enjoyed reading this book please leave a review on Amazon. If you have general comments to the author or would like to be included on a mailing list for new releases please send an email to: comments@arsenex.com. I like feedback!

    I value my privacy as you value yours. Email entries will be added to a list for notifying readers of upcoming releases or specials. I will not be spamming you continuously, nor will I give or sell your email address to any other entity. If at any time you wish to have your email address removed from the list please send an email to: comments@arsenex.com with the body text of "Stop". I will happily remove your email address upon request. It's that simple!

    I sincerely hope you have enjoyed reading this book. The first chapter of the next book in the series is provided below, I hope you enjoy it as well. Or, get the next in the series, SODIUM:6 Defiance, now!
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    The Kurtz and the Humans had been busy for four years. There had been no sign of the unknown attacker and their mammoth red ship. The Kurtz were building a planetary shield of their own around Toledus. The Humans continued to upgrade and tweak the one surrounding Earth. Transparent panels adorned the Sun facing side while the remainder was covered with the standard Sodium skin.

    In the blink of an eye the Earth shield could be activated making the planet and its moon invisible. All forms of energy and mass would be absorbed by the Sodium skin and passed around to the opposite side where it would continue on its way. The mystery of the Sodium skin workings remained unrevealed.

    Scientists had made several breakthroughs of not only stopping the electron spin of the Sodium skin, but of reversing that spin. Their only problem was that once the spin was reversed the material not only disappeared, but did not reappear when the high magnetic and gravity fields were turned off. The theory was that the material did not revert to its normal spin, but instead continued on to have a normal state with the opposite spin, effectively moving it into another dimension, all speculative of course.

    The planet Alvin had grown to a population of almost two billion citizens. Earth had leveled out at four billion, and the twin worlds of Toledus and Mabia at nearly five billion souls each. The Alliance of Major Planets (AMP) was again hitting its stride.

    Our latest Black Hole Drive (BHD) had reached an astounding 10,040 times the Speed of Light (SOL). The Starburst weapon had been improved from its cone shape; it would completely encompass a 1,000 man Marine transport. BGS suit power, food and filter packs had also been improved with the standard units integrated into the suit itself. The uniform belt held spares effectively giving the suit's wearer double the power, food and sustainability.

    Scientific expeditions had resulted in the exploration of six new habitable planets and two new minor species. The species evolution was such that it was determined that it was better to leave them as they were, rather than to interfere. It was an edict I had put in place while Supreme Commander, but had never had the opportunity to use.

    Hershen and I continued our life in captivity on the Frekkin ship and had fallen into a routine that bordered on complacence. It was a difficult task to maintain the physical readiness and mental state that I was sure would one day allow us to fight for our freedom. But that day of fight was not going to come.

    The Frekkin scientist who had overseen our captivity came into our adjoined cells with a grin. We were then told that we would be going home. A ship was being prepared that would take us back to Earth where we would be released, no questions asked and no ransom to be paid. Our usefulness had reached its end and our captors had gained the knowledge they sought.

    When the scientist left, I turned towards Hershen with a smile of disbelief. Was it over? Were we really being sent home? And what exactly was it that they had been able to achieve? Four guards soon appeared at our door and the transparent field keeping us captive was shut off. We were given our BGS suits and several techs assisted as we put them on.

    We were then escorted down several hallways, down an elevator that moved from a Frekkin indicator of floor 1027 down to floor 18. The elevator opened into a massive hangar where a small black ship was being prepared.

    We were marched on-board and then made to lie in stasis chambers for our journey home. We were not told how long that journey would be or how fast the ship would be moving. The Frekkin had no interest in giving away their new home position.

    The transparent door to the stasis chamber was soon closed above me and a sedative mist filled the chamber’s air. As my eyes grew fuzzy I could see Frekkin engineers moving about in the ships single cabin. The outer door closed as I lost consciousness.

    I was awakened by a small vibrating prod to my back. It was an irritating way to be awakened, but effective. I was soon standing in the cockpit and looking at what I knew to be the planet Saturn. We next passed Jupiter and Hershen stepped in and occupied the chair next to me.

    As we passed through Mars' orbit I was taken aback by the giant silvery white ball that sat in the position that Earth should have occupied. I immediately began to curse the Frekkin wondering what it was that they had done. But I quickly came to the realization that it was indeed Earth, surrounded by an outer Sodium skin.

    The ships receivers scanned all frequencies for signs of communications, but none were found. Our engineers had seen to it that the planet had gone dark to all signals that could be captured by an enemy. All communications were done through a new and improved QE comm transceiver.

    But our defense teams were monitoring all incoming signals and a warship was soon riding alongside us. We were given an optical comm link to the warship and were soon floating dead in space, waiting to be boarded. Three Marines then blinked in behind us with their weapons drawn.

    An hour later I was standing in a debriefing room on the planet. Hershen had been taken elsewhere for separate questioning. I cooperated fully and told the interrogators everything I knew. An hour after the questioning began one of my senior staffers arrived and stepped into the room.

    The interrogators were soon dismissed and Colonel Robert Thomas got down to the business of filling me in on all that had transpired. I was saddened to hear of the demise of the 11 billion Borten citizens and their three worlds. I was then told that because I had been compromised by the Frekkin I would not be returning to my prior position as the Supreme Commander.

    I had been replaced by a dozen members of my senior staff along with four members of the Kurtz. They had done well to protect Earth in my absence and I agreed with their reasoning as to my possible compromise. We were still at war with the Frekkin even though they had fled the general area. In the days after my return the black ship had sealed off and then misted itself. It had decomposed before our engineers could gather any information from it.

    I was told that the Frekkin had made contact with Command using my QE comm. The message was brief and only mentioned that they were in possession of the QE comm device. Command had been told that if the Frekkin so desired, they would be in contact with them. They however, would not be responding to any inquiries or requests from us.

    In my time in captivity I could tell the Frekkin was an advanced race when it came to their science. I was introduced to very little technology, but from my previous visit to their world and with what I had been able to see of the small black ship that brought us home, they were far ahead of us on many scientific fronts.

    Hershen and I were refitted with new BGS suits and audio implants. We were then given 30 days leave to get ourselves back in order. Hershen was at a loss as to what to do so I invited him for a visit to the farm. When I arrived things had again changed.

    Gone were the cornfields. They had been replaced by natural growth. Gone were the new barn and other buildings. All that remained was the modular home and a small garden and cow pin. When my air taxi landed I was a little uneasy when my parents, Zack's mother and Zack's wife came out to greet me in their own BGS suits. The civilian models were covered in pattern designs that were an attempt to give them a modern style. I was not impressed.

    With all food being prepared in factories and stuffed into BGS suits and their food packs, there was no longer any need for farms. They had quickly become only a thing for die-hards and the curious few. The nutrients required by our suits were drawn mostly from the oceans.

    With factories automated the Human day was largely filled with free time. My mother insisted of cultivating her small garden and my father had taken to studying gemology. They kept themselves entertained by interacting with other older couples in the holo-screen room. Various mystery and detective holo-games were among their favorites.

    I wondered if we were not losing some of those Human qualities that had allowed us to survive. The desire to move ever forward and make better the lives for us and our offspring seemed to be missing. Everything was too easy and I wondered if one day it would lead us down the path of being lazy and being ill equipped to deal with hardship; a hardship that could easily return if we were to be attacked.

    After an introductory game of Holo-Mystery-Theatre I sat out on the new modern porch with Hershen, discussing my thoughts. He was of the same mind. He wondered if the Kurtz on Toledus were doing the same; spending their time being entertained rather than pushing ever forward. We both wondered if our species' had reached a plateau. It was an unsavory thought.

    When our leave ended we returned to Command and asked for assignments. Because of our long captivity we were not trusted to take on anything of a military nature. Instead, we were offered positions on the next science vessel to be launched in search of other planets. I jumped at the chance to once again be productive in some capacity and Hershen signed-on beside me.

    The vessel was named the "The Saxon" and had a crew of 17 Human scientists, Hershen and myself. We were heading out on a one year assignment to explore the Flame Nebula. It was a two month ride out followed by eight months of exploration. Shortly after launch the crew members made their way to the stasis room and were soon fast asleep in a state of suspended animation.

    Hershen and I chose instead to stay awake and to spend our time educating ourselves on the new politics of the AMP. As we listened to countless speeches we came to the conclusion that most of the decisions being made were along the lines of what I would have done had I been there. But there were distinct divides growing between Earth, Alvin and the Kurtz worlds. The latter were growing ever more independent as was evidenced by the tone in many Kurtz political speeches. But to date only the trend was worrisome.

    As we slowed on our approach to the Alnitak system the stasis chambers returned our fellow passengers to their normal state. I was perfectly content with Hershen's company, but conversations with others were always welcome. As they entered the general crew room I had our destination showing on a large holo-screen.

    Alnitak was a triple star system with the primary star being a blue giant that was 20 times the size of Earth's sun. The secondary star was a smaller blue dwarf which spun in a binary orbit with the primary. A third star, Alnitak c, was in a 1500 year orbit around the binary pair. It was a spectacular system with nine planets orbiting the binary pair while one was in orbit around Altinak c.

    A quick discussion ensued and a decision was made to first investigate the single planet which was in close proximity to our location. Altinak c1 was at a distance that would make it a habitable planet, but the close proximity to the binary pair had seen to it that no life had been able to take hold. It maintained a thin atmosphere of mostly nitrogen and its surface was hard and rocky.

    We next turned our attention to the fifth planet in orbit around the binary pair. It was a stunning blue planet with a thick atmosphere of 20% oxygen. Liquid oceans covered most of its surface with clouds forming distinct Earth-like weather patterns with rocky, snow covered mountain peaks pushing up through them. Our attention was immediately drawn to a small mass in orbit around the planet; a mass that was soon determined to not be natural.

    The mass was made up of spherical structures that were interconnected to each other by long narrow tubes. It took on the uncanny resemblance of a giant molecule, a molecule hundreds of kilometers long. We approached slowly with our active skin on full.

    We parked only a few hundred kilometers away and took study of the symbols on the structure and the signals emanating from it. Our linguistics expert was hard at work attempting to decode the alien information as it came in. I turned to Hershen and asked if he was ready for an adventure... he was.

    After two days of study it was determined that there were no signs of life on-board and more importantly, no outward signs of hostility towards us. The team shut down the active skin allowing Hershen and I to begin our short jump to the alien station. We had been designated as first to go aboard due to our military training. While the rest of the team was in great physical condition because of their BGS suits, they did not have the training needed to deal with the unknown... we did.

    The sphere we had selected was bright orange in color, standing out from the other blues and greens. As we approached I could see the exterior of the two kilometer diameter sphere was covered with piping and small utility junction boxes. There were no external indications of having any defenses or weapons.

    We drifted through the outer wall and into a room that looked much like a cafeteria, only the scale was much bigger. A dim glow was visible from a minimum of lighting. The room was deserted.

    When we blinked in I was startled as the lighting in the room automatically came on full. Quick estimates told that the normal occupants of the room would have been three meters tall, similar to the biblical giants of Gath in stature. I hoped we would not have to play David and Goliath.

    Our linguistics expert was excited by the video feed coming back from our helmet cams. The various food signs with their symbols would go a long way towards decoding their language. Everything in the room was bright and white and clean in appearance. As I approached a counter I was again startled when a giant holo-head popped into view. I could only imagine by the expressions on its face that it was telling of the daily specials.

    Several electronic holo-posters adorning the walls were showing different scenes with the giant alien species being featured going about different tasks. One scene was particularly interesting as it showed a pair of aliens surfing down a snowy hillside on the equivalent of a snowboard. Other than a craggy face the aliens could have easily been mistaken for giant Humans.

    As we walked towards a doorway it slid open with a nearly silent wisp. I peered slowly out into the mostly dark hallway beyond, looking intently in both directions before stepping out. The automatic lighting again kicked on illuminating the area we were in.

    The wide beige colored hallway went straight for nearly half a kilometer in either direction. We turned to the right and proceeded to explore. Holo-posters on the walls lit up as we walked along with each new poster showing something that I deemed the equivalent of an advertisement. Each new poster seemed to be geared towards different types of physical entertainment. There were ocean-going boats, individual hover-pods, target shooting, and one which looked distinctly like an adventure race where the contestants had to fend off various wild animals. I wondered if we had stumbled onto an interstellar cruise ship.

    The next room we came to had the appearance of a bar and lounge. As we entered, low level blue lighting turned on and soft music began to play. I walked up to the bar and stood peering at it as it was at eye level. Hershen was just able to see over its top. As we continued our search down the hall the other scientists, excluding our linguistics expert TR Harris, began the jump over to the station. Once in the hallway they proceeded to explore in the other direction. I was happy with their choice.

    We eventually made our way into a control room lined with desks and holo-screens. As I looked at the controls I asked TR if he had made headway with the translations. He had and my helmet computer was soon busy with the partial translations of holo-screen displays in front of me.

    One screen showed the ship’s stores, another power levels and maintenance tasks and a third had personnel supposedly on duty. All slots were empty. I asked Hershen what he thought and was again startled when a voice from the holo-screen in front of me attempted to reply. It was unable to identify my query and immediately asked for an identification number. I replied with 555.

    The machine was silent for only a moment when the room was suddenly lit by four beams that swept the area as if scanning. The words on the screen before me read "Unidentified". A low audible alarm next sounded and the holo-screens before us shut down one by one. A warning notice displayed on the only screen remaining that read "Please Wait for Assistance". The door quickly closed and locked behind us.

    I looked at Hershen and could see the same thoughts in his eyes. We turned and blasted the door with our pulse guns, pushing it hard into the wall on the other side of the hallway. Before exiting we dialed our suits up to offer the maximum defense while maintaining a minimum of gravity. We sprinted further down the hall while giving the order for the other scientists to leave immediately.

    A one meter tall robot on treads entered the hall in front of us with lights flashing in a threatening manner. A gravity pulse from Hershen brought its intimidating move to an abrupt end. Next, two more entered and green bolts of power swept down the sides of the hall towards our position.

    We blinked out, stepping through the wall beside us as the bolts approached. We then used our BHD gloves to thrust through several more rooms before coming out in the hallway behind our foes. Two quick gravity pulses once again cleared the hall of any menace.

    As we continued our sprint a much larger bot materialized in front of us. Our gravity pulses were met with an orange glow as they were absorbed by whatever defensive shielding the larger bot had at its disposal. A return pulse was fired nearly overwhelming our active skins. We again blinked out and moved through the wall to our left.

    Once through, we were immediately confronted by another large bot and an unknown field rose up around us before we could flee. Our BHD glove would not cut through it. A shot from our pulse guns was absorbed leaving us with the inevitable conclusion... we had once again been captured.

    Our science commander soon came on my QE comm channel asking our status, they had made it safely back aboard the ship. I told him our current situation and asked that he put the ships defenses on full and for him to move a safe distance away. Before he could react a field like the one that had surrounded us enveloped the ship. We were all captives of the alien vessel.

    I set my helmet computer to translate my words into the words of the alien bots. They quickly revealed that we were being held for safety and security reasons and that our patience would be appreciated. I then asked the alien bot where all their people were. It took a moment to respond. They had passed into an unknown field 1,234,455 Geks ago. The ship was awaiting their return. My helmet computer quickly displayed the number of Geks being the equivalent of almost 3,200 Earth years.

    After answering a series of questions the alien bot determined that we were not a threat to its masters. The captive field holding us in place was soon released. We were then escorted to a lower deck where non-Mundari visitors belonged. There was no record of our request to board in the ship’s logs so we would therefore be held until such time as our request cleared. In the meantime we would be allowed all the comforts of a standard guest.

    We were given free run of all the rooms on the deck we were on. The captive field would be surrounding the deck until such time as our request cleared. I asked if we could return to our ship and leave to which the bot responded that it did not have the authority to make that decision.

    I then asked the bot if there was any further information available on filing a request to board, or of the Mundari themselves. A holo-screen popped up in front of me with a request for questions. The ships computer would be happy to answer any questions that it was allowed to give information on.

    My team soon assembled in the lounge on our deck and 19 holo-screens were brought online for our individual questions. I asked for the location of the Mundari home-world and was quickly told that information was not eligible for release. I next asked what the ship we were aboard was for and received the response that it was an Adventure Craft of the Jessian people, the planet below us was named DaCuban.

    I asked who the Jessian people were as related to the Mundari. I was next shown a diagram of the 34 star systems in the Mundari Effort. The Effort was an equivalent to our empire. The Jessians were the third largest population with 46 billion citizens inhabiting their three star systems.

    I then asked if the Mundari had any enemies to which the computer took a moment to respond. When the response screen appeared I reacted by stepping back. There was no known image of the alien beings known as the Ogle, but their ship was the same red color and shape as the one that had destroyed Hale and the Borten worlds.

    I called over the rest of the team to show them my discovery.  When they assembled around me I asked the alien computer for any information it had on the Ogle. It responded that the Ogle had destroyed several lesser planets that had good trade relation with the Mundari and that one allied planet had been attacked by the Ogle before their ship was driven back.

    The alien computer then posted a response before my next question was asked. The annihilation of the Frekkin and the Borten worlds was being added to the data on the Ogle, the data had been stripped from a scan of our science vessel’s computer. Those worlds had no relation or contact with the Mundari but the locations would be logged.

    I then asked if the Mundari knew of the planet from which we had come. The response came back that all the information from our ship’s computer was in transit to the Mundari capital planet of Langrel. I asked to fill out the visitor request form and it quickly appeared on the screen in front of me. The computer assisted in answering the questions and my request was soon logged.

    I asked for an estimated response time to my request to which I was told approximately 37 Geks which was the equivalent of 39  Earth days. My repeated questions as to the means of the Mundari communications transfers went unanswered as did many of our questions during our captivity.

    I wondered if the Mundari would have interest in an alliance with the AMP. If they were able to drive off an Ogle ship their defenses were much stronger than ours. But we knew little of the Mundari and their culture. Were they overlords like the Frekkin? Were they evil like the Ogle? Would they demand subjugation for offering protection? These were all questions I did not have the answers to. I was no longer the Supreme Commander of the AMP, but perhaps I could be of service as its ambassador.

    


    

    If you enjoyed this book please leave a review on the site where it was purchased. If you would like to be notified when the next release is available please leave a comment at comments@arsenex.com. Visit the author's website at www.arsenex.com for the rest of the SODIUM series and other works!
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